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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Listing Statement contains forward-looking statements.  Those forward-looking statements include, but 
are not limited to, information pertaining to our business strategy and future economic performance and 
working capital position.  The forward-looking statements are included to allow the reader to understand our 
current working capital position, and may not be appropriate for other purposes. 

The use of any of the words "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", 
"should", "believe", "predict", "potential" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements.   

There are forward-looking statements in the sections headed  "Narrative Description of the Business – Stated 
Business Objectives", "Narrative Description of the Business – Trends" and “New Business Opportunity –
Process Facility and Cobalt Supply”.  These forward-looking statements constitute material information such 
that the reader is cautioned that actual results may vary from the forward-looking information.  The risk 
factors listed in the section headed "Risk Factors" are identified as material risk factors that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking information.   

The material factors and assumptions used by management to develop the forward-looking information have 
been developed from the business experience of management in Canada and the United States, and their 
accuracy and achievability is subject to, among other things, the vicissitudes of the world and national 
economies, design, engineering and permitting processes, the reputation and expertise of management, 
user-acceptance of the technologies and applications introduced by us and advances in competing industry 
technology.  The assumptions used by management to develop the forward-looking information include the 
following: the Company has sufficient liquidity to meet all of its ongoing operational and capital expenditure 
requirements for the foreseeable future; the Company will be able to retain skilled management and staff; 
the Company will be able to grow its business by maintaining and expanding its customer base; the Company 
will be able to protect its intellectual property, including trade secrets, and continue its operations without 
infringing the proprietary rights of third parties and without having its own rights infringed; the realization of 
sales revenues; sufficient working capital to develop the Company's business plan; access to adequate 
services and supplies; foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates; access to capital markets and 
associated cost of funds; availability of a qualified work force; ability to negotiate, finalize and execute 
relevant agreements; the ability to meet production targets; capital and operating expenditures; economic 
conditions; availability of sufficient financing; and any and all other timing, operational, financial, budgetary, 
economic, legal, social, regulatory, and political factors that may influence future events or conditions. While 
we consider these factors and assumptions to be reasonable based on information currently available to us, 
they may prove to be incorrect.  

These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.  No 
assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements 
included in this document should not be unduly relied upon.  These statements speak only as of the date of 
this document.  Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from management's 
expectations include, among other things, the ability of the Company to secure adequate financing in order 
to pay for ongoing operating expenses; the ability of the Company to retain skilled management and staff; 
the ability of the Company to sell its products domestically and internationally; and the ability of the 
Company to acquire a significant market position in the provision of products and services in its target 
markets.   

Currently, the Company does not have a written policy for updating forward-looking information and 
management refers to Part 4A and Part 4B of Canadian Securities Administrators National Instrument 51-102 
– Continuous Disclosure Obligations for guidance on disclosing forward-looking information.  As required by 



applicable securities legislation, as a reporting issuer, it is the Company's policy to update forward-looking 
information in its quarterly and annual management discussions and analysis, as required from time to time. 

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, and actual events could differ 
materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements made by us.  Any number of 
important risk factors could contribute to these digressions, including those described in in the section 
headed "Risk Factors".  Investors are strongly encouraged to consider such factors carefully before making 
any investment decisions and are urged to avoid placing any undue reliance on forward-looking statements. 

CURRENCY 

Financial information with respect to the Company has been presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 
noted, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.   
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1. Corporate Structure 

1.1. Name and Head Office and Registered Office 

The name of the Corporation is ESI Energy Services Inc. ("ESI", the “Company” or the 
“Corporation”). The Company operates under the name of Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder.   

The Company’s head office and registered office is located at 500, 727 7th Ave SW, Calgary, 
Alberta T2P 0Z5.  ESI also maintains service facilities in Leduc, AB and Phoenix, AZ.  The Leduc 
service center operates out of a 30,000 square foot office and shop complex situated on 12.9 
acres of prime industrial land within 2 miles of the Edmonton International Airport. The Phoenix 
service center operates out of a 29,400 square foot office and shop complex situated on 4.9 
acres of light industrial land in west Phoenix.  Both properties are Company owned.   

1.2. Incorporation and Amendments 

The Company was incorporated as a numbered company under the Business Corporations Act 
(Alberta) on February 22, 2001.  The Company’s Articles of Incorporation were amended and the 
corporation changed its name to ESI Energy Services Inc. on September 12, 2001.   

On November 28, 2016, the Company completed a corporate reorganization by plan of 
arrangement (the "Arrangement") with inactive mining company Exploratus Ltd. ("Exploratus") 
and its wholly-owned subsidiary 1994687 Alberta Ltd. ("Spinco").  Spinco had no assets or 
business operations and was organized by Exploratus solely for the purpose of effecting the 
transactions contemplated by the Arrangement.  Pursuant to the Arrangement, (a) ESI and 
Spinco amalgamated to form a new company named "ESI Energy Services Inc." in exchange for 
(i) the issuance of common shares of new ESI to the ESI Shareholders on the basis of one 
common share of new ESI for every 0.7514 of a common share of old ESI; and (ii) the issuance of 
common shares of new ESI to Exploratus, following which (b) Exploratus exchanged its common 
shares of new ESI to the Exploratus Shareholders on the basis of one common share of new ESI 
for every 15.92 Exploratus shares.  As a result, (a) New ESI became a reporting issuer in the 
provinces of Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario; and (b) ESI Shareholders held, as a group 
approximately 99.3% of New ESI Shares and Exploratus Shareholders held approximately 0.7% of 
New ESI Shares.  Upon completion of the Arrangement, 45,000,792 New ESI Shares were issued 
and outstanding and the business of ESI became the business of New ESI. See "Narrative 
Description of the Business". 

The Company currently operates in western Canada and the United States of America.  The 
Company, through its operating subsidiaries, ESI Energy Services Inc. (“ESI”) and Ozzie’s Pipeline 
Padder, Inc. (“OPI”), supplies (sells and rents) backfill separation machines (“Padding Machines”) 
to mainline pipeline contractors, renewables and utility construction contractors, as well as 
oilfield pipeline and construction contractors.  

The intercorporate relationships of the ESI are outlined below. 
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2. General Development of the Business 
ESI is a pipeline equipment rental and sales company with principal operations in Leduc, AB and 
Phoenix, AZ.  The Company currently operates in most provinces in western Canada as well as in 
the United States of America.  The Company, through its operating entities ESI and OPI, supplies 
(rentals and sales) Padding Machines and pipe layers to mainline pipeline contractors and utility 
contractors as well as oilfield pipeline and construction contractors. ESI operates under the 
name of OPI. 

Padding Machines are used by pipeline contractors to screen rocks and hard material out of the 
spoil pile, which is located on the side of an excavated pipeline trench, in order to backfill the 
pipeline which is located on the bottom of the pipeline ditch.  Padding Machines are self-
propelled and self-loading.  They operate by way of a single continuous pass through the spoil 
pile located parallel to the pipeline trench or ditch.  Material is scooped up by the Padding 
Machine’s elevator system (the “Elevator”) which consists of a scoop and an inclined movable 
conveyor system which transports material from the bottom of the scoop up to the top of the 
Elevator where it is deposited on to a vibrating shaker system.  The vibrating shaker system 
consists of a large rectangular metal box (the “Shaker Body”) over which a screen (the “Shaker 
Screen”) is placed.  The shaker system is situated at approximately a negative 10 degree angle 
from the bottom of the Elevator running down towards the bottom of the lower back end of the 
Padding Machine.  The purpose of the Shaker Screen is to prevent over-sized material from 
passing through the Shaker Screen and onto a conveyor system (the “Conveyor”) which is 
located below the lower part of the Shaker Body.  When material from the Elevator is deposited 
onto the vibrating Shaker Body, the vibrating motion of the Shaker Body causes the under-sized 
material (material which is small enough to pass through the Shaker Screen) to pass through the 
Shaker Screen and fall onto the Conveyor which propels the undersized or screened material in a 
transverse direction towards the pipeline ditch where it falls under, over and around the pipe 
which is situated at the bottom of the ditch.  The vibrating Shaker Body causes the oversized 
material (material which is too large to pass through the screen) to roll down towards the lower 
back end of the Padding Machine where it falls off of the Shaker Body back into the spoil pile.  
The size of the Shaker screen can vary from 0.5 inches to as much as 3.0 inches, depending the 
backfill material specifications.  The smaller the screen size, the smaller the material particle size 
that is allowed to pass through the Shaker Screen and onto and around to pipe.  Typically, a 
smaller screen size on the Shaker Body will result in less material falling onto the pipe which 
results in lower backfill production. 

ESI Energy Services Inc.
(Alberta) 

ESI Pipeline Services Inc.

Ozzie's Pipeline 
Padder, Inc.

(Arizona)

ESI Energy Services 
(Australia) Pty Ltd
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The purpose of screening the spoil pile before backfilling the trench is to prevent rocks and hard 
objects situated within the spoil pile from falling onto the pipe and puncturing the protective 
coating on the pipe and/or damaging the pipe during the backfill process.  Padding is a 'green' 
alternative; it facilitates maximum ditch soil replacement and better soil compaction during the 
backfill process.  Proper soil compaction helps to support the pipe firmly in place, preventing it 
from shifting or distorting as a result of unevenly distributed soil.  Backfilling a pipeline trench 
with a Padding Machine as opposed to hauling in select backfill material eliminates soil 
contamination.  Backfilling a ditch with a Padding Machine costs a fraction of the price of hauling 
in select backfill material such as sand or using other methods of pipe protection such as rock 
jacket or rock shield. 

Up until September 2015, the Company was also in the business of renting and sell pipe layers to 
mainline pipeline contractors in western Canada.  The Company made a decision to exit the 
business of pipe layers and focus its efforts and resources on backfill separation. The Company 
managed to complete the process of liquidating its remaining fleet of pipe layers in March of 
2017.   

Pipe layers are essentially track mounted vehicles (crawler dozers) with side mounted cranes or 
booms.  Pipe layers or side booms are used primarily for lowering the pipeline into the ditch 
once it has been welded and coated. They are also used for setting up the pipe during facing and 
welding and setting up the pipe prior to welding and coating, as well as holding the pipe during 
bending and tie-ins. 

3. Narrative Description of the Business 

3.1. Padding Machines 

ESI currently rents Padding Machines to major cross-country pipeline contractors operating in 
North America.  To date, most of the Company’s machine rentals have been to mainline union 
contractors, although ESI is committed to serving both union and non-union pipeline contractors 
as well as utility contractors.  The Company also sells Padding Machines to customers residing 
outside of North America.  

The following is a three year summary of the Company’s operations from pipeline padding. 

Year Operating Months  Total Customers % of Revenue from six largest Customers 

2015 227 39 40% 
2016 170 33 59% 
2017 237 39 64% 

 
Personnel required to operate a Padding Machine is typically one machine operator who is 
usually supplied by the customer.  Ozzie's offers Padding Machine operator training for its 
customers at an additional cost.  Upon request, Ozzie's may also provide a Padding Machine with 
an operator; however, this is not the norm.    All Padding Machines are equipped with Operator 
Manuals. 

3.2. Employees 

ESI employs approximately 37people, 3 of whom are based in the Company’s downtown Calgary, 
AB corporate offices.  The Company’s Leduc service centre employs 15people.  A second service 
centre located in Phoenix, AZ employs 19 people, including one in-house sales person.  The 
service centers in Leduc and Phoenix employ teams of fully qualified and experienced service 
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technicians.  Canadian service technicians are required to enroll in and achieve certification in 
welding, heavy duty mechanics, millwright and/or electrical within the Canadian apprenticeship 
programs. 

3.3. Health, Safety and Environment 

ESI's operating subsidiaries, ESI and OPI, have a comprehensive safety program with policies and 
procedures designed to promote and improve work place safety and to prevent accidents.  The 
program is administered by and overseen by senior management.  The program involves 
management and employee safety training sessions, weekly service shop inspections, monthly 
safety meetings and annual safety audits conducted by independent safety professionals. 

The Company is committed to the health and safety of our employees, contractors/ 
subcontractors, visitors and the general public.  The Company is also committed to providing 
environmentally effective programs to reduce waste and pollution.  The Quality, Health, Safety 
and Environment (“QHSE”) programs are achieved through the participation of all employees 
and with the Company’s commitment to adhere to regulations, industry standards for 
equipment maintenance, safe operating policies and procedures, and a safe work environment 
for all personnel. 

Management is responsible and accountable for continuously reviewing and executing current 
legislation and the Company’s QHSE programs to ensure a strong and dedicated health and 
safety culture.  Management provides the necessary resources to achieve this goal. 

Supervisors are responsible and accountable for ensuring employees, contractors and 
subcontractors comply with governing regulations, standards, and industrial guidelines. 

Supervisors, employees, contractors and sub-contractors are responsible for reporting any 
unsafe conditions, unsafe acts, and incidents as outlined in Company policy. 

All employees, contractors and sub-contractors are responsible for working in a safe manner 
with emphasis on a cooperative attitude towards fellow workers, supervisors and management.  
The Company’s employees, contractors/subcontractors and visitors will comply with the 
Company’s and customers QHSE policies, procedures, practices, and guidelines. 

Employees have the right to participate in workplace health and safety initiatives and have the 
right to know of workplace hazards that could affect them. Every employee, contractor or 
subcontractor has the right and obligation to refuse unsafe work, without consequences, until 
the issue is resolved and the work can be performed safely. 

Management recognizes that the health and safety of our employees, contractors/sub-
contractors and visitors, and protection of the environment is of paramount importance in our 
ability to conduct a successful business. Incident-free performance can only be attained through 
acceptance and sharing of responsibilities for health, safety and the environment. Employees 
from all organizational levels are encouraged to think Safety First.  Management pledges to 
reduce the possibility of injuries and incidents by implementing safety first into our daily 
operations. 

The Company records monthly safety statistics which are shared with senior management 
monthly and ESI’s Board of Directors quarterly.  ESI and its subsidiaries are partnered with 
ISNetworld to more effectively facilitate the sharing and documentation of safety statistics, 
ratings and standards between contractors and owner clients.  Canadian lost time incidents in 
2017 and 2016 were 4.0 and 5.0, respectively, for every 21,651 (26,140 - 2016) man hours 
worked.  The Total Recordable Incident Frequency (“TRIF”) rate was 37.66 in 2017 calculated at 
TRIF X 200,000 hours divided by total man hours worked (29.33 – 2016).  United States lost time 
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incidents in 2017 and 2016 were 2.0 and 3.0, respectively, for every 32,058 (34,714 - 2016) man 
hours worked.  United States TRIF was 12.48 in 2017 (17.02 – 2016).  

The success of the Company's QHSE program is based on a team effort and the establishment of 
recognized principles.  Employee participation is required on an enthusiastic basis, which will be 
encouraged and acted upon by management in the same manner. 

3.4. Machine Fleet and Equipment 

Padding Machine capacities are as follows. 

Pipe Diameter Machine Size No. of Units Percent of Fleet 
2 inches to 6 inches OMP 1 4 8 
6 inches to 12 inches OPM 1 15 29 
12 inches to 24 inches OPP-2002 12 23 
24 inches to 60 inches OMS-3002 20 38 
24 inches to 60 inches OMS-3603 1 2 
Totals  52 100% 

  Notes: 
(1) The OMP and OPM are used primarily for backfilling very small diameter pipe, telephone and TV cable, fiber optic cable as 

well as cable for wind farm and solar panels.  
(2) The OPP-200 and OPP-300 Padding Machines are the work horses of the Padding Machine fleet.  These Padding Machines 

are designed primarily to backfill large diameter cross country pipeline.  Depending on the diameter of the pipe as well as 
the depth and diameter of the ditch, an OPP-200 or OPP-300 Padding Machine can cover between 2 to 4 miles of pipe in a 
10 hour day.  

(3) The OMS 360 is a specialty Padding Machine which can be used for backfilling pipeline tie-ins, large inch diameter lines 
involving screening large amounts of material over short distances.  It can be used as an excavator as well as a Padding 
Machine. 

Quarterly utilization rates for Padding Machines are set out for the last three years in the table 
below. 

Padder Model Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Yearly Average 
OPP-300 2015 5% 8% 23% 15% 13% 
 2016 5% 9% 55% 12% 20% 
 2017 12% 49% 53% 23% 34% 
OPP-200 2015 6% 37% 59% 18% 30% 
 2016 5% 8% 17% 15% 11% 
 2017 33% 67% 85% 25% 53% 
OMP 2015 70% 55% 79% 77% 70% 
 2016 60% 53% 64% 71% 62% 
 2017 56% 28% 53% 39% 44% 
OPM 2015 - - - - - 
 2016 - - - - - 
 2017 - 34 57 23% 29% 

Padder utilization rates for the first quarter of 2018 are included under section 7.2 Interim 
MD&A. 

3.5. The North American Pipeline Market 

The North American pipeline market is comprised of pipeline owners (the “Owners”), companies 
that own the product that is being transported, and companies that build and construct the 
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pipelines for the Owners (the “Contractors”).  Product transported via pipeline is typically oil and 
natural gas and/or oil and natural gas by-products or refined products (the “Product”). 

Owners are typically comprised of large publicly traded oil and natural gas transmission 
companies, utilities, and distributors as well as large oil and natural gas producers and, in the 
United States, Master Limited Partnerships (“MLPs”).  Owners contract with oil and gas 
producers to transport their Product from the wellsite, processing plants or refineries to the 
market for sale and consumption. 

The North American pipeline market is comprised of two major segments, large diameter 
mainline pipeline, typically greater than 24 inches in diameter ranging up to 60 inches in 
diameter (“Mainline Pipeline”), and small diameter pipeline, typically less than 24 inches in 
diameter and ranging down to as low as 1 inch in diameter (“Small Diameter Pipeline”).  
Mainline Pipelines are constructed by large well capitalized union and non-union Contractors.  
Mainline Pipeline projects are designed to transport Product over distances ranging from 50 
kilometers to 1000 kilometers or more.  Mainline Pipeline projects tend to be very capital 
intensive, involving construction costs in the range of $100 million to as high as $1 billion plus.  
Mainline Pipeline projects require long lead-times prior to construction due to the need to 
obtain regulatory and environmental approvals and permits, access to right-of-ways, front-end 
engineering, design, cost estimating, project tendering, etc. with no guarantees of regulatory 
approval.  Standards for Quality Assurance (“Q&A”) and Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE”) 
tend to be very high for Mainline Pipelines due to the long lead-time leading up to the 
construction stage, the large multi-million construction budgets and the intense public scrutiny 
to which these projects are subjected. 

Mainline Pipeline construction Contractors use Padding Machines and pipe layers extensively for 
the construction of Mainline Pipeline.  Mainline Pipelines are typically broken up into multiple 
sections (“Spreads”) which are awarded to multiple Contractors, anywhere from 2 to 4 or more 
Spreads each, depending on the diameter of the pipe and length of the pipeline being 
constructed.  Spreads are typically constructed more or less simultaneously in order to expedite 
the construction time period for the pipeline.  Depending on the diameter of the pipeline being 
constructed, a single Spread could typically deploy 1 or 2 Padding Machines and 30 to 50 pipe 
layers.  Based on this formula, a typical Mainline Pipeline project comprised of 6 Spreads 
awarded to 3 Contractors with a construction term of 12 months could utilize anywhere from 3 
to 6 Padding Machines and 90 to 300 pipe layers to construct the pipeline. 

Small Diameter Pipeline is constructed by both union and non-union Contractors; however, the 
Small Diameter Pipeline market tends to be dominated by non-union Contractors.  Small 
Diameter Pipelines, less than 24 inches in diameter, may also be built for short distance product 
transmission; however, Small Diameter Pipeline is typically constructed for connecting Product 
over short distances, approximately 1 to 20 kilometers to mainline transmission pipelines or 
storage facilities.  Small Diameter Pipeline is typically used for tying-in oil and gas from the 
wellhead to the mainline transmission system, gathering systems, and for transporting dilutant 
(usually condensate) over short distances of less than 50 kilometers.  Small Diameter Pipeline is 
also used for sewer and water as well as for the distribution of Product by municipalities, towns 
and cities. 

Small Diameter Pipeline projects tend to be very price sensitive, particularly during times of 
depressed commodity prices. Q&A and HSE standards are not as high as they are for Mainline 
Pipeline construction and the regulatory process tends to be faster and less onerous than for 
Mainline Pipeline projects.  Owners want Small Diameter Pipelines constructed for the lowest 
possible cost while Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors are struggling to maintain their profit 
margins by performing only the minimum standards to construct the pipeline.  Consequently, 
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Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors in North America may not use Padding Machines or any 
other form of backfill separation during the construction of Small Diameter Pipelines unless it is 
mandated by the Owners which rarely occurs. 

Lack of backfill separation has become a major problem for Owners in western Canada.  A high 
percentage of Small Diameter Pipelines constructed during the winter drilling season and 
backfilled with frozen material (without the benefit of any form of backfill separation) are prone 
to having the pipeline coating and pipeline damaged by frozen chunks of dirt as well as by rocks 
and hard materials that are hidden in the spoil pile.  Also, unscreened frozen backfill material 
which is pushed into the pipeline ditch and onto the pipeline will not properly compact.  As a 
result, the pipeline ditch is prone to collapsing during the spring season when the frozen soil 
melts and the backfill material settles further into the ditch, leaving a surface depression which 
traces the pipeline ditch.  Finally, pipeline ditches that are not backfilled, using any form of 
backfill separation, are prone to washing out during spring break-up and exposing the pipeline to 
the elements.  This has become a major source of irritation to land owners who are becoming 
very reluctant to allow pipelines to cross their property.  It has also come to the attention of 
government regulatory bodies, who are concerned about the environmental damage to land 
caused by unnecessary ground disturbance, the lack of adequate ditch soil replacement, and 
shoddy reclamation caused when pipeline trenches wash out and expose the pipeline to the 
elements.  The Company is of the view that this situation has created a significant opportunity 
for Padding Machines in western Canada. 

Pipelines are constructed all over North America in almost every province in Canada and most 
states in the United States.  At the present time, most of the Company’s business comes from 
Contractors building pipelines for oil and gas transmission companies and large publicly listed oil 
and gas producers located in western Canada and the western United States from Texas through 
to Michigan, as well as the gas and oil shale plays located throughout the lower 48 states 
including the northeastern United States.  Other markets include natural gas utility Contractors, 
as well as sewer and water pipelines, wind farms and solar projects in every province in Canada 
and in the United States. 

3.6. Pipeline Owners 

Mainline Pipeline Owners are comprised of large publically traded transmission companies, 
utilities and oil and gas exploration and production companies; including oil sands producers, 
publicly traded natural gas utilities and mining companies as well as MLP’s in the United States.  
Owners of Small Diameter Pipelines are comprised of small junior and mid-sized oil and gas 
producers, oil sands producers, MLP’s, mining companies, utilities, cities, towns and 
municipalities. 

3.7. Pipeline Contractors 

Contractors are divided into two major groups, Mainline Pipeline Contactors and Small Diameter 
Pipeline Contractors.  There are approximately 40 regular Mainline Pipeline Contractors 
registered with the Pipeline Contractors Association of Canada (PLCAC).  Approximately 8 to 11 
of these companies specialize in and/or are major players in Mainline Pipeline contracting.  The 
remaining 30 registered members are in pipeline related businesses such as hauling, blasting and 
drilling and directional drilling, etc.  Of the 8 major registered Mainline Pipeline Contractors, 4 or 
5 of them perform 50 to 60 percent of the Mainline Pipeline construction work in Canada.  
Included in the 8 major registered Mainline Pipeline Contractors are 6 Canadian subsidiaries of 
major US Mainline Pipeline Contractors. 
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Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors in Canada include pipeline Contractors as well as oilfield 
construction companies and to a lesser extent small utility Contractors.  There are around 60 
companies listed as being in the business of pipeline construction in the Canadian Oil Registry. 
Included in this number are approximately 10 Mainline Pipeline Contractors.  Most of these 
companies are non-union and perform Small Diameter Pipeline construction.  There are an 
additional 20 to 30 similar companies in each of British Columbia and Ontario and 10 or 15 in of 
each of Saskatchewan and Manitoba. 

There are approximately 63 regular Mainline Pipeline Contractors registered with the Pipeline 
Contractors Association in the United States (PLCA).  Approximately 25 to 30 of these companies 
specialize in and/or are major players in Mainline Pipeline contracting.  The remaining 33 
registered members are in pipeline related businesses such as hauling, blasting and drilling, and 
directional drilling.  Of the 30 major registered Mainline Pipeline Contractors, 10 or 14 of them 
perform 50 to 60 percent of the Mainline Pipeline construction work in Canada.  The Canadian 
Mainline Pipeline market is too small to support a large number of exclusively Mainline Pipeline 
Contractors.  Typically, for large mega Canadian Mainline Pipeline projects such as the Coastal 
Gas Link Pipeline Project or the Trans Mountain Pipeline Expansion Project, US Mainline Pipeline 
Contractors are invited to bid on these projects by the Pipeline Owners.  Alternatively, the 
Canadian Mainline Pipeline Contractors will enter into partnerships or joint ventures with large 
US Mainline Pipeline Contractors in order to mitigate their project risk. 

Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors in the United States include pipeline Contractors and oilfield 
construction companies, as well as small and large utility Contractors.  There are several 
hundred Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors operating throughout the lower 48 states.  
Included in this number are approximately 10 Mainline Pipeline Contractors who do non-union 
as well as union work.  Most of the Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors are non-union 
Contractors who build Small Diameter Pipeline as well as oilfield construction.  A high proportion 
of these Small Diameter Pipeline Contractors perform a high percentage of the pipeline 
construction associated with the major shale gas and shale oil plays located throughout the 
lower 48 states. 

3.8. Contracts 

Contracts for Padding Machines and pipe layers (“Machines”) are awarded on the basis of 
competitive bidding as well as on a negotiated basis.  In periods of low pipeline construction 
activity, Machine contracts are usually awarded on the basis of competitive bidding.  In periods 
of high activity, contracts may be awarded on a negotiated basis.  Machine contracts are 
typically for single projects and may involve one or more Contractors.  It is typical for a major 
cross-country pipeline project to be awarded to more than one Contractor in order to shorten 
the construction time horizon and reduce costs.  Contractors may be awarded one or more 
Spreads on a single major project.  Terms and rates may vary depending on competitive 
conditions, the size of pipe, location of the project, the type of material to be screened, the size 
of the pipe to be handled, duration of the work to be performed, as well as conditions that may 
be unique to the project such as rocky or mountainous terrain, limited or restricted right-of-way 
access, weather conditions, safety concerns, etc. 

Machine contracts are carried out on the basis of a standard monthly Machine rental rate, net of 
all expenses, which include mobilization, demobilization, fuel, oil, lubrication, daily maintenance, 
spare parts and consumables.  Machine rental contracts can range from one month to 36 
months depending on the nature and location of the project.  Rental contracts may also be 
awarded for one or more Machines depending on the magnitude and time frame of the project. 
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From time to time the Company may take on performance-based contracts for Padding 
Machines based on linear footage backfilled or volume of material screened.  This is usually done 
for projects such as beach cleaning which involves the screening of finite quantities of material 
over a specific area. 

3.9. The North American Solar and Wind Farm Market 

The North American solar and wind farm (“Renewables” or “Green Energy”) market is comprised 
of power generation owners (the “Owners”), companies that own the electrical generation 
equipment and aggregation and distribution systems that transport the electricity generated to 
the main utility power grid (the “Power Grid”), the companies that construct and install the 
electrical generation equipment and initial electrical aggregation and distribution system for the 
Owners (the “Contractors”), and the primary customers (the “Utilities”) that distribute the 
electricity to the consumers.  Electricity generated by renewables is transported via power 
cables situated below ground which collect and aggregate the electricity generated by the 
Renewables equipment and transmit it collectively to the Power Grid, which is typically situated 
above ground, which then transports it via high power transmission lines to the customers or 
consumers. 

Owners are typically comprised of large publicly traded and private electrical power generation 
utilities as well as oil and natural gas transmission companies, distributors, and in the United 
States, Master Limited Partnerships (“MLPs”).  Owners contract with Utilities to transport their 
Green Energy from the power generation sites and substations to the market for sale and 
consumption. 

Renewables are constructed by both union and non-union Contractors as well as large and small 
Contractors.  

Backfill separation in the United States is used extensively by Contractors to:  

• protect the electrical cables from being damaged during the backfill process; and 
• facilitate optimal heat dissipation in order to ensure that the buried electrical cables 

connecting and aggregating the electrical generation equipment do not become overheated. 
Finally, like pipeline ditches, electrical cable trenches which are not backfilled, using any form of 
backfill separation, are prone to washing out or collapsing during spring break-up, exposing the 
electrical cable to the elements. 

Renewables are constructed in almost every province in Canada and most states in the United 
States.  At the present time, most of the Company’s business comes from Contractors building 
electrical generation equipment and distribution and aggregation systems in the southwest and 
southeast United States and Texas.  

Ozzie’s Mini-padders and most recently Micro-padders are used extensively in the construction 
of Renewables for backfilling electrical generation and aggregation cables that transmit the 
electrical power generated to the Power Grid.  

In the fourth quarter of 2016 in response to customer demand, the Company introduced the 
Micro-padder to its fleet of small padding machines. The Micro-padder was designed to handle 
smaller utility projects as well as wind and solar projects where a machine with a smaller foot 
print is required.  It is also slightly more cost effective than a Min-padder. 

3.10. Trends 

The pipeline construction business has become extremely competitive post 2008. After the start 
of the global financial crisis.  Since mid-2014, global oil and gas prices have been significantly 
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lower which in turn has resulted in global challengers for the energy industry.  The net effect is 
that mainline pipeline construction globally has also been volatile 

Concerns over global warming in the western developed countries including Europe, UK, Canada 
and the United States have resulted in a desire to reduce the world’s carbon footprint.  This has 
placed fossil fuels, in particular thermal coal and heavy oil, under the spotlight of government 
regulators and environmentalists.  The net effect is that: 

• it has become extremely difficult to get government regulators in Canada and the United 
States to approve cross-border mainline pipeline projects; 

• environmentalists, indigenous people, social license and government regulators in Canada 
have made it very difficult to obtain regulatory approval for any major mainline pipeline 
construction projects; 

• the advent of an abundance of shale gas and oil in North America has resulted in a glut of oil 
and natural gas in both Canada and the United States which has led to further downward 
pressure on oil and natural gas prices as well as coal; 

• as a result of the depressed global pricing environment for oil and gas, a number of major 
mainline line pipeline projects that have been approved are being delayed or cancelled due 
to a lack of demand for product in overseas markets; and 

• because Canadian oil and gas companies and pipeline transmission companies are not able 
to gain approval for proposed mainline transmission pipelines, oil and gas producers cannot 
get their product to market which further contributes to the problem of depressed oil and 
gas prices. 

The net effect of the depressed regime for mainline pipeline construction is that because fewer 
pipelines are being built, pricing for those projects that are proceeding are becoming fiercely 
competitive.  These factors are also resulting in lot of consolidation within the North American 
pipeline construction industry which is creating further downward pressure on prices to 
suppliers and sub-contractors because the number of available customers (pipeline contractors) 
are shrinking. 

Up until 2008, most of the large mainline pipeline construction projects in North America were 
built by union contractors.  Since 2008, the mainline pipeline construction projects are being 
built increasingly by non-union contractors due to pricing considerations.   

US union pipeline contractors have been bidding on non-union contracts and paying their 
workers union wages just to keep busy.  Union contractors have also been starting up and/or 
acquiring non-union pipeline construction companies.  Most of the small diameter pipeline 
construction in Canada and the United States is being built by non-union contractors. 

The Company has benefited from two industry trends in the last six years.  The first is pipeline 
leaks and the second is the growth of renewable energy such as wind and solar.  

The major benefits of backfill separation are:  

• to protect the pipe in the ditch from being damaged by rocks and/or hard objects that are or 
maybe embedded in the spoil pile from falling on to the pipe and damaging the pipe or the 
pipe coating;  

• to facilitate maximum soil compaction such that the pipe is firmly seated in place at the 
bottom of the ditch and the ditch does not collapse or washout because the backfill material 
has not been properly compacted; and 

• backfill separation also facilitates maximum spoil-pile replacement and minimum surface 
disturbance by placing the maximum amount of backfill back into the ditch. 
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The net of effect of these issues is that leaky pipelines have become a major reason for pipeline 
construction opponents and environmentalists not to approve pipeline construction.  The effect 
of this has been get pipeline owners to recognize the benefits of pipeline padding and to include 
backfill separation in their construction specifications. Some pipeline owners in have even 
specified the use of an Ozzie Padding Machine. 

The benefit of using a backfill separation machine for construction of wind and solar projects are 
much the same as they are for constructing a pipeline: 

• to protect the power in the ditch from being damaged by rocks and/or hard objects that are or 
maybe embedded in the spoil pile from falling on to the cable and damaging the cable or the 
cable coating;  

• to facilitate maximum soil compaction such that the cable is firmly seated in place at the 
bottom of the ditch and the ditch does not collapse or washout because the backfill material 
has not been properly compacted;  

• backfill separation also facilitates maximum spoil-pile replacement and minimum surface 
disturbance by placing the maximum amount of backfill back into the ditch; and 

• backfill separation facilitates heat dissipation so that the electrical cable does not overheat in 
the ground. 

• The Ozzie’s Min-padder and Micro-padder are designed specifically to provide backfill 
separation for wind and solar projects. 

Due to the unique design and performance of the Ozzie Padding Machines management believes 
that the Company is well positioned to weather the current competitive pressures within the 
pipeline and renewables construction industries. 

3.11. Stated Business Objectives 

The Company’s business objectives for the next twelve month period are to: 

• further develop, improve and deliver enhancements to its existing fleet of large mainline 
Padding Machines and Mini-padding Machines; 

• maintain the Company’s position as an industry leader and dominant player in the design 
and engineering of backfill separation machines; 

• continue to develop new and innovative products such as its new Micro-padding machine; 
• ensure health safety and environment are at the forefront of engineering  and designing of 

all of backfill separation machines;  
• continue to identify and develop new markets such as renewables for its existing product 

line; 
• continue to try to identify and source new products that will add revenue to its current 

revenue base by complimenting its existing product line of Padding machines;   
• continue to grow its revenue base through the strengthening of its marketing efforts in 

Canada and the United States; 
• develop new marketing relationships with existing Padding Machine platform manufacturers 

of track loaders, skid-steers and wheel loader to market our Mini-padders and Micro-
padders; 

• continue to try to develop new customers for our products in international markets outside 
of North America; and 

• identify strategic acquisitions and or business combinations. 
The Company intends to use all of its available cash flow and working capital towards the 
achievement of the Company’s business objectives as a whole, as well as to provide general 
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working capital for the Company for the remainder of the 2018 calendar year.  See “Funds 
Available and Principal Uses of Funds”. 

Due to the fact that the Company is still at least 12 to 18 months way from making a 
determination on the quality and quantity of BMR’s ore body in Ontario, it is difficult for the 
Company to establish any definitive objective with respect to financing and constructing a 
process facility to produce an ore body that we are not certain will materialize. See "New 
Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply".   

The Company will continue to focus on its core business of backfill separation until such time as 
it is clear to management that construction of the proposed process facility is viable and in line 
with our investment objectives.  

3.12. Funds Available and Principal Uses of Funds 

The Company is not raising any funds in conjunction with this Listing Statement and, accordingly, 
there are no proceeds. 

The Company had working capital of approximately $12,081,000 as at December 31, 2017 and 
$9,423,000 as at March 31, 2018.  

Management believes that the Company has sufficient liquidity to meet all of its ongoing 
operating and capital expenditure requirements for the foreseeable future. The Company has 
plans to raise $60 million in additional capital in the foreseeable future.  The Company's 
budgeted operating and capital expenditures for 2018 are outlined in the table below. 

Operating Expenses 
Description Estimated Costs 

 (000's) 
Direct costs (1) $3,442 
Shop expenses (2) 3,136 
Sales (3) 587 
General and administration (4) 3,680 
Income taxes - 
Total: $10,845 
Notes: 
(1) Wages and benefits total nil. 
(2) Wages and benefits total $2,090,000. 
(3) Wages and benefits total $418,000. 
(4) Wages and benefits total $1,796,000. 

Capital Expenses 
Description Estimated Costs 
 (000's) 
Buildings $32 
Furniture & fixtures - 
Office equipment 5 
Field equipment  2,578 
Shop equipment 30 
Capitalized overhead (1) 566 
Computer hardware 31 
Total: $3,242 
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Note: 
(1) Capitalized overhead consists of design, engineering and documentation costs related to upgrading of 

existing products and design and development of new products.  Documentation costs consist of 
engineering drawings and computer modeling costs. 

 

Below is a summary of the estimated annual general and administrative expenses for the year 
ended December 31, 2018. 

Item Amount 

 (000's) 
Personnel costs $1,949 
Professional services 404 
Business development 267 
Facilities 199 
Insurance 359 
Listing costs 58 
Office and technology 26 
Technology 189 
Travel 219 
Vehicles 10 
Total: $3,680 

The Company does not anticipate that it will have any problem funding all of its operating and 
administrative expenses or capital expenditures for the foreseeable 

4. New Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply 

4.1. The Opportunity 

On May 17, 2018 the Corporation signed a Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) with Battery Minerals Resources Limited (“BMR”), an Australian Company, to 
participate in the early stage development of a cobalt mine and to finance, construct and 
operate a cobalt processing facility in northern Ontario, Canada.   

BMR is a multi-commodity battery materials exploration company focused on the development 
and integration of minerals critical to the rechargeable battery market and energy storage 
sector.  BMR has assembled a diversified portfolio of cobalt, graphite and lithium properties, in 
stable geo-political jurisdictions.  BMR is a privately owned Australian company with subsidiaries 
in Canada, the United States and South Korea.  BMR's wholly-owned British Columbia subsidiary, 
also named Battery Mineral Resources Limited, is also a party to the Agreement with ESI. 

BMR has acquired extensive interests of cobalt and lithium properties in North America, 
controlling more than 1,400km2 of primary cobalt exploration assets in Canada, 45km2 of 
significant cobalt prospects across the United States, and America's largest lithium brine 
exploration project, by area, in the great basin of western United States. In addition, BMR owns 
two high-quality flake graphite projects in South Korea, the world’s third largest battery market. 

BMR boasts a strong and diversified board and management team with deep experience in the 
specialty technology materials sector. 

BMR has delivered confidential information to ESI with respect to one of its key properties, 
which ESI reviewed as part of its due diligence investigations. Additional drilling activity on the 
property is ongoing.   
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If the project proceeds as planned, ESI will finance, build and operate a cobalt processing facility 
that would be supplied by feedstock material mined by BMR from its properties in Ontario.  A 
five-member technical committee of highly skilled and experience mining professional has been 
identified and retained by ESI and BMR to oversee a planned feasibility study for mining 
operations and to make a recommendation on whether to proceed with the project.  If the 
project is approved, the technical committee would oversee mining, construction and operations 
of the mine. 

Under the terms of the Agreement, BMR would earn an initial 35% interest in the processing 
facility and related assets once sufficient quantities of feedstock material have been delivered 
such that ESI achieves a one-time return of capital. BMR would earn a further 40% interest once 
ESI achieves a two-times return of capital.  If BMR earns a cumulative 75% interest, BMR and ESI 
would establish a joint venture to assume responsibility for purchasing feedstock material from 
BMR, operating the process facility and marketing cobalt concentrate. 

BMR would have a right of first refusal to purchase ESI's interest if ESI wishes to sell to a third 
party and an option to purchase ESI's remaining 25% interest after the joint venture is formed.  
The Agreement contains various default and termination events.  Certain events (failure to raise 
required financing, commence design and procurement activities or advance construction by 
determined dates) would entitle BMR to terminate the Agreement and receive a CAD $20 million 
fee. 

This is an early stage exploration project.  There is no assurance that mining operations or a 
processing facility will result. BMR will need to do substantially more exploratory drilling on its 
Ontario lands in order to determine the quantity and quality of the Cobalt ore body.  In order to 
complete the exploratory drilling program, BMR will first have to raise financing.  Assuming that 
BMR is successful at raising the requisite financing, ESI will not be able to make a determination 
on the financing and construction of a processing facility for at least 12 months from the end of 
July 2018.  

4.2. Participation Payment and Construction Financing 

ESI must make a CAD $10 million payment to BMR for the right to participate in the project.  The 
payment must be made by July 17, 2018 and is non-refundable unless BMR does not use 
commercially reasonable efforts to advance the development of its Ontario mineral properties.  
The payment obligation is expected to be funded through the issue by ESI of CAD $10 million of 
common shares (6,666,667 shares, which may initially be issued as subscription receipts) at 
$1.50 per share.   

An investment partnership managed by Yorktown Partners LLC ("Yorktown") will be the sole 
purchaser of the shares.  Yorktown partnerships currently own 87.6% of ESI's common shares.  
Yorktown is a New York based asset management firm dedicated to making private equity 
investments in the energy sector.  The Yorktown team has invested nearly USD $8 billion in more 
than 90 companies. 

ESI plans to raise up to CAD $90 million to be used towards construction of the processing 
facility, if constructed and the estimated cost of which has yet to be determined.  An initial 
CAD $50 million must be raised by the later of December 31, 2018 and four months after the 
closing of an initial public offering by BMR.  The balance of CAD $40 million will be raised later as 
required.  Failure by ESI to raise the initial CAD $50 million would entitle BMR to terminate the 
Agreement and to receive a CAD $20 million termination fee from ESI.  ESI has separately 
received assurances that the CAD $50 million will be available. 
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information 
The following table sets out certain audited financial highlights for the Corporation. 

CAD thousands, except per share amounts 

 Year ended December 31 

 2017 2016 2015 
Revenue 13,037 8,101 11,179 
Net income (loss) 1,194 (5,124) (2,117) 
Earnings (loss) per share – basic 0.03 (0.11) (0.05) 
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted 0.03 (0.11) (0.05) 
Long-term portion of long term debt 2,348 3,248 1,120 
Total assets 36,392 38,297 45,396 
Cash dividends declared Nil Nil Nil 

The following table sets out certain audited financial position highlights for the Corporation. 

CAD thousands, except ratios 

 Year ended December 31 
 2017 2016 2015 
Working capital 12,081 8,109 10,354 
Long-term debt and capital lease (1) 2,348 3,268 4,124 
Total assets 36,392 38,297 45,396 
Debt service coverage (2) 8.10:1 0.35:1 0.9:1 
Notes: 
(1) Excludes current portion. 
(2) Debt service coverage is the ratio of cash flow available to service debt to interest expense and scheduled principal 

payments of funded debt. This ratio is the covenant under the Company’s lending agreement and must exceed 
1.25:1 at all times. Cash flow available to service debt is calculated on a rolling 12month basis as net income (i) plus 
interest expense, deferred income taxes, depreciation, unrealized foreign currency losses, stock-based 
compensation, and any losses on disposal of fixed assets and (ii) less unrealized foreign currency gains and gains on 
disposal of fixed assets. Funded debt means all outstanding interest- bearing debt including capital leases, debt 
subject to scheduled repayment terms, and credit card debt. See note 7 to the financial statements and the section 
in the associated MD&A entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further discussion related to this covenant. 

(3) Quarterly financial highlights have been included under section 7.2 Interim MD&A. 

The following is a summary of selected financial data for the Corporation for the last 8 most 
recently completed quarters for 2016 and 2017. 

CAD thousands, except per share amounts 
 Three months ended 
 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 
 2016 2016 2016 2016 
Revenue 1,507 1,401 2,951 2,242 
Net income (loss) (1,995) (1,430) (2,377) 678 
Earnings (loss) per share – basic (0.04) (0.03) (0.05) 0.02 
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted (0.04) (0.03) (0.05) 0.02 
EBITDA (508) (655) 1,167 628 
Funds flow (560) (658) 1,134 613 
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CAD thousands, except per share amounts 
 Three months ended 
 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 
 2017 2017 2017 2017 
Revenue 2,138 4,100 4,766 2,033 
Net income (loss) (1,052) 862 1,962 (578) 
Earnings (loss) per share – basic (0.02) 0.02 0.04 (0.01) 
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted (0.02) 0.02 0.04 (0.01) 
EBITDA 286 1,898 2,825 503 
Funds flow 281 1,922 2,905 409 

 

5.1. Dividends 

The shares of the Corporation are not subject to any restrictions that would prevent the 
Corporation from paying dividends.  The Corporation does not intend to declare or pay dividends 
in the forseeable future. The future payment of dividends will be dependent on upon the 
financial requirements of the Corporation to find future growth, the financial condition of the 
Corporation and other factors that the board of directors of the Corporation may consider 
appropriate in the circumstances.  

5.2. Foreign GAAP 

No financial information has been prepared in accordance with foreign GAAP.    

6. Management Discussion and Analysis  

6.1. Annual MD&A 

Highlights 
Revenue for the three month period ended December 31, 2017 decreased by 9 percent to 
$2,033,000 compared to $2,242,000 during the same period in 2016.  Virtually all of this revenue 
was generated in the United States.  Activity levels for padding machines and oilfield services in 
Canada remained slow.  

Over 97 percent of the revenue generated during the fourth quarter of 2017 came from padding 
machines. Activity levels for large padding machines were up from 12 padding months during 
the fourth quarter of 2016 to 21 padding months during the fourth quarter of 2017, an increase 
of 75 percent. Activity levels for small padders were down by 41 percent to 19 padding months 
during the fourth quarter of 2017, compared with 32 padding months during the same period in 
2016. Our newest small padding machine, the micro-padder, which was introduced to customers 
during the first quarter of 2017, is starting to gain traction. To date, we have added 3 micro-
padding machines to our rental fleet.  Activity levels for micro-padders were 2 padder months 
during the fourth quarter of 2017.   

Gross margin for the three months ended December 31, 2017 was down by 4 percent.  This 
decrease was primarily due to the 9 percent decrease in revenue during the period, most of 
which was due to a decrease in small padding revenue compared with the same period in 2016.   

The Company generated a net loss of $578,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with 
net income of $678,000 during the three months ended December 31, 2016.  The decrease in 
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net income during the fourth quarter of 2017 was primarily due to the 9 percent decrease in 
revenue during the period. 

Funds flow from operations was $409,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with of 
$613,000 during the same period in 2016, a decrease of 33 percent. 

Revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 increased by 61 percent to 
$13,037,000 compared to $8,101,000 during the same period in 2016.  Virtually all of this 
revenue was generated from padding revenue in the United States.  Activity levels for padding 
machines and oilfield services in Canada remained slow.  

Over 96 percent of the revenue generated during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 
came from padding machines. Activity levels for large padding machines were up by a multiple, 
from 50 padding months during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 to 151 padding 
months during the same period in 2017, an increase of 202 percent. Activity levels for small 
padders were down by 28 percent to 86 padding months during the twelve months ended 
December 2017, compared with 120 padding months during the same period in 2016.  

Gross margin for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 was up by 108 percent.  This 
increase was primarily due to the 62 percent increase in revenue during the period.   

Net income increased during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 from a net loss of 
$5,124,000 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 to net income of $1,194,000.  
The increase in net income during the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to the 
61 percent increase in revenue during the period. 

Funds flow from operations was $5,517,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 
compared with $529,000 during the same period in 2016, an increase of $4,988,000. 

Working capital increased by $3,972,000 to $12,081,000 in 2017 compared with $8,109,000 at 
December 31, 2016.  The increase in working capital was primarily attributable to cash proceeds 
received from the sale of eight pipe layers during the first quarter of 2017 for gross proceeds of 
$3,500,000 and an increase in revenue during the twelve months of 2017. 

Long-term debt decreased by $2,387,000 to $2,883,000 at December 31, 2017. 

Fourth quarter revenues and earnings during 2017 declined as result of a seasonal decline in 
pipeline construction activities during the year.  The decline in activity levels during the fourth 
quarter of 2017 was in line with expectations. We are anticipating that activity levels in the 
United States in 2018 will be consistent with 2017 and we are hoping to see an increase in 
pipeline construction in Canada during the latter half of 2018. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 
Financial Highlights 
CAD thousands, except per share amounts 

 Year ended December 31 

 2017 2016 2015 
Revenue 13,037 8,101 11,179 

Net income (loss) 1,194 (5,124) (2,117) 

Earnings (loss) per share – basic 0.03 (0.11) (0.05) 

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted 0.03 (0.11) (0.05) 

Long-term portion of long term debt 2,348 3,248 1,120 

Total assets 36,392 38,297 45,396 

CAD thousands, except per share amounts 
 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Revenue  2,033 2,242 (209) (9) 13,037 8,101 4,936 62 

Net income (loss) (578) 678 (1,256) (185) 1,194 (5,124) 6,318 123 

Earnings (loss) per share – basic (0.01) 0.02 (0.03) (150) 0.03 (0.11) 0.14 127 

Earnings (loss) per share – 
diluted 

(0.01) 0.02 (0.03) (150) 0.03 (0.11) 0.14 127 

EBITDA(1) 503 628 (125) (20) 5,512 631 4,881 774 

Funds flow(1) 409 613 (204) (33) 5,517 529 4,988 943 

Cash flow from operating 
activities 

 

489 

 

7 

 

482 

 

6,886 

 

6,083 

 

1,659 

 

4,424 

 

267 

Capital spending         

  Additions (1,805) (169) (1,636) 968 (4,314) (2,174) (2,140) 98 

  Proceeds on sale 88 496 (408) (82) 4,087 941 3,146 334 

(1) EBITDA and Funds flow are non GAAP measures.  See commentary in “Non-Standard and Additional GAAP Items”.   

 
Operating Highlights  

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

FLEET  Months Months   Months Months   

Large padders 21 12 9 75 151 50 101 202 
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 OPP-300 11 6 5 83 69 33 36 109 

 OPP-200 10 6 4 67 82 17 65 382 

         

Small padders  19 32 (13) (41) 86 120 (34) (28) 

   Mini-padders 17 32 (15) (47) 74 120 (46) (38) 

   Micro-padders 2 - 2 N/A 12 - 12 N/A 

         

Pipe layers - - - - 5 13 (8) (62) 

Oilfield services 6 10 (4) (40) 33 45 (12) (27) 

         

UTILIZATION  % %   % %   

Large padders 24 13 11 85 42 14 28 200 

 OPP-300 23 12 11 92 34 16 18 113 

 OPP-200 25 15 10 67 53 11 42 382 

         

Small padders 36 71 (35) (49) 44 62 (18) (29) 

Mini-padders 39 71 (32) (45) 44 62 (18) (29) 

Micro-padders 23 - 23 N/A 40 - 40 N/A 

         

Pipe layers - - - - 3 7 (4) (57) 

Oilfield services 12  22  (10) (45) 17 23 (6) (26) 

(1) Each machine is billed based on a padder month which typically consists of 24 billing days. 
(2) Due to machine downtime as a result of transport, repairs and maintenance and movement between jobs, it is not 

possible to achieve a 100 percent utilization rate. 

 
Financial Position 
CAD thousands, except ratios 

 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

Working capital 12,081 8,109 

Long-term debt and capital lease (1) 2,348 3,268 

Total assets 36,392 38,297 

Debt service coverage (2) 8.10:1 0.35:1 

(1) Excludes current portion. 
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(2) Debt service coverage is the ratio of cash flow available to service debt to interest expense and scheduled principal payments 
of funded debt. This ratio is the covenant under the Company’s lending agreement and must exceed 1.25:1 at all times. Cash 
flow available to service debt is calculated on a rolling 12 month basis as net income (i) plus interest expense, deferred income 
taxes, depreciation, unrealized foreign currency losses, stock based compensation, and any losses on disposal of fixed assets 
and (ii) less unrealized foreign currency gains and gains on disposal of fixed assets. Funded debt means all outstanding interest 
bearing debt including capital leases, debt subject to scheduled repayment terms, and credit card debt. See note 7 to the 
financial statements and the section in this MD&A entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further discussion related to 
this covenant.  

Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of ESI’s Operations 
The Company’s business is dependent on the expenditures of oil and natural gas producers, pipeline owners 
and pipeline and renewable energy (wind and solar) construction contractors which in turn are primarily 
driven by the current and anticipated prices of oil, natural gas and renewable energy.      

The North American mainline pipeline construction industry is typically seasonal, with pipeline construction 
commencing in the first quarter of the year and peaking during the second and third quarters.  The Canadian 
mainline cross country pipeline construction season tends to end during the third quarter of the year due to 
seasonal road bans (temporary restrictions on road usage) and restricted access to agricultural lands.  
Pipeline construction typically recommences in May and continues through until late December when the 
industry shuts down for Christmas break. 

The global pipeline construction industry is influenced by fluctuations in oil and gas prices, weather 
conditions, and demand for oil and gas in emerging markets.  Domestic activity levels are also influenced by 
demand for residential and industrial construction requiring sewer and water pipelines, natural gas 
distribution and optical cable. 

Oil and natural gas markets have been historically volatile and are likely to remain so for the foreseeable 
future.  Significant fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may result from relatively minor changes in supply 
and demand factors, geo-political events, environmental factors and other uncertainties.  Significant 
reductions in commodity prices can result in cost pressure on the projects undertaken by the Company’s 
customers.  This, in turn, can have a negative impact on the Company’s profitability in terms of cost pressure 
and/or cancellation of projects. 

Variability in the weather can also result in uncertainty and unpredictability in equipment activity and 
utilization rates which then can have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Modest increases in utilization rates for padding machines can have a significant positive impact on ESI’s 
profitability due to the Company’s proportionately high fixed cost base. 

 
Revenue, Operating Expenses and Gross Margin 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Revenue         

Padding machines 1,965 1,847 118 6 12,578 7,129 5,449 76 

Pipe layers - 1 (1) (100) 135 245 (110) (45) 
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Oilfield services 
equipment 

 

68 

 

106 

 

(38) 

 

(36) 

 

323 

 

439 

 

(116) 

 

(26) 

Machine sales - 288 (288) (100) - 288 (288) (100) 

 2,033 2,242 (209) (9) 13,037 8,101 4,936 61 

         

Operating expenses 860 1,019 (159) (16) 4,394 3,948 446 11 

Gross margin  1,173 1,223 (50) (4) 8,643 4,153 4,490 108 

Depreciation 896 1,256 (360) (29) 3,759 4,608 (849) (18) 

Gross Profit/(Loss) 277 (33) 310 (939) 4,884 (455) 5,339 (1,173) 

 
Three months ended December 31, 2017  
During the fourth quarter, revenue decreased 9 percent from to $2,242,000 in 2016, to $2,033,000.  The 
revenue decrease was primarily the result of a decrease in rental revenue from small padding machines and 
oilfield service equipment.  

Overall, the utilization rates for large padding machines increased by 85 percent while utilization rates for 
small padding machines and oilfield services equipment decreased by 49 percent and 45 percent, 
respectively, during the fourth quarter of 2017.   

The utilization rate for large padding machines was 24 percent during the fourth quarter of 2017, up from 13 
percent during the same period in 2016, while the utilization rate for small padding machines decreased by 
49 percent to 36 percent during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with 71 percent during the same 
period in 2016.  The utilization rate for OPP-300 padding machines during the fourth quarter was 23 percent 
compared with 12 percent during the same period in 2016, while the utilization rate for OPP-200 padding 
machines during the fourth quarter was 25 percent, compared with 15 percent during the same period in 
2016. The increase in utilization rates for large padding machines was due to a significant increase in mainline 
pipeline construction activity in the United States during 2017. 

Utilization rates for small padding machines during the fourth quarter decreased by 49 percent from 71 
percent in 2016 to 36 percent in 2017. Mini-padder rates decreased by 45 percent from 71 percent in 2016 to 
39 percent in 2017. The micro-padder utilization rate during the fourth quarter of 2017 was 23 percent.  

Utilization rates for oilfield services equipment during the fourth quarter of 2016 decreased to 12 percent in 
2017 down from 22 percent during the same period in 2016. 

Revenue from pipeline padding increased to $1,965,000 from $1,847,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017, 
an increase of 6 percent. Oilfield services equipment revenue during the fourth quarter of 2017 was down by 
36 percent to $68,000 from $106,000 during the fourth quarter of 2016.   

Operating expenses are primarily fixed with a small variable component.  Operating expenses were $860,000 
during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to $1,019,000 during the same period of the prior year, a 
decrease of 16 percent.  Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue during the fourth quarter of 2017 
were 42 percent compared with 45 percent during the same period in 2016.   

Gross margin was $1,173,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017, a slight decrease from $1,223,000 during the 
same period in 2016.  The decrease was due to lower small padding machine rental revenue during the 
period. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue during the fourth quarter of 2017 was 58 percent, 
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compared with 55 percent during the same period in 2016 due to the slight decrease in revenue during the 
quarter.  

Depreciation expense was $896,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to $1,256,000 during the 
same period of the prior year. Lower depreciation for the fourth quarter of 2017 was primarily the result of 
the disposition of certain fixed assets during the first quarter of 2017 and the second half of 2016. 

Twelve months ended December 31, 2017 
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 increased to $13,037,000 from $8,101,000 during the same 
period in 2016, a 61 percent increase. 

The utilization rate for large padders for the year ended December 31, 2017 was 42 percent, up from 14 
percent during the same period in 2016. The increase in the utilization rate for large padders was caused by a 
significant increase in mainline pipeline construction activity in the United States. Utilization rates for large 
padding machines are driven by large diameter mainline pipeline construction activity which increased 
dramatically during the second and third quarters of 2017.  There are a number of large diameter mainline 
pipeline projects in Canada which have been announced but continue to be delayed as a result of 
environmental, regulatory and political issues. The decline in commodity prices has also contributed to 
mainline pipeline construction delays in Canada as the economics of these major projects are being revisited.  
Large diameter mainline construction is currently at full capacity in the United States. The pipeline 
construction industry is currently struggling with shortages of both manpower and equipment. The utilization 
rate for small padders for the year ended December 31, 2017 was 44 percent, down from 62 percent during 
the same period of the prior year.  Most of this activity was driven by green energy (solar and wind-power) 
projects. 

Pipe layer utilization was 3 percent for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2017 compared with 7 
percent in the previous year.  This was due to a decision taken by management to dispose of these assets and 
exit the business.  

The utilization rate for oilfield services equipment was 17 percent during the twelve months of 2017, down 
from 23 percent during the same period in 2016. The lower utilization rate for oilfield services was due to the 
substantially reduced activity levels for oilfield services in western Canada as a result of depressed prices for 
oil and gas globally. 

Revenue from pipeline padding in 2017 increased to $12,578,000 up by 76 percent from $7,129,000 in 
2016.The increase was due to higher levels of mainline pipeline construction activity in the United States.  
Revenue from pipe layers dropped by 45 percent to $135,000 during 2017 compared with $245,000 during 
2016 for the reason noted above. Oilfield services equipment revenue decreased to $323,000 for the twelve 
month period ended December 31, 2017, down from $439,000 in 2016. The decrease in oilfield services 
revenue was for reasons previously noted. 

Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue were 34 percent in 2017 versus 49 percent during the same 
period in 2016. Operating expenses increased by $446,000 or 11 percent over the same period of the prior 
year, compared with an annual increase in revenue of $4,936,000 or 61 percent during 2017. The reason for 
this dramatic difference in the percentage increase in operating costs versus revenue is due to the fact that 
operating costs are relatively fixed.  

Gross margin was $8,643,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017 up from $4,153,000 during the 
corresponding period in 2016, an increase of 108 percent. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue was 66 
percent during the year ended December 31, 2017 compared with 51 percent during the same period in 
2016. 
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Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $3,759,000 compared with $4,608,000 for 
the corresponding period in 2016. Lower depreciation for the twelve months of 2017 was primarily the result 
of the disposition of certain fixed assets during first quarter of 2017 and the second half of 2016. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expense 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Selling, general and 
administrative 
expense 

 

 

873 

 

 

587 

 

 

286 

 

 

49 

 

 

3,732 

 

 

3,512 

 

 

220 

 

 

6 

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the fourth quarter of 2017 were $873,000 compared with 
$587,000 during the same period in 2016, an increase of 49 percent.  Selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 were $3,732,000 in 2017 compared with $3,512,000 during 
2016, an increase of 6 percent.  During the year ended December 31, 2017, declines in salaries was offset by 
the higher professional fees and stock based compensation cost. 

Other Income (Expense) 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Finance expense (33) (70) 37 (53) (166) (302) 136 (45) 

Finance and other 
income 

 

70 

 

51 

 

19 

 

37 

 

250 

 

203 

 

47 

 

23 

Gain (loss) on 
disposal of capital 
assets 

 

 

88 

 

 

(325) 

 

 

413 

 

 

(127) 

 

 

446 

 

 

39 

 

 

407 

 

 

1,044 

Foreign exchange 
gain (loss)- Realized 
& unrealized) 

 

24 

 

 

180 

 

(156) 

 

(87) 

 

(409) 

 

 

(156) 

 

(253) 

 

162 

Interest and finance charges were $33,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to $70,000 during 
the same period in 2016, a decrease of 53 percent due to lower levels of long-term debt. For the year ended 
December 31, 2017, interest and finance charges decreased by 45 percent from $302,000 to $166,000 for the 
same reason. 

Other income consists primarily of interest income from short term investments. For the fourth quarter of 
the 2017, other income was $70,000 compared with $51,000 during the same period in 2016, an increase of 
37 percent. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $250,000 compared with $203,000 
during 2016, an increase of 23 percent. 
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The Company recorded a gain on disposal of fixed assets in the amount of $88,000 during the fourth quarter 
of 2017 compared with a loss of $325,000 during the same period in 2016. For the year ended December 31, 
2017 the Company recorded a gain of $446,000 compared with a gain of $39,000 during the same period in 
2016. The net gain includes a gain on disposal of eight pipe layers and related parts which was recorded 
during the first half of 2017, and the sale of one mini padding machine as well as other parts. 

The Company recorded foreign exchange gain of $24,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017 down from a gain of 
$180,000 for the same period in 2016.  For the year ended December 31,2017 foreign exchange loss was $409,000 
compared with $156,000 during the prior year.   

Foreign exchange loss of $409,000 during the year ended December 31,2017 includes unrealized foreign exchange 
loss of $532,000 and realized foreign exchange gain of 123,000. Foreign exchange loss of $156,000 for the year 
ended December 31,2016 includes unrealized foreign exchange loss of $146,000 and realized foreign exchange loss 
of 10,000. Unrealized foreign currency gains and losses occur primarily on the translation of US dollar denominated 
payables and receivables within Canadian entities.  

Income Taxes (Expense) 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 
 2017 2016 Change % 2017 2016 Change % 
Current tax recovery 
(expense) (131) 4 (135) (3,375) (79) (3) (76) 2,533 
Total income tax recovery 
(expense) (131) 4 (135) (3,375) (79) (3) (76) 2,533 

Current income tax expense for the fourth quarter of 2017 was $131,000 compared with the recovery of $4,000 
during 2016.  Current income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $79,000 compared with 
an expense of $3,000 during the same period in 2016. 

Amounts expensed represent payments to or from individual states. The Company is not currently taxable at 
a federal level in Canada or the United States. In addition, no benefit has been recognized in the financial 
statements for income tax losses. 

Net Income, Funds Flow and Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Net income (loss) (578) 678 (1,256) (185) 1,194 (5,124) 6,318 123 

Funds flow (1) 409 613 (204) (33) 5,517 529 4,988 943 

Cash flow from 
operating activities 

489 7 482 

 

6,886 

 

6,083 1,659 4,424 267 

(1) Funds flow from operations is a non GAAP measure.  See commentary in “Non-Standard and Additional GAAP Items”. 

Net loss increased to $578,000 for the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with a net income of $678,000 
during the fourth quarter of 2016, a decrease of 185 percent. Net income increased during the year ended 
December 31, 2017 to $1,194,000 compared with a net loss of $5,124,000 during the same period in 2016. 
The increase in net income for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to the 61 percent 
increase in revenue during the current year.  
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Funds flow from operations was $409,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017, compared with $613,000 for the 
corresponding quarter in 2016. Funds flow from operations was $5,517,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2017 compared with $529,000 during the same period in 2016. The main reason for the increase in funds 
flow was the 61 percent increase in revenue during the twelve month period ended December 31,2017. 

Cash flow from operating activities was $489,000 in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with $7,000 during 
the same period of 2016. Cash flow from operating activities was $6,083,000 in 2017 compared with 
$1,659,000 during the same period in 2016. The increase was due to the same reasons noted above for the 
increase in the net income and funds flow. 

Capital Expenditure 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 

 2017 2016 Change %  2017 2016 Change %  

Padding 
equipment 

1,570 230 1,340 583 3,916 2,075 1,841 89 

Other  12 2 10 500 54 58 (4) (7) 

Inventory 223 (63) 286 (454) 344 41 303 739 

 1,805 169 1,636 968 4,314 2,174 2,140 98 

Dispositions (88) (496) 408 (82) (4,087) (941) (3,146) 334 

 1,717 (327) 2,044 (625) 227 1,233 (1,006) (82) 

 
Cash used for capital expenditures totaled $1,805,000 during the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to 
$169,000 in the fourth quarter of 2016, and $4,314,000 on a year to date basis in 2017 compared to 
$2,174,000 in 2016. The reason for the 98 percent increase in capital expenditures during the year was due 
to an expenditure in the amount of US$857,000 to buy back an OPP-300 padding machine and related parts.  
Other capital expenditures for padding machines, in both the three and twelve month periods ended 
December 31, were related to the ongoing retrofitting of large padding machines, and the development and 
construction of Micro-padders.  In the third quarter of 2017, two new micro-padders were added to the fleet. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company sold eight pipe layers and related parts, one 
padding machine and inventory parts for combined net proceeds of $4,087,000. 

Standards issued but not yet adopted 
The following new standards were issued by the IASB, potentially applicable to the Company, are effective for 
annual periods beginning after January 1, 2018.  See Note 3 to the financial statements.  

• On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

• On May 28,2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

• On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases) 

The Company is in the process of assessing the potential impact of these standards. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
At December 31, 2017, the Company’s balance sheet included working capital (current assets minus current 
liabilities) of $12,081,000 compared to $8,109,000 at December 31, 2016. 

Cash and short-term investment balances increased to $12,578,000 at December 31, 2017 from $9,998,000 
at December 31, 2016 due to the sale of eight pipe layers during the first quarter 2017 and the 61 percent 
increase in revenue during the twelve month period ended December 31, 2017.  

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and business of the Company.  In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may sell assets, reduce capital expenditures or draw on 
its credit facilities. 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• to augment existing resources in order to meet growth requirements. 
The company refinanced a mortgage on a property located in Leduc, Alberta in October of 2017. 

A mortgage on a property located in Phoenix, AZ and a term loan were repaid in full during the first and third 
quarters of 2017.     

Share Capital 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares. There are 
45,000,792 issued and outstanding common shares.  

The Company granted options under its equity incentive plan to acquire 2,230,104 common shares on 
February 27, 2017.  Each option is exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.50 
per share. The options vest over a period of two years and expire on February 27, 2022, five years after the 
grant date.  

The Company has 1,996,274 warrants outstanding. Each warrant is exercisable to purchase one common 
share at an exercise price of $0.86. The warrants were initially due to expire on October 19, 2018. In January 
2018, the term of the warrants was extended to December 01, 2021.  

Changes in Contractual Obligations  
The following table reflects the Company’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to 
continuing operations as at December 31, 2017. 
CAD thousands 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Operating facility and equipment leases 173 162 43 1 - 

Loans and borrowings 535 276 276 276 1,520 

Trade and other payables 1,002 - - - - 

Income tax payable 145 - - - - 

Deferred revenue 114 - - - - 
Total 1,969 438 319 277 1,520 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other than 
operating leases. See note 13 to the financial statements for the operating leases. The company has not 
created and is not party to any special purpose or off-balance sheet entries for the purpose of raising capital, 
incurring debt or operating its business.  

Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following table shows key selected quarterly financial information for the Company. 
CAD thousands 

2017, 2016 and 2015 Three Months Ended 

 Mar.31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 Total 
2017      

Revenue 2,138 4,100 4,766 2,033 13,037 

Net Income (loss) (1,052) 862 1,962 (578) 1,194 

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.02) 0.02 0.04 (0.01) 0.03 

Funds flow from operations 281 1,922 2,905 409 5,517 

Cash flow from operations 795 1,020 3,779 489 6,083 

2016      
Revenue 1,507 1,401 2,951 2,242 8,101 

Net Income (loss) (1,995) (1,430) (2,377) 678 (5,124) 

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.04) (0.03) (0.05) 0.02 (0.11) 

Funds flow from operations (560) (658) 1,134 613 529 

Cash flow from operations 540 (477) 1,589 7 1,659 

2015      
Revenue 2,092 2,522 3,939 2,626 11,179 

Net Income (loss) (1,039) (1,730) 1,934 (1,281) (2,117) 

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.03) (0.05) 0.06 (0.04) (0.05) 

Funds flow from operations 47 165 1,788 610 2,610 

Cash flow from operations 262 (873) (272) 2,105 1,222 
 

Revenue can be significantly affected by seasonality and the status of projects over which the Company has 
no control.  During the summer of 2015 there was an increase in demand for large machines which drove 
revenue higher partly in the second quarter but primarily in the third quarter. Demand then declined during 
the fourth quarter and remained low into the summer of 2016 until demand grew again in the fall. 
Subsequently, there was a significant increase in demand for large machines which drove revenue higher 
during the first, second and third quarters of 2017. Demand then declined during the fourth quarter of 2017.  

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities is a result of the underlying operations of the Company plus or 
minus net changes in non-cash working capital.  The cash flow during 2015 did not show the same pattern as 
revenue.  This was because during 2015 the Company entered into certain transactions that were recorded 
as finance leases receivable.  No revenue was recorded in relation to these finance leases as they were 
treated as asset dispositions, but they initially reduced cash flows as the receivable had to be financed.  
During the fourth quarter of 2015 and the first quarter of 2016 the pattern reversed as the Company received 
the funds.  In the third quarter of 2016 cash flow increased primarily because of higher padding revenue and 
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it was again decreased in the fourth quarter because of lower padding revenue and reverse takeover 
expenses. Cash flow increased steadily during the first, second and third quarters of 2017, and declined 
during the fourth quarter of 2017.  

Net income (loss) is determined by revenue as noted above but also by non-cash items. In the fourth quarter 
of 2015 and again in the third quarter of 2016, the Company recorded an impairment charge which increased 
the loss. In the fourth quarter of 2016 net income was increased due to reversal of the impairment which has 
recorded in the third quarter. Higher revenue resulted in a decrease of the net loss in the first quarter of 
2017 and an increase the net income during the second and third quarters of 2017. Various other items such 
as gains and losses on the disposal of capital assets, foreign exchange gains and losses, and provisions for 
doubtful accounts also have an impact on the reported net income (loss).  

Non-Standard and Non-GAAP Items 
We reference measures that are not recognized under International Financial Reporting Standards.  These 
measures include EBITDA and funds flow. 

EBITDA 
EBITDA, defined as earnings before finance income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and 
amortization, gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment, and unrealized foreign currency gain or 
loss, is not a financial measure that is recognized under IFRS.  However, management believes that EBITDA is 
a useful measure as it gives an indication of the results from the Company’s principal business activities prior 
to consideration of how activities are financed, and the impact of foreign exchange, taxation and non-cash 
charges for depreciation and amortization. Investors should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not 
be construed as an alternative measure to net earnings determined in accordance with GAAP.  ESI’s method 
of calculating EBITDA may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable 
to that of other companies. The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA. 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Net income (loss) (578) 678 1,194 (5,124) 
add (deduct):     
   Depreciation 896 1,256 3,759 4,608 
   Impairment - (2,273) - 123 
   Provision for income taxes 131 (4) 79 3 
   Finance cost 33 70 166 302 
   Finance and other income (70) (51) (250) (203) 
   Loss (gains) on disposal of 
property, plant & equipment 

 
(88) 

 
325 

 
(446) 

 
(39) 

   Unrealized foreign currency 
loss (gains) 

 
99 

 
(188) 

 
532 

 
146 

   Other non-cash items 80 - 478 - 
   Reverse takeover expense - 815 - 815 
EBITDA as reported 503 628 5,512 631 

 

EBITDA for the three months ended December 31, 2017 was $503,000 compared to $628,000 for the same 
period in the prior year.  EBITDA for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 was $5,512,000 compared 
with $631,000 for the same period in the prior year. The primary reason for the fluctuation in EBITDA during 
the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2017 was the fluctuation in revenue of $2,033,000 
and $13,037,000 during the three and twelve month periods in 2017, compared with $2,242,000 and 
$8,101,000 during the same periods in 2016. Changes in the levels of revenue are discussed in an earlier 
section of this MD&A. 
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Funds from Operations 
Funds from operations is calculated as cash flow from operating activities, as presented in the consolidated 
statement of cash flow, prior to any increases or decreases in working capital. This is not a measure 
recognized under GAAP.   Management believes funds flow is a useful measure as it provides an indication of 
the funds generated by the Company’s principal business and eliminates the impact of seasonal fluctuations 
and lack of comparability between periods of non-cash working capital balances, which consist primarily of 
highly liquid balances.  However, this financial measure should not be construed as an alternative measure to 
cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP.  ESI’s method of calculating funds 
from operations may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable to 
that of other companies. 

The following is a reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to funds from operations. 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 Twelve months ended December 31 
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
Funds flow from (used in) operations 409 613 5,517 529 
add (deduct):     
  Changes in non-cash working capital 80 (606) 566 1,130 
Cash flow from operating activities  489 7 6,083 1,659 
Funds flow per share 0.01 0.01 0.13 0.01 

The changes in funds flow reflect the changes in revenue discussed above. 

6.2. Interim MD&A 

Highlights 
Revenue for the three month period ended March 31, 2018 decreased by 29 percent to $1,582,000 
compared to $2,225,000 during the same period in 2017.  Virtually all of this revenue was generated in the 
United States.  Activity levels for padding machines and oilfield services in Canada remained very slow. This 
was primarily due to regulatory and environmental impediments to pipeline construction in Canada.  

Over 82 percent of the revenue generated during the first quarter of 2018 came from padding machines. 
Activity levels for large padding machines were down from 19 padding months during the first quarter of 
2017 to 17 padding months during the first quarter of 2018, a decrease of 11 percent. Activity levels for small 
padders were down by 70 percent to 7 padding months during the first quarter of 2018, compared with 23 
padding months during the same period in 2017. Our newest small padding machine, the micro-padder, 
which was introduced during the first quarter of 2017, is starting to gain traction. To date, we have added 3 
micro-padding machines to our rental fleet.  Activity levels for micro-padders consisted of 2 padder months 
during the first quarter of 2018.  We have also added a line of screening buckets to our product offering 
which we believe will generate some additional opportunities for the Company going forward.    

Gross margin for the three months ended March 31, 2018 was down by 68 percent.  This decrease was primarily 
due to the 29 percent decrease in revenue during the period, most of which was due to a decrease in small 
padding revenue in the United States as well minimal large padding activity in Canada compared with the same 
period in 2017.   

The Company generated a net loss of $1,348,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with net loss of 
$1,052,000 during the first quarter of 2017. The increase in net loss during the first quarter of 2018 was 
primarily due to the 29 percent decrease in revenue during the period. 

Funds flow from operations was a deficit of $426,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with 
$313,000 during the same period in 2017, a decrease of 236 percent. 
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Working capital decreased by $2,658,000 to $9,423,000 at March 31, 2018 compared with $12,081,000 at 
December 31, 2017.  The decrease in working capital was primarily due to an increase in net capital 
expenditures of $2,228,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with the same period in 2017. 

Long-term debt decreased by $46,000 to $2,302,000 at March 31, 2018 compared with $2,348,000 at 
December 31, 2017. 

First quarter revenues and earnings during 2018 declined as result of a seasonal decline in mainline pipeline 
construction activities as well as a significant decline in small padder activity levels.  Lower large padding 
machine activity levels in the United States during the first quarter of 2018 were in line with expectations.  
We are expecting to see an increase in mainline pipeline construction activity in the United States starting in 
May, while the prospects for mainline pipeline construction activity levels in Canada remain uncertain. 
Activity levels for mini-padders and micro-padders are showing signs of recovery.  We are also exploring sales 
opportunities in foreign markets for our mini-padding and micro-padding machines.   
 

SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION 
Financial Highlights 
CAD thousands, except per share amounts  

 Three months ended March 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Revenue  1,582 2,225 (643) (29) 

Net income (loss) (1,348)          (1,052)   (296) 28 

Earnings (loss) per share – basic (0.03) (0.02) (0.01) 50 

Earnings (loss) per share – diluted (0.03) (0.02) (0.01) 50 

EBITDA(1) (457) 318 (775) (244) 

Funds flow (1) (426) 313 (739) (236) 

Cash flow from operating activities (636)                828 (1,464) (177) 

Capital spending     

  Additions (1,803) (413) (1,390) 337 

  Proceeds on dispositions - 3,238 (3,238) (100) 

(1) EBITDA and Funds flow are non GAAP measures.  See commentary in “Non-Standard and Additional GAAP Items”.   

Operating Highlights  
 Three months ended March 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

FLEET (1) Months Months   

Large padders  17 19 (2) (11) 

 OPP-300 14 6 8 133 



Page 31 of 56 
 

 OPP-200 3 13 (10) (77) 

     

Small padders  7 23 (16) (70) 

   Mini-padders 5 23 (18) (78) 

   Micro-padders 2 - 2 N/A 

     

Pipe layers - 5 (5) (100) 

Oilfield services 4 7 (3) (43) 

     

UTILIZATION (2) % % % % 

Large padders 19 21 (2) (10) 

 OPP-300 28 12 16 133 

 OPP-200 8 33 (25) (76) 

     

Small padders 13 56 (43) (77) 

Mini-padders 11 56 (45) (80) 

Micro-padders 20 - 20 N/A 

     

Pipe layers - 10 (10) (100) 

Oilfield services 8 14 (6) (43) 

Notes 
(1) Each machine is billed based on a padder month which typically consists of 24 billing days. 
(2) Due to machine downtime as a result of transport, repairs and maintenance and movement between jobs, it is not 

possible to achieve a 100 percent utilization rate. 

Financial Position 
CAD thousands, except ratios 

 March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 

Working capital 9,423 12,081 

Long-term debt and capital lease(1) 2,302 2,348 

Total assets 36,493 36,392 

Debt service coverage (2) 3.34:1 8.10:1 

Notes 
(1) Excludes current portion. 
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(2) Debt service coverage is the ratio of cash flow available to service debt to interest expense and scheduled principal 
payments of funded debt. This ratio is the covenant under the Company’s lending agreement and must exceed 1.25:1 
at all times. Cash flow available to service debt is calculated on a rolling 12 month basis as net income (i) plus interest 
expense, deferred income taxes, depreciation, unrealized foreign currency losses, stock based compensation, and any 
losses on disposal of fixed assets and (ii) less unrealized foreign currency gains and gains on disposal of fixed assets. 
Funded debt means all outstanding interest bearing debt including capital leases, debt subject to scheduled 
repayment terms, and credit card debt. See note 8 to the financial statements and the section in this MD&A entitled 
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further discussion related to this covenant.  

 

Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of ESI’s Operations 
The Company’s business is dependent on the expenditures of oil and natural gas producers, pipeline owners 
and pipeline and renewable energy (wind and solar) construction contractors which in turn are primarily driven 
by the current and anticipated prices of oil, natural gas and renewable energy.      

The North American mainline pipeline construction industry is typically seasonal, with pipeline construction 
commencing in the first quarter of the year and peaking during the second and third quarters.  The Canadian 
mainline cross country pipeline construction season tends to pause during the second quarter of the year due 
to seasonal road bans (temporary restrictions on road usage) and restricted access to agricultural lands.  
Pipeline construction typically recommences in May and continues through until late December when the 
industry shuts down for Christmas break. 

The global pipeline construction industry is influenced by fluctuations in oil and gas prices, weather 
conditions, and demand for oil and gas in emerging markets.  Domestic activity levels are also influenced by 
demand for residential and industrial construction requiring sewer and water pipelines, natural gas 
distribution and optical cable. 

Oil and natural gas markets have been historically volatile and are likely to remain so for the foreseeable 
future.  Significant fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices may result from relatively minor changes in supply 
and demand factors, geo-political events, environmental factors and other uncertainties.  Significant 
reductions in commodity prices can result in cost pressure on the projects undertaken by the Company’s 
customers.  This, in turn, can have a negative impact on the Company’s profitability in terms of cost pressure 
and/or the cancellation of projects. 

Variability in the weather can also result in uncertainty and unpredictability in equipment activity and 
utilization rates which then can have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

Modest increases in utilization rates for padding machines can have a significant positive impact on ESI’s 
profitability due to the Company’s proportionately high fixed cost base. 

 
Revenue, Operating Expenses and Gross Margin 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended March 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Revenue     

Machine rental     

      Padding machines 1,298 1,865 (567) (30) 



Page 33 of 56 
 

      Pipe layers - 119 (119) (100) 

      Oilfield services equipment 31 57 (26) (46) 

 Mobilization       67 15 52 347 

Inventory sales 84 87 (3) (3) 

Other services 102 82 20 24 

 1,582 2,225 (643) (29) 

Cost of purchase 41 55 (14) (25) 

Operating expenses 1,167 1,013 154 15 

Gross margin  374 1,157 (783) (68) 

Depreciation 890 1,011 (121) (12) 

Gross Profit/(Loss) (516) 146 (662) (453) 

 

During the first quarter of 2018, revenue decreased by 29 percent to $1,582,000 from $2,225,000 in 2017.The 
revenue decrease was primarily the result of a decrease in rental revenue from small padding machines.  

Overall, the utilization rates for large padding machines, small padding machines and oilfield services 
equipment decreased by 10 percent, 77 percent, and 43 percent respectively during the first quarter of 2018.   

The utilization rate for large padding machines was 19 percent during the first quarter of 2018, down from 21 
percent during the same period in 2017. The utilization rate for small padding machines decreased by 77 
percent to 13 percent during the first quarter of 2018 compared with 56 percent during the same period in 
2017.  The utilization rate for OPP-300 padding machines during the first quarter of 2018 was 28 percent 
compared with 12 percent during the same period in 2017, while the utilization rate for OPP-200 padding 
machines during the first quarter was 8 percent, compared with 33 percent during the same period in 2017. 
The decrease in utilization rates for large padding machines was due to a decrease in mainline pipeline 
construction activity in the United States during the first quarter of 2018 

Utilization rates for small padding machines during the first quarter decreased by 77 percent from 56 percent 
in 2017 to 13 percent in 2018. Mini-padder rates decreased by 80 percent from 56 percent in 2017 to 11 
percent in 2018. The micro-padder utilization rate during the first quarter of 2018 was 20 percent. The decrease 
was due to a decrease in renewables construction activity in the United States during the first quarter of 2018 
compared with the same period in 2017.  The decrease in renewables construction activity was likely due to a 
new US tariff on imported solar panels. New US solar tariffs went into effect on February 7, 2018.  The tariff, 
levied on all foreign produced solar panels is set initially at 30% for year one with a 5% declining rate per year 
over the four year term for which the tariffs are in effect. The first 2.5 gigawatts of cells imported each year 
are exempts from tariffs.    

Utilization rates for oilfield services equipment during the first quarter of 2018 decreased to 8 percent in 2018 
down from 14 percent during the same period in 2017. 

During the first quarter of 2018, revenue from pipeline padding rental decreased to $1,298,000 from 
$1,865,000 in the same period of previous year, a decrease of 30 percent. There was no rental revenue from 
pipe layers during the first quarter of 2018 due to a decision taken by the Company to exit the business of pipe 
layers in 2016. The Company disposed of its remaining eight pipe layers during the first quarter of 2017.  Oilfield 
services equipment rental revenue during the first quarter of 2018 was down by 46 percent to $31,000 from 
$57,000 during the same period in 2017.   
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Operating expenses are primarily fixed with a small variable component.  Operating expenses were $1,167,000 
during the first quarter of 2018 compared to $1,013,000 during the same period of the prior year, an increase 
of 15 percent.  Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue during the first quarter of 2018 were 74 percent 
compared with 46 percent during the same period in 2017.  

Gross margin was $374,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with $1,157,000 during the same period 
in 2017, a decrease of $783,000. The decrease was primarily due to lower small padding machine rental 
revenue during the period.  Gross margin as a percentage of revenue during the first quarter of 2018 was 24 
percent, compared with 52 percent during the same period in 2017 due to the 29 percent decrease in revenue 
during the quarter.  

Depreciation expense was $890,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared to $1,011,000 during the same 
period of the prior year. Lower depreciation for the first quarter of 2018 was primarily the result of the 
disposition of certain fixed assets including eight pipe layers during 2017.  
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expense 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended March 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Selling, general and administrative expense 958 1,065 (107) (10) 

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the first quarter of 2018 were $958,000 compared with 
$1,065,000 during the same period in 2017, a decrease of 10 percent. The decrease was primarily due to lower 
stock-based compensation costs in 2018. 

 
Other Income (Expense) 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Finance expense (36) (58) 22 (38) 

Finance and other income 67 53 14 26 

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets (53) 1 (54) (5,400) 

Foreign exchange gain (loss)- realized & unrealized 148 (129) 277 (215) 

Interest and finance charges were $36,000 during the first quarter of 2018, compared to $58,000 during the 
same period in 2017, a decrease of 38 percent due to lower levels of long-term debt.  

Other income consists primarily of interest income from investments in GIC’s. For the first quarter of the 2018, 
other income was $67,000 compared with $53,000 during the same period in 2017, an increase of 26 percent. 

The Company recorded a loss on disposal of fixed assets in the amount of $53,000 during the first quarter of 
2018 compared with a gain of $1,000 during the same period in 2017.  

The Company recorded a foreign exchange gain of $148,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with loss of 
$129,000 for the same period in 2017. The foreign exchange gain of $148,000 during first quarter of 2018 includes 
an unrealized foreign exchange gain of $88,000 and a realized foreign exchange gain of $60,000. Foreign exchange 
loss of $129,000 for the same period in 2017 includes an unrealized foreign exchange loss of $116,000 and a realized 
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foreign exchange loss of 13,000. Unrealized foreign currency gains and losses are primarily the result of translation 
of US dollar denominated payables and receivables within Canadian entities.  

Net Income, Funds Flow and Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended March 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Net income (loss) (1,348) (1,052) (296) 28 

Funds flow (1) (426) 313 (739) (236) 

Cash flow from operating activities (636) 828 (1,464) (177) 

(1) Funds flow from operations is a non GAAP measure.  See commentary in “Non-Standard and Additional GAAP Items”. 

Net loss increased to $1,348,000 for the first quarter of 2018 compared with a net loss of $1,052,000 during 
the first quarter of 2017, an increase of 28 percent. The increase in net loss was primarily due to the 29 percent 
decrease in revenue during the current year.  

Funds flow from operations was a deficit of $426,000 during the first quarter of 2018, compared with $313,000 
for the corresponding quarter in 2017. The main reason for the decrease in funds flow was the decrease in 
revenue during the first quarter of 2018. 

Cash flow from operating activities was a deficit of $636,000 in the first quarter of 2018 compared with 
$828,000 during the same period of 2017. The decrease was due to the same reasons noted above for the 
decrease in the net income and funds flow. 

Capital Expenditure 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended December 31 

 2018 2017 Change %  

Padding equipment 1,587 640 947 148 

Other  28 - 28    N/A 

Inventory 188 (227) 415 (183) 

 1,803 413 1,390 337 

Proceeds on dispositions - (3,238) 3,238 (100) 

 1,803 (2,825) 4,628 (164) 

 

Cash used for capital expenditures totaled $1,803,000 during the first quarter of 2018 compared with $413,000 
in the first quarter of 2017. The increase in capital expenditures during the first quarter of 2018 was primarily 
due to expenditures incurred to purchase four track loaders and six ALLU screening buckets.  Other capital 
expenditures included the ongoing retrofitting of large padding machines and the development and 
construction of mini-padder and micro-padder heads.  

There was no proceed on dispositions during the first quarter of 2018. During the quarter ended March 31, 
2017, the Company sold eight pipe layers and related parts for combined net proceeds of $3,238,000. 
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For the sale of spare parts, under IFRS 15 effective January 1, 2018, the Company began to account for these 
as inventory sales rather than disposals of property, plant and equipment. Consolidated statement of 
operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the comparative period of three month ended March 31, 2017 
has been revised to reflect that change. 

Standards issued but not yet adopted 
The Company intends to adopt the following Future IFRS Accounting Standard in its financial statements for 
the period beginning on January 1, 2019. 

IFRS 16 -  Leases 

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases).  IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 17 
Leases. IFRS 16 requires the recognition of lease assets and of obligations on the balance sheet. For Lessees 
almost all leases will have to be treated as financial leases although lessor will still have the two 
classifications.  The standard is effective for years starting January 1, 2019. 

The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments in its financial statements as of the 
effective dates.  The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting these standards on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.   

Changes in accounting policies 
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments  

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 using the modified retrospective approach. Comparative 
information is not restated and continues to be reported under the previous financial instrument standards 
in effect during those periods. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for:  

the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and 

the recognition and measurement of impairment for financial assets. IFRS 9 introduces a simplified hedge 
accounting model.  

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2018 using the 
modified retrospective approach on contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
At March 31, 2018, the Company’s balance sheet included working capital (current assets minus current 
liabilities) of $9,423,000 compared to $12,081,000 at December 31, 2017. 

Cash and short-term investment balances decreased to $11,178,000 at March 31, 2018 from $12,578,000 at 
December 31, 2017.  

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and business of the Company.  In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may sell assets, reduce capital expenditures or draw on 
its credit facilities. 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• to augment existing resources in order to meet growth requirements. 
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A mortgage on a property located in Phoenix, AZ and a term loan were repaid in full during the first and third 
quarters of 2017. The company refinanced a mortgage on a property located in Leduc, Alberta in October of 
2017.  

Share Capital 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares. There are 
45,000,792 issued and outstanding common shares.  

The Company granted options under its equity incentive plan to acquire 2,230,104 common shares on February 
27, 2017.  Each option is exercisable to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.50 per share. 
The options vest over a period of two years and expire on February 27, 2022, five years after the grant date.  

The Company has 1,996,274 warrants outstanding. Each warrant is exercisable to purchase one common share 
at an exercise price of $0.86. The warrants were initially due to expire on October 19, 2018; however, in January 
2018, the term of the warrants was extended to December 01, 2021.  

Changes in Contractual Obligations  
The following table reflects the Company’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to 
continuing operations as at March 31, 2018. 
CAD thousands 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Operating facility and equipment leases 123 162 43 1 - 

Loans and borrowings 1,465 276 276 276 1,474 

Trade and other payables 1,525 - - - - 

Income tax payable 134 - - - - 

Deferred revenue 67 - - - - 
Total 3,314 438 319 277 1,474 

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, other than operating 
leases. See note 11 to the financial statements for the operating leases. The company has not created and is 
not party to any special purpose or off-balance sheet entries for the purpose of raising capital, incurring debt 
or operating its business.  

Summary of Quarterly Results 
The following table shows key quarterly financial information for the Company 
CAD thousands 

2018, 2017 and 2016 Three Months Ended 

 Mar.31 Jun. 30 Sept. 30 Dec.31 Total 
2018      

Revenue 1,582     

Net Income (loss) (1,348)     

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.03)     

Funds flow from operations (426)     
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Cash flow from operations (636)     

2017      

Revenue 2,225 4,100 4,766 2,033 13,124 

Net Income (loss) (1,052) 862 1,962 (578) 1,194 

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.02) 0.02 0.04 (0.01) 0.03 

Funds flow from operations 313 1,922 2,905 409 5,549 

Cash flow from operations 828 1,020 3,779 489 6,116 

2016      
Revenue 1,507 1,401 2,951 2,242 8,101 

Net Income (loss) (1,995) (1,430) (2,377) 678 (5,124) 

Earnings (loss) per share-basic and diluted ($) (0.04) (0.03) (0.05) 0.02 (0.11) 

Funds flow from operations (560) (658) 1,134 613 529 

Cash flow from operations 540 (477) 1,589 7 1,659 
 

Revenue can be significantly affected by seasonality and the status of projects over which the Company has 
no control.  During the summer of 2016 there was an increase in demand for large machines which drove 
revenue higher partly in the second quarter but primarily in the third and fourth quarters. Subsequently, 
there was a significant increase in demand for large machines which drove revenue higher during the second 
and third quarters of 2017. Demand then declined during the fourth quarter of 2017 and remained low until 
end of the first quarter of 2018.  

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities is a result of the underlying operations of the Company plus or 
minus net changes in non-cash working capital. The cash flow during the first quarter of 2016 showed the 
same pattern as revenue but the pattern reversed in the second quarter of 2016. In the third quarter of 2016 
cash flow increased primarily because of higher padding revenue and it was again decreased in the fourth 
quarter because of lower padding revenue and reverse takeover expenses. Cash flow increased steadily 
during the first, second and third quarters of 2017 due to higher padding revenue and declined during the 
fourth quarter of 2017. Lower revenue resulted in a decrease of cash flow in the first quarter of 2018. 

Net income (loss) is determined by revenue as noted above but also by non-cash items. Various other items 
such as gains and losses on the disposal of capital assets, foreign exchange gains and losses, and provisions 
for doubtful accounts also have an impact on the reported net income (loss). During the first and second 
quarters of 2016, the company recorded net loss primarily due to lower padding revenue. In the third quarter 
of 2016, the Company recorded an impairment charge which increased the loss. In the fourth quarter of 2016 
net income increased due to reversal of the impairment which was recorded in the third quarter. Higher 
revenue resulted in a decrease of the net loss in the first quarter of 2017 and an increase the net income 
during the second and third quarters of 2017. Net income decreased due to lower padding revenue during 
the fourth quarter of 2017 and remained low until the end of the first quarter of 2018. 

 

Non-Standard and Non-GAAP Items 
We reference measures that are not recognized under International Financial Reporting Standards.  These 
measures include EBITDA and funds flow. 

EBITDA 
EBITDA, defined as earnings before finance income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, 
gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment, and unrealized foreign currency gain or loss, is not a 
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financial measure that is recognized under IFRS.  However, management believes that EBITDA is a useful 
measure as it gives an indication of the results from the Company’s principal business activities prior to 
consideration of how activities are financed, and the impact of foreign exchange, taxation and non-cash 
charges for depreciation and amortization. Investors should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not be 
construed as an alternative measure to net earnings determined in accordance with GAAP.  ESI’s method of 
calculating EBITDA may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable to 
that of other companies. The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA. 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended March 31 
 2018 2017 
Net income (loss) (1,348) (1,052) 
add (deduct):   
   Depreciation 890 1,011 
   Finance cost 36 58 
   Finance and other income (67) (53) 

Loss (gains) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 53 (1) 
Unrealized foreign currency loss (gains) (88) 116 

   Other non-cash items 67 239 
EBITDA as reported (457) 318 

 

EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2018 was ($457,000) compared to $318,000 for the same 
period in the prior year. The primary reason for the fluctuation in EBITDA during the three month period 
ended March 31, 2018 was the fluctuation in revenue of $1,582,000 compared with $2,225,000 during the 
same period in 2017. Changes in the levels of revenue are discussed in an earlier section of this MD&A. 

Funds from Operations 
Funds from operations is calculated as cash flow from operating activities, as presented in the consolidated 
statement of cash flow, prior to any increases or decreases in working capital. This is not a measure recognized 
under GAAP.   Management believes funds flow is a useful measure as it provides an indication of the funds 
generated by the Company’s principal business and eliminates the impact of seasonal fluctuations and lack of 
comparability between periods of non-cash working capital balances, which consist primarily of highly liquid 
balances.  However, this financial measure should not be construed as an alternative measure to cash flows 
from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP.  ESI’s method of calculating funds from 
operations may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable to that of 
other companies. 

The following is a reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to funds from operations. 
CAD thousands 

 Three months ended March 31 
 2018 2017 
Funds flow from (used in) operations (426) 313 
add (deduct):   
  Changes in non-cash working capital (210) 515 
Cash flow from operating activities  (636) 828 
Funds flow per share (0.01) 0.01 

The changes in funds flow reflect the changes in revenue discussed above. 

7. Market for Securities 
The Common Shares of the Corporation are currently listed for trading on the Canadian Securities 
Exchange under the trading symbol OPI. 
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8. Consolidated Capitalization 
The following table sets forth the pro forma share and loan capital of the Corporation on a 
consolidated basis, after giving effect to the issuance of 6,666,667 common shares (which may be 
initially issued as subscription receipts) at a price of $1.50 per security.  

 
Designation of Security Amount Authorized Amount after Giving Effect to the Issuance of 

Common Shares 
Long-term debt Nil Nil 
Common Shares (1) unlimited 51,667,459 

($50,457,000) 
Notes 

(1) Excludes common shares issuable upon exercise of the Corporation’s Stock Options and Warrants. See “Fully Diluted 
Share Capital" for more information on the fully diluted capital of the Corporation. 

9. Fully Diluted Share Capital 
The following table states the number and percentage of securities of the Corporation outstanding 
on a fully diluted basis after giving effect to the issuance described under "New Business Opportunity 
– Process Facility and Cobalt Supply" and assuming the exercise or conversion of all Stock Options 
and Warrants issued by the Corporation to date. 

 
 
Securities 

 
Number 

Approximate % - 
Fully Diluted 

Outstanding Common Shares issued by the Corporation Prior 
to the Issuance of the Common Shares 

45,000,792 80.5% 

Common Shares to be Issued  6,666,667 11.9% 
Total Common Shares Outstanding  51,667,459 92.4% 
Stock Options 2,230,104 4.0% 
Share Purchase Warrants 1,996,274 3.6% 
Total 55,893,837 100.0% 

10. Options to Purchase Securities 
Options 

The Corporation adopted an Equity Incentive Plan on February 27, 2017.  An aggregate of 2,230,104 
Stock Options have been granted to directors, officers and key employee of the Corporation to 
purchase Common Shares of ESI at a price of $0.50 per share.  The last trading price of ESI’s shares 
before the grant of the Options was $0.21.  The options vest over a period of two years and expire on 
February 27, 2022, five years after the grant date.   



Page 41 of 56 
 

Optionee Name Date of Grant Expiry Date Exercise Price Options Granted 
Chris Argue February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 332,712 
Robert Dunstan February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 332,712 
Yook Mah February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 266,170 
Brian Roberts February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 266,170 
Edward Rigaux February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 250,000 
Jason Stabell February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 266,170 
Matthew Walz February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 332,712 
Harold Zimmer February 27, 2017 February 27, 2022 $0.50 266,170 

 
Warrants 

The Corporation has 1,996,274 Warrants outstanding.  Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 
one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.86 per share.  The Warrants expire on December 01, 
2021.  

11. Description of Securities 
Common Shares – The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares.   

Holders of Common Shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters subject to shareholders 
vote. The Common Shares have no pre-emptive, redemption, conversion or other subscription rights.  
All of the Common Shares currently outstanding are fully paid and non-assessable. If the Corporation 
is liquidated or dissolved, holders of Common Shares will be entitled to share ratably in the assets of 
the Corporation remaining after satisfaction of liabilities.  The holders of Common Shares are entitled 
to receive dividends when and as declared by the board of directors.  No Common Share which is 
fully paid is liable to calls or assessment by the Corporation. 

There are no special shares of the Corporation issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing 
Statement and the issuance of special shares is not being contemplated by the board of directors of 
the Corporation now or in the future. 

Debt Securities – There are no debt securities outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement. 

Other Securities – Other than the Options and Warranties previously described, there are no other 
securities outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement. 

Modification of Terms – Not applicable 

Other Attributes – Not applicable 

Prior Sales – No Common Shares have been sold by ESI or any related person within the 12 months 
before the date of this Listing Agreement.  ESI has agreed to issue 6,666,667 Common Shares at a 
price of $1.50 per share.  See "New Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply". 

Stock Exchange Price – The trading range and volumes traded for ESI's common shares on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange for the past 12 months was as follows: 
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Month  High Low Volume 
July 2017 $0.24 $0.15 209,533 
August 2017 $0.27 $0.20 698,398 
September 2017 $0.35 $0.19 671,716 
October 2017 $0.34 $0.15 52,971 
November 2017 $0.37 $0.27 421,355 
December 2017 $0.45 $0.30 75,606 
January 2018 $0.40 $0.35 184,027 
February 2018 $0.37 $0.35 121,500 
March 2018 $0.50 $0.376 55,126 
April 2018 $0.41 $0.40 127,475 
May 1-18, 2018 $0.40 $0.36 20,500 

 
Trading in ESI's common shares was halted by the Canadian Securities Exchange on May 22, 2018 
when ESI announced that it had entered into an early stage Process Facility and Cobalt Supply 
Agreement with Battery Minerals Resources Limited ("BMR") for BMR's cobalt-focused mineral 
exploration claims located in Ontario.  The agreement with BMR was approved by ESI's majority 
shareholders, as required by the CSE, and trading in the common shares will resume on July 10, 
2018.  The last closing price of ESI's common shares before the trading halt was $0.36, on May 18, 
2018.   

12. Escrowed Securities 
The Corporation has no escrowed securities 

13. Principal Shareholders 
To the knowledge of the Company’s directors and senior officers, the following persons beneficially 
own directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, common shares carrying more than 
10% of all voting rights. 

Name of Shareholder 

Number of Shares Beneficially 
Owned, or over which Control 

or Direction is Exercised, 
Directly or Indirectly (1) 

Percentage of Shares Beneficially 
Owned, or over which Control or 
Direction is Exercised Directly or 

Indirectly (2) 
Yorktown Partners IV and VI 39,420,548 87.60% 

Notes: 
(1) Information as to the number of shares beneficially owned or over which control or direction is exercised is not within the knowledge of 

the Corporation and has been derived from public sources available to the Corporation. 
(2) Based on 45,000,792 issued and outstanding shares as at the Record Date. 



Page 43 of 56 
 

14. Directors and Officers 

Name of the Province 
and Country of 
Residence 

 
Officer/  

Director (3)  
 Since Principal Occupation 

Number of Shares 
Beneficially Owned, 

Controlled or Directed, 
Directly or Indirectly (4) 

Robert R. Dunstan 
Calgary, AB Canada 

November 
2001 

President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director 
of ESI since November 2001. Mr. Dunstan has a 
BA (Hon) Economics from the University of 
Manitoba, and an MBA from the Ivey School of 
Business. He is also a member of the Certified 
Professional Accountants of Alberta. He is 69 
years old. 

266,085 

Bryan H. Lawrence 1 
New York, New York 
USA 

November 
2001 

Mr. Lawrence is founder and senior manager of 
Yorktown Partners LLC, the manager of the 
Yorktown group of investment partnerships, 
which make investments in companies engaged 
in the energy industry.  The Yorktown 
partnerships were formerly affiliated with the 
investment firm of Dillon, Read & Co. Inc. where 
Mr. Lawrence had been employed since 1966, 
serving as a Managing Director until the merger 
of Dillon Read with SBC Warburg in September 
1997. 

39,477,646 

Yook L. Mah 
Victoria, BC Canada 

November 
2001 

President, Chief Executive Officer and a director 
of Resonance Petroleum Ltd. since March 2013.  
Prior to that he was President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Compass Petroleum Ltd. 
from September 2002 to 2012. 

133,085 

Brian E Roberts 2 
Vancouver, BC Canada 

August 
2014 

Independent businessman.  Formerly, Senior 
Partner with Borden Ladner Gervais LLP (Calgary) 
from 1981 to December 2014.  Mr. Roberts has 
extensive experience in all aspect of public 
company law with an emphasis on mergers and 
acquisitions, securities and capital markets 
transactions and corporate governance advice in 
the oilfield services and oil and gas exploration 
sectors. 

Nil 

Jason P. Stabell 2 
Houston, TX USA 

June 2012 Mr. Stabell is the President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Merlon International LLC, an oil and gas 
company with operations in Egypt.  Previously he 
served as Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Merlon Petroleum Company 
which was sold in 2006. 

Nil 
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Name of the Province 
and Country of 
Residence 

 
Officer/  

Director (3)  
 Since Principal Occupation 

Number of Shares 
Beneficially Owned, 

Controlled or Directed, 
Directly or Indirectly (4) 

Harold R. Zimmer 2 

Calgary, AB Canada 
August 
2015 

Independent businessman.  Mr. Zimmer has over 
40 years of business experience, predominately 
in the oil and natural gas services industry in 
Canada and internationally.  He spent 33 years as 
a senior taxation officer managing tax 
departments for a number of large Canadian 
multi-national corporations listed on the Toronto 
and New York Stock Exchanges, including ATCO 
Ltd., INTERA Information Technologies 
Corporation, Precision Drilling Corporation, 
TransAlta Corporation, Saxon Energy Services Inc. 
and Calfrac Well Services Ltd. 

171,600 

Christopher M. Argue 
Phoenix, AZ 

February 
2018 

Mr. Argue has been Chief Operating Officer for 
ESI since January 2018.  He has been with the 
Company since September 2007, working in 
variety of positions ranging from Engineer in 
Training to Chief Operating Officer.  Mr. Argue 
has BSC in Mechanical Engineers for the 
University of Manitoba and an MBA for the Ivey 
School of Business. He is 35 years old. 

Nil 

Priyanka Bambaranda 
Calgary, AB 

May 
2018 

Priyanka Bambaranda has been with the 
Company since April 2013 in the capacity of 
Controller. Ms. Bambaranda took over the 
position of Chief Financial Officer when Edward 
Rigaux resigned in May 2018 for personal 
reasons. Ms. Bambaranda has a Bachelor of 
Management Science Degree from the University 
of Sri Jayewardenepura, Sri Lanka. She is also a 
member the Society of Professional Accountants 
of Alberta. Ms. Bambaranda is 46 years old. 

Nil 

Notes: 
(1) Mr. Lawrence has direct control over 57,098 Common Shares and indirect control over 39,420,548 (87.6%) of the 

Common Shares owned by Yorktown Partners IV and VI.  After the issuance of a further 6,6666,667 cCommon Shares 
as described under "New Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply", Mr. Lawrence will have control 
over 46,087,215 (89.2%) of the Common Shares   

(2) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(3) Directors hold office until the next annual General Meeting. 
(4) Directors and officers as a group, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over 

40,048,416 (89.0%) of the Common Shares.  After the issuance of a further 6,666,667 Common Shares as described 
under "New Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply" that will increase to 42,715,083 (92.3%) of the 
Common Shares.  

Cease Trade Orders 

No director or officer, within 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, has been a director, chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that: (a) was subject to: (i) a cease trade order; (ii) 
an order similar to a cease trade order; or (iii) an order that denied the relevant company access to any 
exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days 
(collectively, an "Order") that was issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as director, 
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chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or (b) was subject to an Order that was issued after the 
proposed director ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted 
from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer 
or chief financial officer. 

Bankruptcies 

No director or officer, within 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, is or has been a director or 
executive officer of any company that, while the proposed director was acting in that capacity, or within a 
year of the proposed director ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 
or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

No director  or officer has, within 10 years before the date of this Information Circular, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager 
or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such proposed director. 

Penalties and Sanctions 

No director or officer has been subject to: (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with 
a securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding whether to vote 
for a proposed director. 

15. Capitalization 
Issued Capital 

The following table states the number and percentage of Common Shares of the Corporation 
outstanding on a non-diluted and on a fully diluted basis, the latter after giving effect to the issuance 
of 6,666,667 Common Shares as described under "New Business Opportunity – Process Facility and 
Cobalt Supply" and assuming the exercise or conversion of all Stock Options and Warrants issued by 
the Corporation to date. 

Securities Non-diluted Fully Diluted 
Public Float   
Total Outstanding Common Shares issued by the Corporation (A) 45,000,792 

100% 
55,893,847 

100% 
Held by related persons or employees of the Issuer or by persons or 
companies who beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the Issuer (or who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the 
issuer upon exercise or conversion of other securities held) (B)  

40,048,416 
89% 

50,941,146 
96% 

Freely Tradable Float   
Number of outstanding shares subject to resale or trading restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements or in a shareholder 
agreement and shares held by control block holders (C)  

39,477,646 
88% 

46,144,313 
83% 

Total Tradable Float (A-C) 5,523,146 
12% 

9,749,524 
17% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security- Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities 
1-99 securities 9 508 
100-499 securities 68 15,287 
500-999 securities 21 13,486 
1000-1999 securities 24 37,756 
2000-2999 securities 2 5,028 
3000-3999 securities 6 19,064 
4000-4999 securities 2 8,456 
5000 or more securities 23 919,214 
Total 155 1,018,799 

 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Class of Security- Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities 
1-99 securities   
100-499 securities   
500-999 securities   
1000-1999 securities   
2000-2999 securities   
3000-3999 securities   
4000-4999 securities   
5000 or more securities  5,336,484 
Total 1 5,336,484 

 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security- Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of Holders Total number of Securities 
1-99 securities 0 0 
100-499 securities 0 0 
500-999 securities 0 0 
1000-1999 securities 0 0 
2000-2999 securities 0 0 
3000-3999 securities 0 0 
4000-4999 securities 0 0 
5000 or more securities 5 40,048,416 
Total 5 40,048,416 
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Securities Convertible or Exchangeable into Common Shares 

 
 
 
Type of Security 

 
 
Number of 
Securities 

 
 
Price per 
Security 

 
Number of Convertible/ 
Exchangeable Securities 
Outstanding  

Number of Listed 
Convertible/ Exchangeable 
Securities Issuable Upon 
Conversion 

Stock Options 2,230,104 $0.50 2,230,104 2,230,104 
Warrants 1,996,274 $0.86 1,996,274 1,996,274 
Total 4,226,378  4,226,378 4,226,378 

 

Other Securities Convertible or Exchangeable into Common Shares not included in section 14.2 

There are no other securities reserved for issuance that are not listed above. 

16. Executive Compensation 
The following table sets forth all annual and long-term compensation information concerning the 
total compensation paid to the NEO's for each of the Corporation's three most recently completed 
financial years: 

Name and 
Principal 
Position Year 

Salary 
($) 

Share 
Based 

Awards 
($) (1) 

Option 
Based 

Awards 
($) (2) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Based 
Plans 
($) (3) 

Pension 
Value 
($) (4) 

 Other 
Compensa-

tion 
($) (5) 

Total 
Compensa-

tion 
($) 

Robert R. 
Dunstan 
President & 
Chief Executive 
Officer 

2017 
2016 
2015 

252,000 
252,000 
252,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

71,234 
Nil 
Nil 

100,000 
Nil 
Nil 

6,300 
6,300 
6,300 

6,711 
6,746 
6,698 

436,245 
265,046 
264,998 

Edward G. 
Rigaux (6) 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

2017 
2016 
2015 

102,000 
N/A 
N/A 

Nil 
N/A 
N/A 

53,526 
N/A 
N/A 

Nil 
N/A 
N/A 

2,550 
N/A 
N/A 

7,428 
N/A 
N/A 

165,504 
N/A 
N/A 

Christopher 
Argue (7) 
Chief Operating 
Officer 

2017 
2016 
2015 

144,000 
144,000 
144,000 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

71,234 
Nil 
Nil 

36,250 
Nil 
Nil 

3,600 
3,600 
3,600 

8,173 
7,243 
6,476 

263,257 
154,843 
154,076 

Yook Mah  
 Director 

2017 
2016 
2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

56,988 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

56,988 
Nil 
Nil 

Brian E. 
Roberts (8) 
 Director 

2017 
2016 
2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

56,988 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

20,000 
24,000 
20,000 

76,988 
24,000 
20,000 

Jason P. Stabell 
(8) (9) 
Director 

2017 
2016 
2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

56,988 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

18,000 
26,000 
25,414 

74,988 
26,000 
25,414 
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Name and 
Principal 
Position Year 

Salary 
($) 

Share 
Based 

Awards 
($) (1) 

Option 
Based 

Awards 
($) (2) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Based 
Plans 
($) (3) 

Pension 
Value 
($) (4) 

 Other 
Compensa-

tion 
($) (5) 

Total 
Compensa-

tion 
($) 

Harold R. 
Zimmer(8) 
Director 

2017 
2016 
2015 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

56,988 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

20,000 
26,000 
6,167 

56,988 
26,000 
6,167 

Notes: 
(1) "Share-Based Award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of equity-based instruments that do not have 

option-like features, including, for greater certainty, common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, 
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stock. 

(2) "Option-Based Award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options, including, for greater certainty, 
share options, share appreciation rights and similar instruments that have option-like features.  A Black-Scholes 
option pricing model, with the weighted average assumptions set out below, was used to estimate the fair value of 
ESI options on the date of the grant for inclusion as share-based compensation expense during 2017 (no ESI options 
were granted to the NEOs in 2016 or 2015).  The fair value of the share-based compensation is amortized over the 
vesting period of the options.  The Black-Scholes option pricing model was chosen because it is the most commonly 
used methodology for calculating option value.  The indicated amounts in the "Option-based awards" column of the 
summary compensation table are fair value calculations using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, and are not 
actual payments by the Corporation to the NEO. 

  2017 2016 2015 
Expected life of options 4.5 years - - 
Expected volatility (%) 100 - - 
Average risk-free interest rate (%) 0.68 - - 
Expected dividend yield (%) 0% - - 

(3) Awards under the annual incentive plan are based on the achievement of certain business objectives and re made at 
the discretion of the Board. 

(4) The Corporation has an Employee Savings Plan whereby the Company provides 100% matching of employee 
contributions to a designated Savings Plan of up to 2.5% of an employee's Base Salary.  The Savings Plan is managed 
by Great West Life Assurance Company. 

(5) Unless otherwise noted, the value of perquisites and benefits for each NEO is less than $50,000 and less than 10% of 
each NEO's total salary for the indicated financial year. 

(6) Mr. Rigaux was appointed Chief Financial Officer in January 2017. 

(7) Mr. Argue's compensation is in US dollars. 

(8) Directors’ Fees. 

(9) Mr. Stabell’s fees earned are in US dollars. 
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17. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
No current or former director or executive officer of the Corporation, and no proposed management 
nominee for election as a director, or any associate thereof, is or has been indebted to the 
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries.  

18. Risk Factors 
The risk factors described below are not the only ones facing ESI and should be carefully considered 
by readers, including investors considering a purchase of securities of ESI, along with all other 
information set forth in this document. 

ESI’s Existing Pipeline Padding Business 
Dependence on Oil and Gas 
ESI's business is dependent on the expenditures of oil and natural gas producers, pipeline Owners and 
pipeline and Renewables Contractors which are primarily driven by the current and anticipated prices of oil, 
natural gas and Green Energy.  The demand for ESI's services is primarily influenced by current and 
anticipated prices of crude oil, natural gas and Green Energy.  Weakness in oil and gas prices may cause ESI's 
customers to reduce their capital spending on both development of new energy sources as well as 
production from existing operations thereby reducing the demand for ESI's services. 

Historically, the markets for oil, natural gas and Renewables have been volatile, and they are likely to remain 
so.  Fluctuations in oil, natural gas and Renewables prices may result from relatively minor changes in the 
supply and demand for oil and natural gas, Green Energy, market uncertainty, and other factors that are 
beyond ESI's control. 

These factors make it extremely difficult to predict future oil and natural gas price movements with any 
certainty.  Declines in oil and natural gas prices could reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that ESI's 
customers can produce economically, and as a result, the demand for ESI's products and services could be 
materially diminished.  Any slowdown of this nature could significantly and adversely affect ESI's business. 

Anticipated major projects may not materialize. 

Notwithstanding forecast estimates regarding new investment and growth in the North American Mainline 
and Small Diameter Pipeline construction market, planned and anticipated projects in the oil sands and/or 
major shale gas or shale oil plays may not occur, as happened in 2015 and 2016 when producers cancelled or 
postponed a number of projects as a result of escalating costs and deteriorating crude oil and natural gas 
prices.  The underlying assumptions on which the projects are based are subject to significant uncertainties, 
and actual investments in the oil sands, shale oil and shale gas plays could be significantly less than 
estimated.  Projected investments and new projects may be and have been postponed or cancelled for any 
number of reasons, including but not limited to: 

• changes in the perception of the economic viability of these projects; 

• changes to government regulations or environmental standards; 

• elimination of government subsidies to promote the development of Green Energy; 

• shortage of skilled workers; 

• cost overruns on announced projects; 

• shortage of pipeline capacity to transport production to major markets; 
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• cancellation of proposed major mainline oil and gas pipelines, LNG plants and/or crude oil export 
terminals; 

• lack of sufficient governmental infrastructure to support growth; 

• environmental laws and regulations that may expose the Contractors and/or the Company to 
liabilities arising out of their operations or the operations of their customers; and 

• unanticipated short term shutdowns of customers' operating facilities may result in temporary 
cessation or cancellation of projects in which ESI is participating. 

ESI may not be successful in being awarded the work it pursues on major projects due to: 

competitive pressures within the market as a result of the increased capacity within the major 
facilities construction market; 

• changes in commercial terms sought by customers whereby excessive risk is being transferred to the 
constructors; 

• the customer's labour strategy may not be aligned with that which ESI offers; and 

• the construction schedule sought by the customer may not be aligned with ESI's existing 
commitments. 

ESI's market industries are highly competitive and there are relatively few barriers to entry. 

The pipeline equipment rental market is highly competitive, and there are relatively few barriers to entry for 
companies wishing to offer one or a number of the rental products that ESI provides.  ESI's competitors 
include a number of large heavy equipment manufacturing companies as well as a number of mining and 
pipeline equipment manufacturing companies that have significant financial resources. 

In the period from 2009 through 2015, significant competitive capacity was added to the market as a result of 
a downturn in demand for pipeline construction activity in North America.  With reduced current customer 
activity levels, there is now a situation of increased competitive capacity serving reduced markets for the 
products and services which ESI offers. 

ESI's ability to generate revenue and earnings will depend upon its ability to: continue offering state of the 
art Padding Machines, featuring leading edge technology, performance and safety features; enhance and 
maintain its strategic customer alliances; win bids and successfully complete awarded projects within 
estimated times and costs; as well as obtain call-out work on a regular basis.  Given the current competitive 
environment, there is no certainty that ESI will be awarded projects at the levels of revenues and profitability 
it has experienced in the past. 

ESI may not be able to attract or retain the management personnel or skilled labour necessary to remain 
competitive in its industry. 

The Company requires skilled and experienced managers and trades people to conduct its operations.  
Recruiting, training and retaining these individuals is critical to the Company's continued ability to meet 
customer requirements and generate increasing levels of revenue.  Going forward, the Company will have to 
devote significant resources and planning to the recruiting, retention and training of skilled personnel in 
order to secure the required levels of staffing and skills necessary to support anticipated levels of work.  ESI 
utilizes available manpower forecasts and aligns them with specific recruitment strategies to meet its 
manpower requirements presently and in the future. 

ESI has pursued, and will continue to pursue strategic acquisitions.  ESI's business may be affected if it cannot 
effectively complete and successfully integrate acquired operations. 
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ESI's business involves certain operating risks and its insurance may not be adequate to cover all insurable 
losses it might incur in its operations. 

ESI's operations are subject to many hazards and risks, including the following: 

• damage to facilities; 

• damage to the environment; and 

• losses arising from accidents or damage caused by ESI's employees or equipment. 

If any of these significant events occur, they could result in the suspension of ESI's operations and the 
operations of others; damage to, or destruction of ESI's equipment and the property of others; and injury or 
death to personnel. 

While ESI maintains insurance at levels that are customary in its industry to protect against these risks, ESI's 
insurance may not be adequate to cover all losses that might be incurred in its operations.  Moreover, ESI 
may be subject to the risk that it will be unable to maintain or obtain insurance of the type and limits desired 
at reasonable rates.  If ESI were to incur a significant loss for which it was not fully insured, it could adversely 
affect ESI's financial position. 

Environmental concerns – general impact on customers' operations. 

Environmental concerns and issues may result in future laws and regulations applicable to the oil and gas 
and/or pipeline industry's environmental impacts.  In particular, the development of Alberta's oil sands 
resource and its greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, water usage, air quality and tailings processing and 
reclamation may be affected by future legislation and regulation which could either limit development or 
increase the costs of development of these projects as well as related pipeline projects.  Such outcomes 
could have a negative impact on ESI's business. 

Since November 2011, in response to environmental concerns over Alberta' s oil sands as well as concerns 
expressed by environmental groups and indigenous people over the possibility of pipeline leaks, the 
TransCanada Keystone XL Pipeline project has been delayed by almost 6 years by the United Sates federal 
and state government regulators.  Similarly, the Enbridge Northern Gateway Pipeline project in western 
Canada has been delayed by Canadian federal and provincial government regulators. 

At this point however, the Company is unable to predict the impact of emissions reduction legislation on its 
customers' operations and long-term capital expenditure plans, and by extension, the impact, whether 
negative or positive, on the operations of ESI itself. 

ESI’s Proposed New Business – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement 
This is an early stage exploration project.  There is no assurance that mining operations or a processing 
facility will result. BMR will need to do substantially more exploratory drilling on its Ontario lands in order to 
determine the quantity and quality of the Cobalt ore body.  In order to complete the exploratory drilling 
program, BMR will first have raise financing.  Assuming that BMR is successful at raising the requisite 
financing, ESI will not be able to make a determination on the financing and construction of a processing 
facility for at least 12 months from the end of July 2018.  

19. Promotors 
No person is a promoter of ESI within the meaning of applicable securities laws.   
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20. Legal Proceedings 
The Company is a not party to, nor is any of the Company's property the subject of any legal 
proceedings, nor, to the best of the Company's knowledge, are any such legal proceedings 
contemplated. 

21. Interest of Management and Others 
Except for the private placement of 6,666,667 Common Shares as described under item 5 "New 
Business Opportunity – Process Facility and Cobalt Supply",  no insider, director or executive officer 
of the Company and no associate of any director, executive officer, or insider has any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the date of this 
prospectus that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company.  

22. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
ESI's auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Suite 3100, 115 5th Ave SW, Calgary, AB, T2P 5L3. 

The transfer agent and registrar for ESI's common shares is Alliance Trust Company at 1010, 407 2nd 
Street, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 2Y3.  

23. Material Contracts 
The following are the only material contracts, other than those contracts entered into in the ordinary 
course of business, which ESI has entered into within the two years before the date of this Listing 
Agreement: 

• Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement dated May 17, 2018 between Battery Minerals 
Resources Ltd, an Australian corporation, and Battery Minerals Resources Ltd, a British Columbia 
corporation and ESI Energy Services Inc.   

• Arrangement Agreement dated September 29, 2016 for the transaction described under 
"Corporate Structure – Incorporation and Amendments".   

Copies of the foregoing material contracts were filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 
authorities and are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

24. Interests of Experts 
No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a report, valuation, 
statement or opinion made by such person or company and who is named in this Listing Statement 
as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement, or a report, valuation, statement or 
opinion described in this Listing Statement, has received or shall receive a direct or indirect interest 
in any securities or other property of the Company or any associate or affiliate of the Company. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has confirmed that it is independent of ESI within the meaning of the 
Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Alberta. 

25. Other Material Facts  
There are no other Material Facts about the Company which are not included in this Listing 
Statement. 
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26. Financial Statements 

26.1. Annual Audited Financial Statements 

Copies of the Corporation’s Annual Consolidated Financial Statements as at and for December 
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are attached to this Listing Statement.  

26.2. Unaudited Financial Statements 

Copies of the Corporation’s Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as at and 
for the three months ended March 31, 2018 are attached to this Listing Statement 

 

  



Page 54 of 56 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 
ESI Energy Services Inc. hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Exchange.  The 
foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to ESI Energy Services Inc. 
It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required 
to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of 
the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Calgary, AB 

 

July 9, 2018 

 

 

(signed) Robert R. Dunstan  (signed) Priyanka Bambaranda 
Chief Executive Officer 
Robert R. Dunstan 

 Chief Financial Officer 
Priyanka Bambaranda 

   

(signed) Harold R. Zimmer  (signed) Yook Mah 
Director 
Harold R. Zimmer 

 Yook Mah 
Director 
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APPENDIX A: Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement 
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PROCESS FACILITY AND COBALT SUPPLY AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 17th day of May, 2018. 

BETWEEN: 

BATTERY MINERALS RESOURCES LIMITED, a corporation incorporated under 
the laws of Australia 

("BMR Australia") 

AND: 

BATTERY MINERALS RESOURCES LIMITED, a corporation incorporated under 
the laws of British Columbia  

("BMR BC") 

AND: 

ESI ENERGY SERVICES INC., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Alberta 

("ESI") 

INTRODUCTION 

A. ESI has agreed to finance and build the proposed Process Facility. 

B. BMR Australia and BMR BC, respectively, hold interests in the Mineral Property. 

C. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, ESI has agreed to grant to BMR Australia 
and BMR BC, a right to acquire up to a 75% undivided interest in the Assets and BMR has 
agreed to deliver BMR Ore to ESI.   

D. For purposes of this Agreement references to BMR shall mean both BMR Australia and BMR BC 
unless otherwise explicitly indicated. 

IN CONSIDERATION OF, among other things, the mutual promises contained in this Agreement, the 
Parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 Definitions 

Unless the context otherwise expressly requires, in this Agreement: 

(1) "Additional Interest" has the meaning given in section 4.1(b); 
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(2) "Additional Interest Condition" has the meaning given in section 12.1; 

(3) "Advance Payment" has the meaning given in section 6.5(2); 

(4) "Affiliate" means any person which directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is 
under common Control with, a person; 

(5) "Agreement" or "this Agreement" means this document including any schedule or 
appendix to it; 

(6) "Allowable Deductions" means all of ESI's Operating Costs properly incurred directly 
by ESI or on its behalf solely for operating the Process Facility for the production and 
sale of Product and for meeting ESI's other obligations under this Agreement, but shall 
not include any general corporate and administrative expenses, of ESI including but not 
limited to: 

(i) accounting and legal costs not directly related to the Process Facility; 

(ii) bank charges and interest; 

(iii) charitable donations; 

(iv) external financial reporting costs; 

(v) general corporate personnel costs;  

(vi) salaries and other costs for executive officers and directors;  

(vii) investor relations costs; and 

(viii) general corporate costs related to technology, corporate consulting, and 
regulatory costs. 

(7) "Anti-Corruption Law" has the meaning given in section 20.18; 

(8) "Applicable Laws" means all applicable laws, rules, regulations, by-laws, codes, orders-
in-council, policies, guidelines, notices, directives or other governmental provisions 
having the force of laws, however designated, including all applicable common laws or 
laws of equity, whether federal, provincial, regional or local, and whether legislative, 
judicial or administrative in origin applicable at any time to the Parties, Process Facility, 
Facility Operations, the Mineral Property and the Mining Operations; 

(9) "Assets" means: 

(a) the Process Facility; 

(b) the rights to delivery of BMR Ore pursuant to this Agreement; 

(c) the Lease; and 

(d) any other assets purchased or acquired for or in connection with the operation of 
the Process Facility by ESI or its Affiliates using Initial Capital; 
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(10) "BMR Allowable Expenses" means all Operating Costs and ongoing Capital 
Expenditures properly incurred for Non-Prefeasibility Work directly by BMR, or on its 
behalf, solely for the conduct of Mining Operations and for purposes of meeting BMR's 
other obligations under this Agreement, but shall not include: 

(a) Exploration and Development Costs incurred for Prefeasibility Work; 

(b) any expenditures, costs or expenses directly related to any improvements or 
operations on or under the Mineral Property for the purpose of supplying BMR 
Ore to any third party or to any processing facilities other than the Process 
Facility;  

(c) any general corporate and administrative expenses of BMR including but not 
limited to    any general corporate expenses and personnel costs of BMR 
unrelated to the Mining Operations including but not limited to: 

(i) accounting and legal costs not directly related to the Mining Operations; 

(ii) bank charges and interest; 

(iii) charitable donations; 

(iv) external financial reporting costs; 

(v) general corporate personnel costs;  

(vi) salaries and other costs for executive officers and directors;  

(vii) investor relations costs; and 

(viii) general corporate costs related to technology, corporate consulting, and 
regulatory costs, and 

(d) Capital Expenditures made by ESI for the benefit of the Mineral Property prior to 
Commercial Production, which will be included as Initial Capital; 

(11) "BMR Board" means the Board of Directors of BMR Australia; 

(12) "BMR Objection Period" has the meaning given in section 7.4(1); 

(13) "BMR Ore" means the Minerals in which BMR has a right, title or interest, extracted by 
BMR or on BMR's behalf, from the Mineral Property; 

(14) "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a public or statutory 
holiday in the place where an act is to be performed or a payment is to be made; 

(15) "Capital Expenditures" means all costs and expenditures not included, in accordance 
with international financial reporting standards applicable in Canada (hereinafter 
"IFRS"), in Operating Costs made in connection with the Process Facility or the Mineral 
Property in respect of which depreciation or amortization is ordinarily taken or allowed 
for pursuant to IFRS; 
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(16) "Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(a) the acquisition by any person, or any persons acting jointly or in concert, whether 
directly or indirectly, of voting securities of the corporation which, together with 
all other voting securities of the corporation held by such persons, constitutes, in 
the aggregate, more than 50% of all outstanding voting securities of the 
corporation; 

(b) an amalgamation, arrangement or other form of business combination of the 
corporation with another corporation which results in the holders of voting 
securities of that other corporation holding, in the aggregate, more than 50% of 
all outstanding voting securities of the corporation resulting from the business 
combination; or 

(c) a sale, disposition, lease or exchange to or with another person or persons (other 
than an Affiliate) of property of the corporation representing 50% or more of the 
net book value of the assets of the corporation, determined as of the date of the 
most recently published audited annual or unaudited quarterly interim financial 
statements of the corporation; 

(17) "Claim" means any claim, action, damage, loss (including loss arising from a withheld or 
abated payment under this Agreement), liability, cost, charge, expense, outgoing, 
payment or demand of any nature and whether present or future, fixed or unascertained, 
actual or contingent and whether at law, in equity, under statute, contract or otherwise; 

(18) "Commercial Production" means the time when the Process Facility has operated to 
process Minerals over 30 consecutive days, at an average of 75% of design capacity as 
most recently approved by the Technical Committee;  

(19) "Confidential Information" has the meaning given in section 16.1(1); 

(20) "Construction Recommendation" has the meaning given in section 11.3(1)(c); 

(21) "Control" means, in relation to any person, possession, directly or indirectly, of the 
power to direct or cause direction of management and policies of that person through 
ownership of voting securities, contract, voting trust or otherwise; 

(22) "Defaulting Party" has the meaning given in section 17.1(1); 

(23) "Dispute" has the meaning given in section 18.1(1); 

(24) "Dispute Notice" has the meaning given in section 18.1(2); 

(25) "Earned Interest" means an undivided right, title and ownership interest in the Assets; 

(26) "Effective Date" means the date of this Agreement; 

(27) "Encumbrance" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, hypothecation, security interest, 
assignment, lien (statutory or otherwise), charge, title retention agreement or 
arrangement, option, licence or licence fee, royalty, production payment, restrictive 
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covenant or other encumbrance of any nature or any agreement to give or create any of 
the foregoing; 

(28) "ESI Board" means the Board of Directors of ESI; 

(29) "ESI Objection Period" has the meaning given in section 6.6(1); 

(30) "Exploration and Development Costs" means the cumulative total of all deemed or 
actual costs, expenditures, liabilities, obligations and charges incurred by BMR in 
connection with exploration work and development work performed on the Mineral 
Property; 

(31) "Exploration Data" means any map, 3D representation, drill core, sample, assay, drill 
logs, geological, geophysical, geochemical or other technical report and any study, 
design, plan and financial or other record (whether in tangible or electronic form) related 
to the Mineral Property or Mining Operations in the possession or under the control of a 
Party or its Affiliates; 

(32) "FEED" means front-end engineering and design; 

(33) "Facility Operations" means every kind of work done, or activity performed by ESI on 
or in respect of the Process Facility including construction, operations, permitting, and 
engineering; 

(34) "Force Majeure" means, other than as a consequence of the negligence or default of a 
Party, an event or cause which is beyond the control of the Party claiming force majeure, 
not able to be overcome by the exercise of reasonable care, proper precautions and the 
consideration of reasonable alternatives with the intention of avoiding the effects of the 
force majeure by that Party, and which could not have been reasonably foreseen, and 
includes (subject to satisfying the requirements of the foregoing): 

(a) an act of God (other than adverse weather); 

(b) earthquakes, cyclones, fire, flood, blizzards, whiteouts; 

(c) acts of war, acts of public enemies, terrorist acts, riots or civil commotions; 

(d) shortages of labour or strikes, interference of trade unions, lockout, secondary 
boycott, other labour difficulties (without regard to whether such difficulties can 
be resolved by acceding to the demands of the union); 

(e) break down or destruction of machinery, plant or equipment, delays in 
transportation, shortages or inability to obtain contractors, machinery, plant or 
equipment, fuel, transportation or power; 

(f) laws, rules and regulations, orders or policies of any Governmental Authority 
that cause Operations to materially cease or that would effectively prohibit the 
development of a mine on the Property; 

(g) actions taken by or on behalf of First Nations or other indigenous persons 
pursuant to the assertion of land claims or other rights; 
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(h) injunctions, civil disobedience, protests, demonstrations or other events by 
environmental lobbyists, non-governmental organizations, local community 
groups or any other parties claiming an interest that cause Mining Operations to 
materially cease, 

but does not include economic hardship, or for lack of money, credit or markets or 
inability to pay any sum of money; 

(35) "Four Nominees" has the meaning given in section 11.2; 

(36) "Governmental Authority" means any federal, provincial, state, territorial, regional, 
municipal or local government or authority, quasi government authority, fiscal or judicial 
body, government or self-regulatory organization, commission, board, tribunal, 
organization, or any regulatory, administrative or other agency, or any political or other 
subdivision, department, or branch of any of the foregoing having jurisdiction or 
authority over the Parties or the subject matter of this Agreement; 

(37) "Indemnified Parties" has the meaning given in section 8.2(2); 

(38) "Independent Member" has the meaning given in section 11.2; 

(39) "Initial Capital" means all Capital Expenditures made by ESI in connection with: 

(a) the design, procurement, construction and commissioning of the Process Facility; 

(b) the Mineral Property prior to attainment of Commercial Production; and 

(c) any improvements or modifications to either of the Process Facility, or the 
Mineral Property following the attainment of Commercial Production provided 
that such improvements or modifications were approved by the Technical 
Committee; 

For greater certainty, Initial Capital shall not include the payment made pursuant to 
section 3.1. 

(40) "Initial Interest" has the meaning given in section 4.1(a); 

(41) "Initial Interest Condition" has the meaning given in section 8.1; 

(42) "Insolvency Event" means, in respect of a Party, the happening of any of the events 
described in section 17.1(2); 

(43) "Insolvent Party" has the meaning given in section 17.1(2); 

(44) "Interest" has the meaning given in section 14.5(1)(a); 

(45) "Joint Venture" means that commercial relationship between ESI and BMR or BMR's 
designated Affiliate which may be established pursuant to section 13.1; 

(46) "Joint Venture Agreement" means a joint venture agreement entered into between ESI 
and BMR or BMR's designated Affiliate pursuant to section 13.2; 
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(47) "Joint Venture Company" has the meaning given in section 13.3(1); 

(48) "Lease" means the lease, sublease or other similar agreement entered into between BMR, 
ESI and any other third party, as necessary, with respect to the property on which the 
Process Facility will be located; 

(49) "McAra Property" means the Mining Rights listed in the attached Schedule 1 under the 
heading McAra Group; 

(50) "Mineral Property" means BMR's rights, title and interests in the Mineral Rights and 
Other Rights listed in Schedule 1, together with any present or future renewal, extension, 
modification, substitution, amalgamation or variation of any of BMR's rights, title and 
interest in those Mineral Rights or Other Rights that derive directly from those Mineral 
Rights or Other Rights (whether granting or conferring the same, similar or any greater 
rights and whether extending over the same or a greater or lesser domain) and shall 
include all rights, title and interests of BMR or any of its Affiliates, in Mineral Rights and 
Other Rights in the Province of Ontario as of the Effective Date, including rights, title 
and interests in and to the McAra Property, and will further include any and all Mineral 
Rights subsequently acquired by BMR, or any of its Affiliates, in the Province of Ontario 
during the term of this Agreement; 

(51) "Mineral Rights" means: 

(a) any permit, claim, licence, lease, concession, tenement, mineral disposition, 
mineral lease or other form of title or tenure; and 

(b) any other right (including the right of entry to or the right to work upon lands), 

whether contractual, statutory or otherwise which: 

(c) is granted, conferred or recognized under Applicable Laws in the Province of 
Ontario; and 

(d) which, among other things, allows or permits a person to explore for, mine, 
extract, sell or otherwise dispose of, minerals; 

(52) "Minerals" means all unconsolidated materials, stone, ores, solutions and concentrates or 
metals derived from them, containing precious, base or industrial minerals (including 
gems and uranium) which are found in, on or under the Mineral Property and may 
lawfully be explored for, mined and sold under the Mineral Rights and other instruments 
of title under which the Mineral Property is held; 

(53) "Minimum Quality Standard" has the meaning given to it in section 6.1(6);  

(54) "Mining Operations" means every kind of work done, or activity performed by BMR on 
or in respect of the Mineral Property other than Prefeasibility Work to explore for and 
produce Minerals to fulfil its obligations under this Agreement including investigating, 
prospecting, exploring, analyzing, property maintenance, sampling, assaying, preparation 
of reports, estimates and studies (including feasibility studies), filing assessment work, 
surveying, rehabilitation, reclamation and environmental protection, and any 
management and administration necessary to conduct the foregoing work or activities, 
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provided a that any Capital Expenditures made by ESI for the benefit of the Mineral 
Property prior to Commercial Production will be included in Initial Capital;  

(55) "NI 43-101" means National Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral 
Projects; 

(56) "Non-Prefeasibility Work" means all work completed in connection with the Mineral 
Property other than Prefeasibility Work; 

(57) "Notice" or "notice" has the meaning given in section 19.1(1); 

(58) "Offer" has the meaning given in section 14.5(1); 

(59) "Operating Costs" for any period means the cumulative total of all costs, expenses, 
liabilities, obligations and charges incurred respectively by ESI in relation to Facility 
Operations and by BMR in relation to the Mining Operations, including, without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing: 

(a) all costs attributable to the mining, milling, concentrating, production, smelting, 
refining, treating, processing, transportation, marketing, handling and delivering 
of BMR Ore delivered under this Agreement; 

(b) all costs of repairing, maintaining, replacing, expanding or modifying buildings, 
plants, equipment and facilities relating to producing operations; 

(c) all taxes (excluding income taxes), rates, assessments, fees and duties (whether 
federal, provincial or municipal) levied or imposed upon the Facility Operations 
and Mining Operations and or payable on or in respect of or measured by the 
Products produced therein, including all government royalties, mining duties or 
mining taxes (even though based on profits payable on or in respect of or 
measured by the Products of the Mineral Property) payable to any government 
authority; 

(d) third party royalties; 

(e) all costs for management and supervision at the Facility Operations and Mining 
Operations and all costs of labour, including salaries, wages and benefits of 
whatsoever nature and the cost of technical personnel such as engineers, 
geologists and others who are employed or retained in connection with the 
Facility Operations and Mining Operations, whether located on site or elsewhere; 

(f) the cost of any Subcontractor retained in relation to Facility Operations and 
Mining Operations; 

(g) the cost of all equipment and facilities, including housing, for the use and welfare 
of employees for Facility Operations and Mining Operations; 

(h) travelling expenses of all persons engaged in work with respect to and for the 
benefit of the Facility Operations and Mining Operations, including for their 
food, lodging and other reasonable needs; 
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(i) all sums payable for hospital and medical attention, accident benefits and other 
sums payable on account of death or injury to employees, and all sums payable 
as compensation for damages arising in any manner out of the Facility 
Operations and Mining Operations; 

(j) all costs of consulting, legal, accounting and other professional fees directly 
relating to the Facility Operations and Mining Operations; 

(k) all costs for pollution control, reclamation, environmental remediation and 
rehabilitation or any other similar costs incurred or to be incurred as a result of 
any governmental regulations or requirements related to the Facility Operations 
and Mining Operations; 

(l) all costs of insurance placed or carried upon the Facility Operations and Mining 
Operations or any part thereof or the Product produced therefrom or in 
compliance with requirements of compensation laws or for any other purpose; 

(m) all costs incurred or to be incurred relating to the termination of the Facility 
Operations and Mining Operations; 

(n) an amount to be established by estimating the cost of rehabilitation which will 
have to be spent after producing operations at the Process Facility and the Mining 
Property have terminated and charging a portion of the cost quarterly over a 
period of time commencing no sooner than five years prior to the estimated 
termination of producing operations at the Process Facility and Mining Property; 

(o) all costs and expenses directly and indirectly incurred by the Parties in marketing 
Product or incurred at the site in processing any BMR Ore to the state of its most 
advanced stage of handling or beneficiation, including assaying, representation 
charges, umpire fees, agency and sales fees and commissions; and 

(p) reserves for contingencies (not included in item (l) hereof) that are confirmed by 
the auditors of the Parties to be reasonable. 

For greater certainty, Operating Costs shall not include any charges or costs representing 
depreciation or amortization or depletion of assets and will not include interest costs to 
the extent such costs are incurred. 

(60) "Other Rights" means any interest in real property, whether freehold, leasehold, license, 
right of way, easement, any other surface or other right in relation to real property, and 
any right, licence or permit in relation to the use or diversion of water, but excluding any 
Mineral Rights; 

(61) "Parties" means BMR and ESI and "Party" means BMR or ESI, as the context dictates; 

(62) "Permitted Encumbrances" means any one or more of the following: 

(a) Encumbrances for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or levies not at the 
time due or delinquent or the validity of which are being contested in good faith 
by appropriate proceedings and as to which reserves are being maintained in 
accordance with IFRS; 
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(b) the Encumbrance of any judgment or award rendered or the Encumbrance of any 
claim filed which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and 
as to which reserves are being maintained in accordance with IFRS; 

(c) Encumbrances and charges incidental to construction or current operations 
(including, without limitation, carrier's, warehousemen's, mechanics', 
materialmen's and repairmen's Encumbrances) which have not at such time been 
filed pursuant to law or which relate to obligations not due or delinquent or the 
validity of which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings 
and as to which reserves are being maintained in accordance with IFRS; 

(d) restrictions, easements, rights of way, servitudes or other similar rights in land 
(including, without limitation, rights of way and servitudes for railways, sewers, 
drains, pipe lines, gas and water mains, electric light and power and telephone or 
telegraph or cable television conduits, poles, wires and cables) granted to or 
reserved by other persons which in the aggregate do not materially impair the 
usefulness, in the operation of the business of any subject entity, of the property 
subject to such restrictions, easements, rights of way, servitudes or other similar 
rights in land granted to or reserved by other persons; 

(e) the right reserved to or vested in any Governmental Authority by the terms of any 
lease, licence, franchise, grant or permit acquired by any subject entity or by any 
statutory provision, to terminate any such lease, licence, franchise, grant or 
permit, or to require annual or other payments as a condition to the continuance 
thereof; 

(f) any Encumbrance resulting from the deposit of cash or securities (i) in 
connection with bids, leases, performance bonds, contracts, tenders or 
expropriation proceedings, or (ii) to secure workers' compensation, surety or 
appeal bonds, letters of credit, costs of litigation when required by law and public 
and statutory obligations, or (iii) in connection with the discharge of 
Encumbrances or claims incidental to construction and mechanics', 
warehouseman's, carriers' and other similar liens or construction and mechanics' 
and other similar Encumbrances arising in the ordinary course of business; 

(g) security given to a public utility or other Governmental Authority when required 
by such utility or other Governmental Authority in connection with the 
operations of any subject entity, all in the ordinary course of business; 

(h) the restrictions, exceptions, reservations, limitations, provisos and conditions, if 
any, expressed in any original patents or grants from the Crown or other 
Governmental Authority, and any statutory and common law limitations, 
exceptions, reservations and qualifications; 

(i) title defects or irregularities which are of a minor nature and in the aggregate will 
not materially impair the use of the property for the purpose for which it is held; 

(j) applicable municipal and other Governmental Authority restrictions affecting the 
use of land or the nature of any structures which may be erected thereon, 
provided such restrictions have been complied with and will not materially 
impair the use of the property for the purpose for which it is held;  
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(k) the extension, renewal or refinancing of any Permitted Encumbrance, provided 
that the amount so secured does not exceed the original amount secured 
immediately prior to such extension, renewal or refinancing and the 
Encumbrance is not extended to any additional property; and 

(l) any other Encumbrances set out in the agreements, instruments, deeds and other 
documents related to BMR's rights, title and interests in and to the Mineral 
Property; and 

(m) any other Encumbrance incurred by a subject entity approved by the Technical 
Committee. 

(63) "Personnel" means: 

(a) in relation to a Party, any of its or its Affiliates' directors, officers, employees, 
agents, consultants, invitees, Subcontractors (including Subcontractors' 
Personnel) and representatives involved either directly or indirectly in the 
performance of the Party's obligations under this Agreement; and 

(b) in relation to a Subcontractor, any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, 
consultants, invitees, subcontractors or representatives involved either directly or 
indirectly in the performance of a Party's obligations under this Agreement; 

(64) "Prefeasibility Work" means all work required to complete and prepare an initial 
preliminary economic assessment on the Mineral Property as defined in NI 43-101; 

(65) "Process Facility" means the workings established and the property acquired, including 
any plant and concentrator installation, processing facility, supporting infrastructure, 
mining plant and equipment, building, tools, camp facilities, stores, consumables, 
supplies, housing, and other facilities required to process BMR Ore into saleable Product;  

(66) "Product" means cobalt metal (whether in the form of concentrates or other saleable 
products processed at the Process Facility); 

(67) "Project" has the meaning given to such term in section 5.1(1); 

(68) "Proposed Purchaser", as the context requires, means: 

(a) the independent third party referred to in section 14.5(1)(a); or 

(b) the person referred to in section 14.5(1)(b); 

(69) "Public Disclosure" has the meaning given in section 16.2; 

(70) "Quarter" means a calendar Quarter; 

(71) "Recipient" has the meaning given to it in section 6.7(1);   

(72) "Required Delivery Amount" has the meaning given to it in section 6.1(1)(b);   

(73) "Return of Capital" means cumulative Revenues minus cumulative Allowable 
Deductions and minus cumulative BMR Allowable Expenses reimbursed by ESI; 
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(74) "Revenue" means the gross proceeds received by ESI on a sale of Product;  

(75) "Rules" has the meaning given in section 18.3(2)(a); 

(76) "Subcontractor" means any person engaged by a Party to perform any part of that 
Party's obligations under this Agreement and includes a supplier of that Party; 

(77) "Supplier" has the meaning given to it in section 6.7(1);  

(78) "Technical Committee" has the meaning given to it in section 11.1; and 

(79) "Tonne" means a metric ton, namely 1,000 kilograms. 

1.2 Interpretation 

Unless the context otherwise expressly requires, in this Agreement: 

(1) the singular includes the plural and conversely and a gender includes all genders; 

(2) if a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding 
meaning; 

(3) a reference to a person (including a Party) includes an individual, company, other body 
corporate, association, partnership, firm, joint venture, trust or Governmental Authority; 

(4) a reference to a section, schedule or annexure is a reference to a section of or a schedule 
or annexure to this Agreement; 

(5) a reference to any Party includes that Party's executors, administrators, substitutes 
(including, but not limited to, persons taking by novation), successors and permitted 
assigns; 

(6) a reference to an agreement or document (including a reference to this Agreement) is to 
the agreement or document as amended, varied, supplemented, novated or replaced 
except to the extent prohibited by this Agreement or that other agreement or document; 

(7) a reference to legislation or to a provision of legislation includes a modification or re-
enactment of it, a legislative provision substituted for it and a regulation, code, by-law, 
ordinance or statutory instrument issued under it; 

(8) a reference to writing includes a facsimile or electronic mail transmission and any means 
of reproducing words in a tangible and permanently visible form; 

(9) a reference to "$" or "CAD" is to currency of Canada; 

(10) the word "including" means "including without limitation" and "include" and, "includes" 
will be construed similarly; 

(11) headings and any table of contents or index are for convenience only and do not form part 
of this Agreement or affect its interpretation; 
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(12) a provision of this Agreement must not be construed to the disadvantage of a Party 
merely because that Party was responsible for the preparation of this Agreement or the 
inclusion of the provision in this Agreement; 

(13) if an act is prescribed to be done on a specified day which is not a Business Day, it must 
be done instead on the next Business Day; 

(14) where the phrase "to the best of the knowledge of" or similar expressions are used, it is a 
requirement that the person in respect of whom the phrase is used must have made the 
enquiries that are reasonably necessary to enable that person to make the statement or 
disclosure; and 

(15) a reference to a thing (including a right, obligation or concept) includes a part of that 
thing but nothing in this section implies that performance of part of an obligation 
constitutes performance of the obligation. 

1.3 Schedules 

The following schedules are attached to and incorporated in this Agreement: 

(1) Schedule 1 - Mineral Property Description; 

(2) Schedule 2 - Disclosure; and 

(3) Schedule 3 - Joint Venture Terms. 

2. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

2.1 Mutual Representations and Warranties 

(1) Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that, except as set out in Schedule 
2: 

(a) it is duly formed in its place of organization; 

(b) it has full legal capacity and power: 

(i) to own its property and assets and to carry on its business as currently 
carried on; and 

(ii) to enter into this Agreement and to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement subject to compliance with applicable securities laws and 
regulatory requirements;  

(c) it has taken all corporate action that is necessary to authorize its entry into this 
Agreement and to perform its obligations under this Agreement;  

(d) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of it enforceable 
in accordance with its terms by appropriate legal remedy subject to laws 
generally affecting creditors' rights and to principles of equity; 
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(e) the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement does not or will 
not (with or without the lapse of time, the giving of notice or both) contravene, 
conflict with or result in a breach of or default under: 

(i) its constitution or other constating documents;  

(ii) any material term or provision of any security arrangement, undertaking, 
agreement or deed; or  

(iii) any writ, order or injunction, judgment, law, rule or regulation to which 
it is a party or is subject or by which it or any of its property is bound; 

(f) no litigation, arbitration, mediation, conciliation or administrative proceedings 
are taking place, pending or, to the best of its knowledge, threatened against it 
which if adversely decided could, in the reasonable opinion of the Party's 
management, have a material adverse effect on the Party's business, assets or 
financial condition such as to materially impair its ability to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement other than, with respect to BMR, 
[REDACTED: Summary of threatened legal action.]; 

(g) no liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, receiver or receiver and manager or other 
external administrator is currently appointed in relation to it or any of its 
property; 

(h) to the best of its knowledge after making due enquiry, there are no facts, matters 
or circumstances which give any person the right to appoint or to apply to 
appoint (as the case may be) a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, receiver or 
receiver and manager or other external administrator to it or any of its property; 
and 

(i) it is unaware of any material facts or circumstances that have not been disclosed 
in this Agreement, which should be disclosed to the other Party in order to 
prevent the representations and warranties in this section 2.1(1) from being 
materially misleading. 

(2) The representations and warranties given in and under section 2.1(1) will be treated as 
made and be binding upon each Party continuously during the term of this Agreement 
and each Party must immediately notify the other Party if any of its representations and 
warranties set out in section 2.1(1) are not true and correct in any material respect at any 
time during the term of this Agreement. 

2.2 ESI's Representations and Warranties 

(1) ESI represents and warrants to BMR that, except as set out in Schedule 2:   

(a) no authorization, approval, order, license, permit or consent of any Governmental 
Authority, stock exchange or other third person, and no registration, declaration 
or filing by ESI with any such Governmental Authority is required in order for 
ESI: 

(i) to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 
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(ii) to execute and deliver all of the documents and instruments to be 
delivered by ESI under this Agreement; 

(iii) to duly perform and observe the terms and provisions of this Agreement; 
and 

(iv) to render this Agreement legal, valid, binding and enforceable. 

2.3 BMR's Representations and Warranties 

(1) BMR represents and warrants to ESI that, except as set out in Schedule 2:  

(a) no authorization, approval, order, license, permit or consent of any Governmental 
Authority, stock exchange or other third person, and no registration, declaration 
or filing by BMR with any such Governmental Authority is required in order for 
BMR: 

(i) to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; 

(ii) to execute and deliver all of the documents and instruments to be 
delivered by BMR under this Agreement; 

(iii) to duly perform and observe the terms and provisions of this Agreement; 
and 

(iv) to render this Agreement legal, valid, binding and enforceable; 

(b) BMR has rights, title and interests in the Mineral Property set out in Schedule 1 
that include ownership, earn-ins, options and joint venture arrangements and such 
rights, title and interests of BMR in the Mineral Property are free from 
Encumbrances (other than the Permitted Encumbrances); 

(c) BMR is the majority owner or operator of all of the current material Mineral 
Properties; 

(d) other than as contemplated in Schedule 1, BMR has no commitment to supply 
BMR Ore to any third party; 

(e) all of the Mineral Rights comprising the Mineral Property have been validly and 
properly located, staked, tagged and recorded in accordance with the laws of the 
jurisdiction in which Mineral Property is located and there are no disputes, 
threatened or now existing of which BMR is aware, as to title to or the staking or 
recording of those Mineral Rights except for any defects or matters that would 
not give rise to a material adverse effect on BMR's business, assets or financial 
condition; 

(f) BMR has obtained or acquired all rights or powers necessary in, over or to the 
surface area of the Mineral Property to access the Mineral Property in order to 
conduct operations as currently being conducted; 
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(g) all work or expenditure obligations applicable to the Mineral Property, all reports 
of the work or expenditure and other requirements to be satisfied or filed to keep 
the Mineral Property in good standing which were to have been satisfied by the 
Effective Date have been satisfied or filed to the satisfaction of the applicable 
Governmental Authority in all material respects; 

(h) all rentals, taxes, assessments, renewal fees and other governmental charges 
applicable to, or imposed on, the Mineral Property which were due to be paid on 
or before the Effective Date have been paid in full in all material respects; 

(i) BMR and its Personnel have conducted all activities on or in respect of the 
Mineral Property in material compliance and the Mineral Property itself complies 
materially with all applicable statutes, regulations, by-laws, laws, orders and 
judgments, and all directives, rules, consents, permits, orders, guidelines, 
approvals and policies of any applicable Governmental Authority; and 

(j) to the best of BMR's knowledge, there are no actual, alleged, potential or future 
adverse claims, challenges, suits, actions, prosecutions, investigations or 
proceedings against or to, the ownership of, or title to, the Mineral Property or of 
any challenge to BMR's right, title or interest in the Mineral Property nor to the 
best of its knowledge is there any basis for any of the foregoing, that would give 
rise to a material adverse effect on BMR's business, assets or financial condition 
or on BMR's ability to meet its supply obligations under this Agreement. 

2.4 Indemnity 

(1) Each Party indemnifies and must keep indemnified the other Party from and against any 
Claim which that other Party suffers, sustains or incurs arising out of or in connection 
with the: 

(a) breach of any representation or warranty given or made by a Party under this 
Agreement; or 

(b) breach of, or failure by, a Party or its Personnel to perform any covenant or 
obligation of that Party under this Agreement including the obligation to perform 
all operations in accordance with Applicable Laws. 

(2) It is not necessary for a Party to incur expense or make payment before enforcing a right 
of indemnity conferred by this Agreement. 

2.5 [REDACTED: section title]  

[REDACTED: Description of certain confidential due diligence material provided by BMR.]   

2.6 Joint and Several 

For greater certainty, BMR Australia and BMR BC shall be jointly and severally liable for all 
obligations they have under this Agreement. 

3. NON-REFUNDABLE PAYMENT 



 
WSLEGAL\000001\00012\19776160v1   

Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement 

307432.00017/98819615.15 Page 21 of 68 
 

3.1 Payment to BMR 

As soon as is reasonably possible following execution of this Agreement, but in no event later 
than 60 days following the date of execution by both Parties ESI shall pay to BMR a one-time 
payment equal to $10 million.  Subject to section 3.2, such payment will be non-refundable. 

3.2 Repayment by BMR 

Notwithstanding section 3.1, in the event that (i) ESI terminates the Agreement pursuant to 
section 17.2(2)(a) or 17.2(2)(c) prior to attainment of Commercial Production and (ii) the event 
giving rise to the termination right under section 17.2(2)(a) or 17.2(2)(c) is directly related to 
BMR not using commercially reasonable efforts to advance the development of the Mineral 
Property, then the $10 million payment made by ESI pursuant to section 3.1 shall be immediately 
repayable to ESI on demand in full without interest.  

4. RIGHT TO EARNED INTEREST 

4.1 Earned Interest 

Subject to the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement, ESI hereby grants to BMR the sole, 
exclusive and irrevocable right for BMR to acquire 

(a) a 35% Earned Interest (the "Initial Interest"); and 

(b) an additional 40% Earned Interest (the "Additional Interest"), 

for an aggregate 75% Earned Interest free and clear of any Encumbrance, except for Permitted 
Encumbrances. 

5. FINANCING AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROCESS FACILITY 

5.1 Financing of Process Facility and the Mining Operations 

(1) ESI will be responsible for the financing and construction of the Process Facility. ESI 
hereby commits to raise up to $90 million of capital which shall be used to build the 
Process Facility and to develop the Mineral Property to enable the Mining Operations in 
order to reach Commercial Production (the "Project"). 

(2) By December 31, 2018 or within four months after the closing of BMR's initial public 
offering, whichever date occurs later, ESI will raise funds through an offering of common 
shares of ESI (or such other type of financing as may be consented to by BMR) in a 
minimum amount of $50 million.  The balance of $40 million will be raised by ESI as 
required to begin and sustain the construction schedule approved by the Technical 
Committee and to sustain Commercial Production once achieved. 

(3) ESI will commence the detailed design, procurement and construction of the Process 
Facility diligently and in a timely manner subject to: 

(a) receiving a recommendation from the Technical Committee that the Parties 
should proceed with the Project; 
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(b) if required in accordance with section 11.4, receipt of confirmation of ESI Board 
and BMR Board approval; 

(c) receipt of all necessary permitting and governmental approvals required to 
commence such work and the work contemplated in section 5.1(4); and 

(d) the execution of a mutually agreeable Lease pursuant to section 5.1(5); 

(4) BMR will commence work on the Mineral Property to facilitate the Mining Operations 
diligently and in a timely manner subject to: 

(a) receiving a recommendation from the Technical Committee that the Parties 
should proceed with the Project; 

(b) if required in accordance with section 11.4, receipt of confirmation of ESI Board 
and BMR Board approval; and 

(c) receipt of all necessary permitting and governmental approvals to required 
commence such work and the work contemplated in section 5.1(3).  

(5) The Process Facility will be located at a site on the Mineral Property and determined to 
be suitable by the Technical Committee.  Following the execution of this Agreement, 
BMR and ESI shall work cooperatively and diligently negotiate and enter into a mutually 
agreeable Lease suitable for the construction and ongoing operation of the Process 
Facility.  The Lease will have commercially reasonable terms and without limit, the 
Lease will have a term that that extends for the predicted working life of the Process 
Facility, the Lease will stipulate that it will survive the expiry or termination of this 
Agreement, and the Lease will provide for free rent for the term of this Agreement, and 
rent at a fair market value rate thereafter.  

(6) The specific details of the Process Facility to be constructed by ESI will be determined 
by the Technical Committee pursuant to section 11.3(1)(e) but in any event, the Process 
Facility will be designed to have a feedstock processing throughput capacity of at least 
[REDACTED: Number.] Tonnes per day to produce cobalt metal (whether in the form of 
concentrates or other saleable products). 

6. DELIVERY OF BMR ORE 

6.1 Quantity and Quality 

(1) Subject to section 6.1(5), once the Process Facility has attained Commercial Production, 
BMR shall throughout the term of this Agreement deliver to ESI on an annual basis, and 
ESI shall purchase on an annual basis, subject to the terms of this Agreement the lesser of 
the following amounts of BMR Ore: 

(a) the total amount of BMR Ore extracted from the Mineral Property using 
commercially reasonable efforts; and 

(b) an amount of BMR Ore containing not less than [REDACTED: Number] metric 
Tonnes of contained cobalt (the "Required Delivery Amount"). 
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(2) During the start-up and commissioning phase of the Process Facility to attain 
Commercial Production, BMR agrees to deliver such amounts of BMR Ore requested by 
ESI and the Parties shall work cooperatively to establish a mutually agreeable delivery 
schedule. 

(3) In addition to the Product, all saleable Minerals, metals and associated by-products 
produced at the Process Facility by ESI from the Required Delivery Amount will be sold 
by ESI under the same provisions set out in this Agreement pertaining to the sale of 
Product and any sale proceeds will be included in Revenues.   

(4) Notwithstanding section 6.1(1), if BMR extracts more BMR Ore from the Mineral 
Property than is needed to fulfil its annual obligation to deliver the Required Delivery 
Amount to ESI, and if the Process Facility has attained a processing capacity that exceeds 
the Required Delivery Amount, and if ESI is prepared to accept additional quantities, 
then BMR may, but shall not be obliged to, deliver additional quantities of BMR Ore to 
ESI to satisfy the full input needs of the Processing Facility.  Any such additional 
quantities of BMR Ore delivered to ESI shall be delivered under the terms of this 
Agreement or upon such other terms as agreed to by ESI and BMR in writing provided 
that nothing in this section 6.1(4) shall be construed as obliging ESI to accept additional 
quantities of BMR Ore if mutually agreeable purchase and sale terms cannot be reached.  

(5) Notwithstanding section 6.1(4), provided that BMR has fulfilled its obligation to deliver 
the Required Delivery Amount of BMR Ore to ESI, nothing contained in this Agreement 
shall limit or restrict BMR's entitlement to process any additional amounts of extracted 
BMR Ore at its own facilities or to sell the additional amounts of BMR Ore to a third 
party. 

(6) The Technical Committee shall establish in writing a minimum quality standard for the 
BMR Ore delivered by BMR to the Process Facility having regard to the nature of the 
Minerals beneath the Mineral Property and the processing capability of the Process 
Facility (the "Minimum Quality Standard").   

6.2 Delivery 

BMR shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make deliveries of approximately equal 
quantities of BMR Ore at approximately even intervals throughout the calendar year, adjusted for 
shutdowns at the Process Facility.  BMR shall deliver each shipment to the Process Facility and 
title to, and all risk of damage to or loss of, any shipment shall remain with BMR until, and shall 
pass to ESI only at, 5:00 pm (local time) on the day on which the shipment has been delivered to 
the Process Facility.  

6.3 Crushing, Sampling and Weight Determination 

Crushing, sampling and weight determination shall be carried out by BMR at the Mineral 
Property on each shipment in accordance with the weighing and sampling procedures to be 
determined by the Technical Committee, such procedures to comply with current industry 
standards and to comply with the requirements of the Weights and Measures Act RSC 1985 c W-
6, or with the latest international standards and guidelines as published by ASTM International.  
ESI shall have the right to have it representatives or a duly qualified third party verify and inspect 
and test the measurement methodology and/or measurement equipment used by BMR to 
determine the quantity of BMR Ore delivered to ESI. 
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6.4 Assays 

Each of ESI and BMR will, in its respective discretion, be entitled to weigh, sample and assay all 
of the BMR Ore delivered by BMR prior to ESI commencing processing of such ore.   Weighing, 
assay and testing results will be used to verify the amount of ore delivered to ESI and that the 
delivered BMR Ore meets the Minimum Quality Standards.  Copies of all such test results shall 
be delivered to the Technical Committee.  

6.5 Payment 

(1) Payment for any BMR Ore delivered to ESI shall be equal to the BMR Allowable 
Expenses as allocated on a per Tonne basis.  

(2) ESI shall pay to BMR advance monthly payments (the "Advance Payment") based on 
BMR's estimate of BMR Allowable Expenses for the coming month as approved by the 
Technical Committee. 

6.6 BMR Ore and Audit and Reconciliation 

(1) Within 60 days following the expiry of a Quarter in which BMR Ore has been delivered 
to ESI, BMR must provide ESI with an itemized statement of BMR Allowable Expenses 
incurred during that Quarter.  The itemized statement of BMR Allowable Expenses 
incurred in any period will be conclusive evidence of the making of the BMR Allowable 
Expenses recorded in the statement unless within 90 days after delivery of that statement 
("ESI Objection Period") ESI delivers a written and detailed objection to the statement 
to BMR. If ESI delivers such an objection, then it will be entitled to request that the 
auditor of ESI audit the BMR Allowable Expenses recorded in the statement of BMR 
Allowable Expenses that is the subject of the objection. At the conclusion of that audit if 
the auditor determines that the BMR Allowable Expenses was less by 5% or more of the 
BMR Allowable Expenses, set out in the statement, then the costs of the audit will be 
borne by BMR otherwise the costs of the audit will be borne by ESI and, in all events and 
whatever the misstatement, only the actual BMR Allowable Expenses so determined will 
constitute BMR Allowable Expenses for the purposes of the relevant Quarter.   

(2) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the auditor's determination 
of BMR Allowable Expenses will be final and determinative of the amounts stated in the 
statement in question, and will not be or constitute a Dispute subject to section 18.  For 
greater certainty, the costs of any such audit will not constitute BMR Allowable Expenses 
under this Agreement or Allowable Deductions, as the case may be. 

(3) Immediately following the delivery and settlement of the itemized statement of BMR 
Allowable Expenses in the manner described in this section 6.6, there shall be a 
reconciliation and readjustment of the Advance Payments made to BMR pursuant to 
section 6.5(2) to the actual BMR Allowable Expenses incurred in such period. 

6.7 Tax 

(1) All amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement are exclusive of all sales, use, transfer, 
value added and similar taxes, levies and duties, including for greater certainty the goods 
and services tax/harmonized sales tax exigible pursuant to Part IX of the Excise Tax Act 
(Canada) (collectively, "Sales Taxes").  In every case where a Party makes a taxable 
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supply of property or services pursuant to this Agreement (in this section, a "Supplier"), 
and the Supplier is required by law to collect Sales Taxes in respect of such supply, the 
Party paying consideration to the Supplier for such supply (in this section, a 
"Recipient"), shall pay to the Supplier all such applicable Sales Taxes.  The Supplier will 
report and remit such collectible Sales Taxes in accordance with the applicable law.  
Where a Supplier makes a taxable supply of property or services pursuant to this 
Agreement, and the Supplier is not required by law to collect Sales Taxes in respect of 
such supply, the Recipient shall pay such applicable Sales Taxes directly to the applicable 
taxing authority and shall provide evidence of such payment to the Supplier upon written 
request from the Supplier.  In all cases, the Parties will provide each other with the 
documentation and information required to properly report and remit such Sales Taxes 
and to claim any tax exemptions, credits, rebates or refunds, and for greater certainty, 
each Party shall disclose their respective GST/HST registration numbers in writing to the 
other Parties. 

(2) Notwithstanding section (1)6.7(1), neither Party shall have any responsibility for, and 
nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as making either Party responsible for, the 
income or corporate tax of the other.   

7. ESI REVENUES  AND RETURN OF CAPITAL 

7.1 Sale of Product 

(1) ESI agrees to purchase the BMR Ore and process the BMR Ore at the Process Facility 
into saleable Product using commercially reasonable best practices as determined by the 
Technical Committee. 

(2) Prior to the establishment of the Joint Venture, the prices for all Product sold will be set 
by sales contracts mutually approved by both BMR and ESI each acting reasonably.  
After the establishment of the Joint Venture BMR shall be entitled to negotiate all sales 
contracts subject to the approval of ESI which approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed. 

7.2 Return of Capital 

(1) ESI shall at all times maintain a record of Revenues and Allowable Deductions required 
to calculate Return of Capital and shall upon request of BMR provide BMR with a copy 
of such records. 

(2) For the purpose of this Agreement, "Return of Capital" means Revenue received by ESI 
net of Allowable Deductions and BMR Allowable Expenses reimbursed by ESI. 

7.3 Increase in Initial Capital 

Once Commercial Production has been attained, Initial Capital can only be increased if ESI 
makes Capital Expenditures that are approved by the Technical Committee.  If Initial Capital is 
increased then the increased amount will become the Initial Capital for purposes of satisfying the 
Initial Interest Condition and the Additional Interest Condition if such conditions have not yet 
been satisfied. 

7.4 Return of Capital Statement and Audit 
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(1) Within 60 days following the expiry of a Quarter in which BMR Ore have been delivered 
to ESI, ESI must provide BMR with an itemized statement of Revenues and Allowable 
Deductions incurred during that Quarter.  The itemized statement of Revenues and 
Allowable Deductions incurred in any period will be conclusive evidence of the making 
of the Revenues and Allowable Deduction recorded in the statement unless within 90 
days after delivery of that statement ("BMR Objection Period") BMR delivers a written 
and detailed objection to the statement to ESI. If BMR delivers such an objection, then it 
will be entitled to request that the auditor of the public company parent of BMR audit the 
Revenues and Allowable Deductions recorded in the statement of Revenues and 
Allowable Deductions that is the subject of the objection. At the conclusion of that audit 
if the auditor determines that the Return of Capital was greater by 5% or more of the 
Return of Capital set out in the statement, then the costs of the audit will be borne by ESI 
otherwise the costs of the audit will be borne by BMR and, in all events and whatever the 
misstatement, only the actual Return of Capital so determined will constitute Return of 
Capital for the purposes of the relevant Year. 

(2) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the auditor's determination 
of Return of Capital will be final and determinative of the amounts stated in the statement 
in question, and will not be or constitute a Dispute subject to section 18.  For greater 
certainty, the costs of any such audit will not constitute Allowable Deductions or BMR 
Allowable Expenses under this Agreement. 

8. INITIAL INTEREST 

8.1 Condition of Initial Interest 

The acquisition of BMR of the Initial Interest is conditional on BMR delivering sufficient 
quantities of BMR Ore until ESI has received a Return of Capital equal to 1 times the Initial 
Capital ("Initial Interest Condition"). 

8.2 Deemed Initial Interest 

(1) Subject to section 8.3, upon satisfying the Initial Interest Condition BMR will be deemed 
to be the beneficial owner of the Initial Interest.  From the date of acquiring the Initial 
Interest until the acquisition of the Additional Interest by BMR, the Initial Interest will be 
a free carried interest and BMR shall be entitled to receive 35% of the amount equal to 
the Return of Capital calculated for that period without the requirement to make or pay 
any cash calls or to advance any capital contributions or pay any liabilities. 

(2) From the date of acquiring the Initial Interest until the date the Joint Venture is 
established ESI agrees that it will defend, indemnify, reimburse and hold harmless BMR, 
its Affiliates, and their respective officers, directors, agents and employees and their 
successors and assigns (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties"), and each of them, for, 
from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, actions and proceedings, that 
may be made or brought against the Indemnified Parties or which the Indemnified Parties 
may sustain, pay or incur that result from or relate to the Facility Operations, including 
without limitation claims, demands, liabilities, actions and proceedings, in any way 
arising from or connected with any non-compliance with environmental laws or any 
contaminants or hazardous substances. 
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(3) BMR's right to the Initial Interest shall survive expiry or termination of this Agreement if 
the Initial Interest Condition was satisfied on or before the date of expiry or termination, 
as applicable. If the Initial Interest Condition was not satisfied on or before the date of 
expiry or termination of the Agreement, BMR's right to the Initial Interest shall terminate 
with the expiry or termination of the Agreement, as applicable. 

8.3 Nomination of BMR 

(1) At any time prior to the satisfaction of the Initial Interest Condition, BMR may, in its 
absolute discretion, provide notice to ESI to have the Initial Interest vested in an Affiliate 
that it designates once the Initial Interest Condition is met. 

(2) If BMR provides notice under section 8.3(1) then upon satisfying the Initial Interest 
Condition: 

(a) the designated Affiliate will be deemed to have earned and be the beneficial 
owner of the Initial Interest; and 

(b) in respect of any provision in this Agreement that applies or is operative after the 
satisfaction of the Initial Interest Condition, a reference to BMR will be deemed 
to be a reference to the designated Affiliate as the context may require. 

9. OPERATOR OF PROCESS FACILITY 

9.1 Operator of Process Facility 

ESI will be the operator of the Process Facility until the Joint Venture is established. 

9.2 Operator's Obligations 

During the term of this Agreement, ESI, as operator of the Process Facility, will: 

(1) conduct all Process Facility operations efficiently and  in a timely manner consistent with 
good engineering and mining practice and in compliance with any Applicable Laws and 
in a manner acceptable to the Technical Committee; 

(2) pay all Allowable Deductions incurred promptly as and when due; 

(3) keep the Process Facility free and clear of all Encumbrances (except Permitted 
Encumbrances) and to proceed with all diligence to contest and discharge any such 
Encumbrance that is filed with the exception of any Encumbrance arising through or 
under BMR in relation to its in interest in the Assets and the Mineral Property; 

(4) subject to section 9.4, permit any Personnel of BMR: 

(a) at their own expense and risk, access to the Process Facility at all reasonable 
times; and 

(b) access to all records (whether in tangible or electronic form) of ESI pertaining to 
the Facility Operations; 
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(5) during the term of this Agreement and for a period of 1 year after the expiry or 
termination of this Agreement and otherwise in accordance with IFRS consistently 
applied, maintain true and correct books, accounts and records of Allowable Deductions; 
and 

(6) deliver to BMR quarterly, within 60 days after the end of each Quarter, a report of the 
Facility Operations for the previous Quarter summarizing quantity, type and grade of 
Product processed and sold during the Quarter, gross revenue and Allowable Deductions 
for the Quarter, any capital expenditures, forecasts, budgets and any other significant 
information as request by the Technical Committee in carrying out the Facility 
Operations for that Quarter. 

9.3 Third Party Operator 

Except for its Affiliate, no third party may be retained to carry out ESI's duties as operator under 
section 9.2 unless the third party agrees in writing to be bound by all of the same duties and 
obligations imposed on ESI as operator under this Agreement and, in particular, under this section 
9. 

9.4 Indemnity on Access 

(1) BMR indemnifies and must keep indemnified ESI and its Personnel from and against any 
Claim that ESI or its Personnel suffer, sustain or incur arising out of or in connection 
with any injury (including injury causing death) to any Personnel of BMR while in or at 
the Process Facility. 

(2) BMR's liability under section 9.4(1) will be reduced proportionately to the extent that the 
Claim was caused by the default or negligent act or omission of ESI or its Personnel. 

9.5 Restrictions on Property Acquisitions 

ESI shall not acquire any Mineral Rights in the Province of Ontario or Province of Quebec 
without the prior written consent of BMR except for such Mineral Rights required in connection 
with the location of the Process Facility as contemplated in this Agreement. 

9.6 Obligations to Inform 

During the term of this Agreement, ESI must, and must cause its Affiliates to: 

(1) promptly deliver to BMR any notice, demand or other material communication relating to 
any of the Assets that it or any of its Affiliates receive; and 

(2) obtain the prior written consent of BMR (which consent must not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed) to the sending by it or its Affiliates of any notice, demand or other 
material communication relating to any of the Assets to any third person including any 
adjacent property owner or any Governmental Authority. 

10. OPERATOR OF MINERAL PROPERTY 

10.1 Operator of Mineral Property 



 
WSLEGAL\000001\00012\19776160v1   

Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement 

307432.00017/98819615.15 Page 29 of 68 
 

BMR will undertake the Mining Operations.  Except with respect to matters that are explicitly 
required to be approved by the Technical Committee as set out in this Agreement, all decisions 
regarding the Mineral Property, concerning (i) the methods, the extent, times, procedures and 
techniques of any exploration, construction, development and mining related to the Mineral 
Property or any portion thereof, and (ii) any decisions to operate or continue to operate, including 
with respect to closure and care and maintenance, shall be made by BMR in its sole discretion 
subject to the terms and conditions of any agreements or joint ventures pursuant to which BMR 
holds its right, title and interest in at to the Mineral Property. 

10.2 Operator's Obligations 

In connection with the Mineral Properties of which BMR is the operator, BMR will: 

(1) conduct all Mining Operations efficiently and in a timely manner consistent with good 
exploration, engineering and mining practice, in compliance with any Applicable Laws, 
and in a manner acceptable to the Technical Committee; 

(2) keep the BMR's rights, title and interests in the Mineral Property free and clear of all 
Encumbrances (except Permitted Encumbrances) and to proceed with all diligence to 
contest and discharge any such Encumbrance that is filed; 

(3) keep the BMR's rights, title and interests in the Mineral Property in good standing as 
required by Applicable Laws by payment of taxes or other charges, the doing and filing 
of all necessary work and by the doing of all other acts and things and making all other 
payments which may be necessary in that regard; 

(4) subject to section 9.4, permit any Personnel of ESI: 

(a) at their own expense and risk, access to the Mineral Property at all reasonable 
times, subject to any limitations of the rights, title and interests of BMR to the 
Mineral Property; and 

(b) access to all records (whether in tangible or electronic form) of BMR pertaining 
to the Mining Operations and the Mineral Property which are not subject to any 
confidentiality provisions and where subject to confidentiality provisions BMR 
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain consent to disclose such 
information; 

(5) permit ESI, upon being provided with reasonable notice, to inspect and copy, at all 
reasonable times, any Exploration Data which are not subject to any confidentiality 
provisions and where subject to confidentiality provisions BMR shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain consent to disclose such information; 

(6) during the term of this Agreement and for a period of 1 year after the expiry or 
termination of this Agreement and otherwise in accordance with IFRS consistently 
applied, maintain true and correct books, accounts and records of BMR Allowable 
Expenses;  

(7) deliver to ESI quarterly, within 60 days after the end of each Quarter, a report on the 
Mining Operations conducted on or with respect to the Mineral Property for the previous 
Quarter summarizing any significant technical data learned or obtained and providing a 
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breakdown of BMR Allowable Expenses incurred in carrying out the Mining Operations 
for that Quarter; and 

(8) promptly notify ESI of any material exploration results or adverse events. 

10.3 Third Party Operator 

Except for its Affiliate, no third party may be retained to carry out BMR duties as operator under 
section 10.2 unless the third party agrees in writing to be bound by all of the same duties and 
obligations imposed on BMR as operator of the Mineral Property under this Agreement. 

10.4 Indemnity on Access 

(1) ESI indemnifies and must keep indemnified BMR and its Personnel from and against any 
Claim that BMR or its Personnel suffer, sustain or incur arising out of or in connection 
with any injury (including injury causing death) to any Personnel of ESI while in or on 
the Mineral Property. 

(2) ESI's liability under section 10.4(1) will be reduced proportionately to the extent that the 
Claim was caused by the default or negligent act or omission of BMR or its Personnel. 

10.5 Property Acquisitions 

Any Mineral Right acquired by BMR in Ontario will be included as Mineral Property for 
purposes of satisfying delivery of the Required Delivery Amount of BMR Ore. 

11. TECHNICAL COMMITTEE 

11.1 Establishment Technical Committee 

A technical committee (the "Technical Committee") will be established in the manner described 
in section 11.2 as soon as reasonably possible and in no event later than within 30 days of the 
Effective Date.  The Technical Committee will remain in place performing the role prescribed in 
this Agreement until the Joint Venture is established. 

11.2 Number of Members 

The Technical Committee will consist of five members comprised of two nominees of BMR, two 
nominees of ESI and a fifth member (the "Independent Member") being appointed by the four 
nominees of BMR and ESI (the "Four Nominees").  The Four Nominees shall appoint the 
Independent Member within 30 days after the Effective Date.  If the Four Nominees are unable to 
reach a unanimous decision to appoint an Independent Member then each of BMR and ESI will 
submit one choice for the Independent Member to a sole arbitrator pursuant to section 18.3 who 
will make the final selection based on independence and industry expertise.  The Independent 
Member shall be independent of and arms-length to both BMR and ESI.  The Independent 
Member shall hold his or her appointment for a term of one year subject to being removed before 
the end of his or her term by unanimous decision of the Four Nominees.  Each year the Four 
Nominees will appoint or re-appoint the Independent Member in the manner set out above.  Each 
of BMR and ESI shall be entitled to change one or both of their respective nominees at any time 
on written notice to the other Party and the Independent Member.  Neither BMR nor ESI will, 
during the term of the Agreement either directly or indirectly on its own behalf or jointly with or 
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on behalf of any other person, solicit, engage or employ any person who is acting or has acted as 
an Independent Member for any role other than as an Independent Member.  

11.3 Role of Technical Committee 

(1) The Technical Committee will: 

(a) work cooperatively with ESI and BMR to procure a feasibility study for the 
Mining Operations and FEED work for the Process Facility; 

(b) make a unanimous decision when determining which engineering firm shall 
complete the feasibility study; 

(c) carefully and diligently review the feasibility study and the FEED work and 
make an informed recommendation to ESI and BMR on whether the Parties 
should proceed with the Project (the "Construction Recommendation"); 

(d) if the Construction Recommendation is positive, provide ESI and BMR with a 
detailed budget for the Project such budget to include the total estimated cost for 
the Project; 

(e) determine the specifications and a construction schedule for the Process Facility; 

(f) approve the mine plan including costs, processing schedules, logistics and also 
including the planning for the central mill; 

(g) establish the Minimum Quality Standard for the BMR Ore to be delivered to the 
Process Facility; 

(h) approve all Capital Expenditures in relation to the Mineral Property and Process 
Facility; 

(i) approve all costs in connection with the design, procurement and construction of 
the Process Facility; 

(j) approve contracts entered into in connection with the Process Facility or the 
Mineral Property over $200,000; 

(k) approve any Encumbrance that is not a Permitted Encumbrance; 

(l) review and approve BMR Allowable Expenses; and 

(m) review and approve Allowable Deductions. 

11.4 ESI and BMR Board Approval 

Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement,  

(i)  in the event that the total estimated cost for the Project provided to ESI and BMR 
pursuant to section 11.3(1)(d) is greater than $120 million, or 
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(ii)  the Technical Committee makes a Construction Recommendation based on a feasibility 
study that provides for return of capital from cash flow plus an initial rate of return of less 
than 15% using consensus price forecasts acceptable to the Technical Committee, 

then BMR and ESI shall promptly seek approval from the BMR Board and the ESI Board 
respectively, and the Project shall not be commenced until confirmation of approval from each of 
the BMR Board and the ESI Board is provided to the Technical Committee. 

11.5 Quorum 

The required quorum for a meeting of the Technical Committee is all five members. 

11.6 Votes 

The members of the Technical Committee will have 1 vote each. 

11.7 Decisions by Majority Vote 

All questions before, and determinations by, the Technical Committee will be decided by a 
simple majority of the votes cast unless otherwise specified. No member may abstain on a vote. 

12. ADDITIONAL INTEREST 

12.1 Condition of Additional Interest 

The acquisition of BMR of the Additional Interest is conditional on BMR satisfying the Initial 
Interest Condition and BMR delivering sufficient quantities of BMR Ore such that ESI has 
received an additional Return of Capital equal to 1 times the Initial Capital (for cumulative 
Return of Capital equal to 2 times the Initial Capital) ("Additional Interest Condition") 
provided however, that if Initial Capital is equal to an amount greater than $90 million then the 
Additional Interest Condition will be satisfied once ESI receives an additional Return of Capital 
equal to $90 million (for cumulative Return of Capital equal to 1 times the Initial Capital plus $90 
million). 

12.2 Deemed Additional Interest 

(1) Subject to section 12.3, upon satisfying the Additional Interest Condition BMR will be 
deemed to be the beneficial owner of the Additional Interest, the Initial Interest will no 
longer be a free carried interest and BMR will own a 75% Earned Interest in the Assets. 

(2) BMR's right to the Additional Interest shall survive expiry or termination of this 
Agreement if the Additional Interest Condition was satisfied on or before the date of 
expiry or termination, as applicable. If the Additional Interest Condition was not satisfied 
on or before the date of expiry or termination of the Agreement, BMR's right to the 
Additional Interest shall terminate with the expiry or termination of the Agreement, as 
applicable. 

12.3 Nomination of BMR 
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(1) At any time prior to the satisfaction of the Additional Interest Condition, BMR may, in its 
absolute discretion, provide notice to have the additional 40% Earned Interest vested in 
an Affiliate that it designates when the Additional Interest Condition is met. 

(2) If BMR exercises its rights under section 12.3(1) then upon satisfying the Additional 
Interest Condition: 

(a) the designated Affiliate will be deemed to have earned and be the beneficial 
owner of the additional 40% Earned Interest; and 

(b) in respect of any provision in this Agreement that applies or is operative after the 
satisfaction of the Additional Interest Condition, a reference to BMR will be 
deemed to be a reference to the designated Affiliate as the context may require. 

13. JOINT VENTURE 

13.1 Formation of Joint Venture 

Subject to section 13.2, upon the satisfaction of the Additional Interest Condition, BMR and ESI 
will be deemed to have established (in accordance with the provisions contained in Schedule 3) 
the Joint Venture as a single purpose joint venture in relation to the Assets. 

13.2 Joint Venture Agreement 

Within 90 days of the formation of the Joint Venture pursuant to section 13.1, BMR and ESI must 
use reasonable commercial efforts to negotiate, complete, execute and deliver a formal joint 
venture agreement incorporating, among other things, substantially those terms as set out in this 
section 13 and Schedule 3 to this Agreement.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the Parties, until a 
formal joint venture agreement has been executed by both BMR and ESI the Joint Venture will be 
governed by the provisions contained and incorporated in Schedule 3.  When executed, the Joint 
Venture Agreement will exclusively govern the Joint Venture effective from the date the 
Additional Interest Condition was satisfied. 

13.3 Joint Venture Company 

(1) The Parties acknowledge that certain matters relating to the Assets may need to be 
considered and determined from time to time according to the requirements of Applicable 
Laws, taxation considerations, and the prevailing commercial practices and policies of 
applicable Governmental Authorities. As a result, in connection with any Joint Venture 
and any Joint Venture Agreement, the Parties may decide that it may be required or 
otherwise desirable to incorporate an appropriate legal entity for purposes of the Joint 
Venture (a "Joint Venture Company"), in which case: 

(a) a limited liability company or such other type of corporate entity as the parties 
may determine must promptly be incorporated and organized for that purpose; 

(b) the Joint Venture Agreement will be deemed to be a shareholders' agreement or 
operating agreement (as the case may be); 

(c) ESI and BMR will hold such number of the issued shares or participatory 
interests in the Joint Venture Company as are proportionate to their respective 
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participating interests in the Joint Venture at the time of incorporation of the 
Joint Venture Company; and 

(d) ESI and BMR must in a timely manner execute the shareholders' agreement or 
operating agreement (as the case may be). 

(2) If a Joint Venture Company is formed and if the Parties agree, title to the Assets will be 
transferred to the Joint Venture Company after ESI and BMR (as the case may be) have 
obtained all applicable approvals or consents of any applicable Governmental Authority. 

13.4 Assets of Joint Venture 

If any or all of the Assets are not assigned or transferred to the Joint Venture as at the date on 
which the Joint Venture is formed under section 13.1 then until the Assets are assigned or 
transferred to the Joint Venture so as to be held by the Joint Venture in accordance with the Joint 
Venture Agreement, the Assets will be held by ESI, BMR or BMR's Affiliate (as the case may 
be) following such date in trust for the exclusive benefit and use of the Joint Venture.  ESI or 
BMR (as the case may be) must, at the sole cost of the Joint Venture, cause to be taken such 
action in its name or in the name of BMR's Affiliate or otherwise as the Joint Venture may 
require so as to provide the Joint Venture with the benefit and use of the Assets and to effect 
assignment or transfer (as the case may be) of the Assets to the Joint Venture.  ESI or BMR (as 
the case may be) may only deal with or make use of the or cause the Assets to be dealt with or 
made use of by ESI or BMR (as the case may be) in strict accordance with the written directions 
of the Joint Venture. 

14. ASSIGNMENT 

14.1 Limitations on Assignments 

(1) Subject to sections 14.3 and 14.4, ESI must not assign this Agreement or the Assets 
without the prior written consent of BMR, which consent may be withheld in its sole and 
absolute discretion. 

(2) BMR may assign this Agreement provided the proposed assignee enters into an 
agreement with ESI by which the proposed assignee agrees to be bound by the provisions 
of this Agreement as if it was an original party to this Agreement in place of BMR and 
the proposed assignee acquires all of BMR's right, title and interest in and to the Mineral 
Property. 

(3) BMR has the right to assign any rights, title and interest in and to the Mineral Property to 
an Affiliate of BMR at any time provided the Affiliated agrees to be bound by the 
provisions of this Agreement as if it was an original party to this Agreement. 

(4) In this section 14, "assign" includes: 

(a) sell, transfer, licence, or otherwise dispose or part with possession of; and 

(b) mortgage, charge, grant a lien, pledge, hypothecate, declare a trust in respect of 
or grant any interest in, by way of security or otherwise. 

14.2 Obligations Upon Giving Consent 
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Provided ESI has complied with section 14.5 and BMR consents to an assignment under section 
14.1, no assignment will be effective unless and until: 

(1) ESI or the proposed assignee pays all expenses (including legal costs on a solicitor and 
own client or full indemnity basis, whichever is greater) incurred by BMR in 
investigating the proposed assignee or in connection with the proposed assignment; 

(2) ESI or the proposed assignee demonstrate to the satisfaction of BMR that the proposed 
assignee has the capability (whether financial, technical or otherwise) to comply with and 
perform the obligations of ESI under this Agreement; and 

(3) the proposed assignee has entered into an agreement with BMR by which the proposed 
assignee agrees to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement as if it was an original 
party to this Agreement in place of ESI. 

14.3 Affiliates of ESI 

ESI may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate of ESI.  An assignment to an Affiliate will be 
subject to the Affiliate and ESI entering into an agreement with BMR, in form and substance 
satisfactory to BMR, by which: 

(1) concurrently with the assignment of this Agreement by ESI to the Affiliate the legal and 
beneficial interest of ESI in the Assets is assigned to the Affiliate; 

(2) the Affiliate agrees to assume the obligations of ESI under this Agreement and be bound 
by this Agreement; 

(3) ESI agrees that it will remain jointly and severally liable with the Affiliate for all 
obligations and liabilities of ESI under this Agreement; 

(4) ESI and its Affiliate agree that BMR may at its sole option have recourse against either or 
both ESI and the Affiliate for any and all obligations or liabilities of ESI under this 
Agreement; and 

(5) the Affiliate agrees with BMR in writing to re-assign the legal and beneficial interest it 
holds in the Assets and this Agreement to ESI (as long as ESI at the time of such re-
assignment remains under the same Control as at the Effective Date and if not, then to 
another person which is so Controlled) before ceasing to be an Affiliate of ESI. 

14.4 Exceptions 

Nothing in this section 14 applies to or restricts in any manner an amalgamation or corporate 
reorganization involving a Party which has the effect in law of the amalgamated or surviving 
corporation possessing all the property, rights and interests and being subject to all the debts, 
liabilities and obligations of each amalgamating or predecessor corporation. 

14.5 Right of First Refusal 

(1) If ESI:  
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(a) receives a bona fide offer from an independent third party dealing at arm's length 
with ESI to purchase all or any part of ESI's interest (either direct or indirect) in 
and to the Assets ("Interest"), which offer ESI desires to accept; or 

(b) intends to sell, assign or transfer (either directly or indirectly) all or any part of 
the Interest to any person, 

then ESI must first offer ("Offer") the Interest in writing to BMR upon terms no less 
favourable than those offered by the Proposed Purchaser or intended to be offered by 
ESI, as the case may be. 

(2) The Offer must specify the price and terms and conditions of such sale, the name of the 
Proposed Purchaser (which will, in the case of an intended offer by ESI, mean the person 
or persons to whom ESI intends to offer the Interest) and, if the offer received by ESI 
from the Proposed Purchaser provides for any consideration payable to ESI otherwise 
than in cash, then the Offer must include ESI's reasonable estimate of the cash equivalent 
of the non-cash consideration. 

(3) Within 5 Business Days after receipt of the Offer BMR may object in writing to a 
determination of the cash equivalent of the non-cash consideration as the subject matter 
of the Offer and upon such an objection being made the Parties must seek to agree upon 
that cash equivalent but if they cannot reach agreement within 5 Business Days after the 
date of objection, then that cash equivalent will constitute a Dispute to be resolved in 
accordance with section 18 (the cost of which determination must be borne, if the cash 
value determined is less than that determined by ESI, by ESI and in any other case by 
BMR); 

(4) If within a period of 30 days of the receipt of the Offer, BMR notifies ESI in writing that 
it or its nominee will accept the same, then ESI will be bound to sell the Interest to BMR 
or its nominee (as the case may be) and BMR or its nominee (as the case may be) will be 
bound to purchase such Interest on the terms and conditions of the Offer. 

(5) If BMR fails to notify ESI before the expiration of the period specified in section 14.5(4) 
that it or its nominee will purchase the Interest offered, then provided BMR consents to 
the assignment under section 14.1, ESI may sell and transfer the Interest to the Proposed 
Purchaser at the price and on the terms and conditions specified in the Offer for a period 
of 60 days. 

(6) The terms of this section 14.5 will again apply to the Interest if the sale to the Proposed 
Purchaser is not completed within 60 day period specified in section 14.5(5). 

(7) Any sale under this section 14.5 will be conditional upon the Proposed Purchaser 
delivering a written undertaking to BMR, in form and content satisfactory to BMR, to be 
bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

14.6 No Encumbrance 

During the term of this Agreement neither party may cause or allow an Encumbrance to be given 
or granted in, in respect of or over its legal or beneficial interest in the Assets or its rights under 
this Agreement except for Permitted Encumbrances. 
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14.7 Change of Control 

(1) A Change of Control of ESI after the Effective Date will, subject to section 14.7(2), be 
deemed an assignment for the purposes of section 14.1.  

(2) An involuntary Change of Control of ESI that arises in connection with: 

(a) the operation of applicable law; or 

(b) the trading of securities of ESI on a stock exchange or similar public market upon 
which the securities of ESI are quoted, 

will not, for the purposes of section 14.7(1), constitute a Change of Control of ESI or be 
deemed to be an assignment for the purposes of section 14.1. 

15. FORCE MAJEURE 

15.1 Notice of Force Majeure 

A Party will not be liable for any delay or failure to perform any of its obligations under this 
Agreement (other than an obligation of indemnification or to pay money) if as soon as reasonably 
possible after the beginning of the Force Majeure affecting the ability of the Party to perform any 
of its obligations under this Agreement, it gives a notice to the other Party that complies with 
section 15.2. 

15.2 Force Majeure notice 

A notice given under section 15.1 must: 

(1) specify the obligations the Party cannot perform; 

(2) fully describe the Force Majeure; 

(3) estimate the time during which the Force Majeure is expected to continue; and 

(4) specify the measures proposed to be adopted to remedy or abate the Force Majeure. 

15.3 Obligation to remedy and mitigate 

The Party that is prevented from carrying out its obligations under this Agreement as a result of 
Force Majeure must: 

(1) remedy the Force Majeure to the extent reasonably practicable and resume performance 
of its obligations as soon as reasonably possible; and 

(2) take all action reasonably practicable (but without any obligation to make any monetary 
payment) to mitigate any liability suffered by the other Party as a result of its failure to 
carry out its obligations under this Agreement. 

Despite the foregoing, nothing in this section 15.3 will require the Party that is prevented from 
performing its obligations under this Agreement as a result of Force Majeure to resolve or 
compromise any labour dispute or to question or to test the validity of any law, rule, regulation or 
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order of any Governmental Authority or to perform its obligations under this Agreement if Force 
Majeure renders performance impossible. 

16. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

16.1 Confidentiality 

The Parties agree that: 

(1) this Agreement (including any drafts of it), all information (whether in tangible or 
electronic form) exchanged between the Parties or their Affiliates under this Agreement 
and all information concerning or relating to the Property, Process Facility, Mining 
Operations or Facility Operations of which it becomes aware ("Confidential 
Information") is confidential; and 

(2) must be kept confidential and must not be disclosed to any person at any time or in any 
manner except: 

(a) to another Party; 

(b) with the prior written consent of the other Party; 

(c) to the extent that the Confidential Information was publicly available at the 
Effective Date or becomes publicly available subsequent to the Effective Date 
without breach of this Agreement; 

(d) as may be necessary in seeking approval of any Governmental Authority; 

(e) by a Party to legal, financial and other professional advisers, auditors and other 
consultants, officers and employees of: 

(i) that Party; or 

(ii) that Party's Affiliates, 

in any case requiring the information for the purposes of this Agreement (or any 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement), or for the purpose of advising that 
Party in relation to this Agreement; 

(f) to the extent required by law or by a lawful requirement of any Governmental 
Authority or stock exchange having jurisdiction over the Party or its Affiliates; 

(g) if necessary or commercially desirable to be disclosed in any offer document, 
prospectus or information memorandum to bona fide investors or bona fide 
proposed or prospective investors: 

(i) for an issue or disposal of any shares in a Party or its Affiliates or for an 
issue of debt instruments of a Party or its Affiliates; or 

(ii) for the purposes of a Party obtaining a listing on a stock exchange; 
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(h) if required in connection with legal proceedings or arbitration relating to this 
Agreement or for the purpose of advising a Party in relation to legal proceedings 
or arbitration; 

(i) to any bona fide enquirer contemplating the purchase of the Interest of a Party 
under this Agreement under section 14 or to an Affiliate of a Party as long as the 
enquirer or the Affiliate has first entered into an agreement in favour of the 
Parties to preserve confidentiality of information disclosed in a manner at least as 
onerous on the enquirer or Affiliate as this section 16.1 is onerous on the Parties; 

(j) to a banker or other financial institution considering the provision of or, which 
has provided financial accommodation to, a Party or an Affiliate of a Party or to a 
trustee, representative or agent of that banker or financial institution; or 

(k) to a stock exchange (including any regulator or securities commission having 
jurisdiction over a stock exchange) or similar public market for trading shares 
upon which securities of a Party or of an Affiliate of a Party are quoted after the 
reasonable prior consultation, if practicable, with the other Party taking place as 
to the nature and form of the disclosure (which does not imply that the consent or 
approval, of the other Party must or need be obtained). Despite the foregoing, any 
disclosure must be only to the minimum standards required by the applicable 
stock exchange, regulator, securities commission or law. 

16.2 News Releases 

The text of any proposed media releases or other public statements ("Public Disclosure") which a 
Party intends to make with respect to the Property or this Agreement must be made available to 
the other Party at least 1 Business Day prior to publication of the Public Disclosure.  The other 
Party will have 1 Business Day to review and comment on the proposed Public Disclosure. Any 
comments of the other Party must be considered in good faith by the Party who intends to make 
the Public Disclosure and the Public Disclosure must, as is reasonable, be amended accordingly.  
In addition, the Parties must agree on the wording of each other's press release announcing the 
entering into of this Agreement. 

16.3 Fraudulent or Negligent Disclosure 

No Party will be liable to any other Party for the fraudulent or negligent disclosure of 
Confidential Information by any of its Personnel as long as that Party has taken reasonable steps 
to ensure the preservation of the confidential nature of that Confidential Information. 

16.4 Effect of Disclosure 

Any consent of a Party given to another Party to disclose Confidential Information or to make a 
Public Disclosure will not be considered an approval or certification of the consenting Party: 

(1) as to the accuracy of any information contained in that Confidential Information or Public 
Disclosure; or 

(2) that the Confidential Information or Public Disclosure complies with Applicable Laws or 
the rules, policies, by-laws and disclosure standards of any Governmental Authority, 
stock exchange, regulator or securities commission. 
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17. TERMINATION AND REMEDIES 

17.1 Events of Default 

A Party may terminate this Agreement by notice in writing to the other Party if: 

(1) a Party ("Defaulting Party") commits a material breach of any provision of this 
Agreement, and: 

(a) the breach is incapable of remedy; or 

(b) the breach is capable of remedy and: 

(i) the Party has given notice to the Defaulting Party specifying the breach 
and requesting that it be remedied; and 

(ii) the Defaulting Party has failed to remedy that breach or has failed to take 
reasonable steps to commence rectifying that breach (or overcome its 
effects) within 20 Business Days of receiving that notice; or 

(2) any one of the following occurs in relation to a Party ("Insolvent Party"): 

(a) the Insolvent Party becomes, or informs the other Party, creditors of the Insolvent 
Party generally or any particular creditor of the Insolvent Party that it is, 
insolvent or unable to pay its debts as and when they fall due; 

(b) a liquidator or provisional liquidator, a receiver, assignee, custodian, trustee, 
sequestrator or an analogous person is appointed to, or in respect of, the Insolvent 
Party or any of its property; 

(c) the Insolvent Party enters into, or calls a meeting of its members or creditors with 
a view to entering into, a composition, compromise or arrangement with, or an 
assignment for the benefit of, any of its members or creditors, or a court orders 
that a meeting be convened in respect of a proposed composition, compromise or 
arrangement between the Insolvent Party and its creditors or any class of its 
creditors, other than for the purpose of reconstruction or amalgamation; 

(d) the Insolvent Party has any bona fide execution, writ of execution, mareva or 
standstill injunction or similar order, attachment or other process made, levied or 
issued against it or in relation to any of its assets; 

(e) any bona fide application is made or other process commenced (not being an 
application or process withdrawn, discontinued or dismissed within 30 days of 
being filed) seeking an order for the appointment of a provisional liquidator, a 
liquidator, a receiver or a receiver and manager to the Insolvent Party; 

(f) the Insolvent Party is declared bankrupt or has filed for some form of protection 
from its creditors under Applicable Laws relating to or governing bankruptcy; 

(g) there is a resolution of creditors or members, or an order of a court, to place in 
liquidation or bankruptcy or wind up the Insolvent Party; or 
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(h) an event happens analogous to an event specified in sections 17.1(2)(a) to 
17.1(2)(g) to which the law of another jurisdiction applies and the event has an 
effect in that jurisdiction similar to the effect which the event would have had if 
the law of Canada applied. 

17.2 Termination by BMR and ESI 

(1) BMR may immediately terminate this Agreement on written notice to ESI if: 

(a) ESI has not successfully raised $50 million on or before December 31, 2018 or a 
date four months after the closing of BMR's initial public offering, whichever 
occurs later; 

(b) if ESI has not commenced design and procurement activities to advance the 
construction of the Process Facility within the later of (i) 90 days from the 
issuance of the Construction Recommendation; and (ii) 90 days from the granting 
of all permits, consents, regulatory authorizations and other like governmental 
approvals required to construct the Process Facility; 

(c) if either the ESI Board or the BMR Board fails to provide the approval required 
to proceed with the Project in accordance with section 11.4; 

(d) ESI does not have the financial resources required to commence the design, 
procurement and construction of the Process Facility or to maintain the design, 
procurement and construction of the Process Facility on the schedule approved 
by the Technical Committee, if the Technical Committee has provided a positive 
Construction Recommendation and both the ESI and BMR Boards have provided 
approval (if applicable); 

(e) if the Technical Committee makes a recommendation that the Parties should not 
proceed with the Project; 

(f) if the Process Facility has not achieved Commercial Production within a period 
of 2.5 years after the date of receiving the final required permits, regulatory 
authorizations and other like governmental approvals; or 

(g) if BMR has delivered the Required Delivery Amount for a period of five years 
and ESI has not received sufficient Revenues to receive a Return of Capital equal 
to 1 times the Initial Capital. 

(2) ESI may immediately terminate this Agreement on written notice to BMR if;  

(a) if either the ESI Board or the BMR Board fails to provide the approval required 
to proceed with the Project in accordance with section 11.4;  

(b) if the parties are unable to negotiate the terms of an mutually agreeable Lease 
pursuant to section 5.1(5) on or before December 31, 2018;  

(c) if the Technical Committee makes a recommendation that the Parties should not 
proceed with the Project; or 
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(d) if BMR has delivered the Required Delivery Amount for a period of five years 
and ESI has not received sufficient Revenues to receive a Return of Capital equal 
to 1 times the Initial Capital. 

17.3 Insolvency of ESI 

(1) If at any time during the term of this Agreement ESI is the subject of an Insolvency Event 
and BMR, either on or promptly after the date on which such Insolvency Event arose or 
occurs, pays to ESI an amount equal to the remaining Return of Capital needed to meet 
the Initial Interest Condition then: 

(a) BMR will be deemed to have earned and be the beneficial owner of an undivided 
35% Earned Interest; and 

(b) ESI will be deemed to be holding legal ownership of the 35% Earned Interest in 
trust for BMR. 

(2) The Parties agree that each of the events referred to in section 17.3(1) will be deemed to 
pre-date the date on which ESI becomes the subject of an Insolvency Event. 

17.4 Consequences of Termination 

(1) Termination of this Agreement under this section 17 will not derogate from, affect or 
prejudice any rights or remedies of a Party whether arising under this Agreement or at 
law that have accrued prior to the date of, or arise as a consequence of, termination. 

(2) If this Agreement is terminated by BMR pursuant to section 17.2(1)(a), 17.2(1)(b) or 
17.2(1)(d) then ESI will be required to pay to BMR a termination fee equal to $20 
million; provided however if BMR terminates the Agreement pursuant to section 
17.2(1)(b), the termination fee is not payable if the failure to meet the deadline is solely 
due to the actions of a third party outside of ESI's control such as expropriation of 
property by a Governmental Authority.  

(3) For greater certainty, if BMR terminates this Agreement pursuant to any of sections 
17.2(1)(c), 17.2(1)(e), 17.2(1)(f), or 17.2(1)(g), the termination fee provided for in 
section 17.4(2) will not be payable by ESI to BMR. 

(4) Notwithstanding section 17.4(2), no termination fee will be payable by ESI to BMR if 
ESI terminates this Agreement pursuant to section 17.2(2). 

(5) Notwithstanding section 17.4(2), no termination fee will be payable by ESI to BMR, if at 
the date that BMR provides written notice of termination of the Agreement pursuant to 
section 17.2(1)(a), 17.2(1)(b) or 17.2(1)(d), the necessary grounds exist for ESI to 
terminate the Agreement pursuant to section 17.1 or 17.2(2), regardless of whether ESI 
has issued a notice of termination or not. 

18. DISPUTES RESOLUTION 

18.1 Disputes 
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(1) Any dispute, question or difference of opinion ("Dispute") between the Parties in respect 
of this Agreement, whether arising before or after the expiration of this Agreement 
(including any Dispute as to whether an issue is arbitral) must be resolved solely in 
accordance with this section 18. 

(2) If a Dispute arises then a Party who requires the Dispute to be resolved in accordance 
with this section 18 must give to the other Party a notice ("Dispute Notice") specifying 
the Dispute. 

18.2 Technical Committee to seek resolution and Mediation 

(1) If the Dispute is not resolved within 5 Business Days after a Dispute Notice is given by a 
Party to the other Party, each Party's nominees on the Technical Committee must 
negotiate in good faith with the other Party's nominees using their respective 
commercially reasonable efforts to attain a resolution of the Dispute. 

(2) If the Dispute is not resolved within 10 Business Days of the Dispute being referred to 
the Parties nominees on the Technical Committee, then the Parties agree to submit the 
Dispute to non-binding mediation and must agree upon an independent mediator and the 
process for mediation. If the Parties fail to appoint a mediator within 10 Business Days of 
the Dispute being referred to the respective Technical Committee Nominees, then any 
Party may submit the Dispute to arbitration in accordance with section 18.3. 

18.3 Arbitration 

(1) If the Dispute is not resolved in accordance with section 18.2, then the Dispute must be 
submitted to arbitration in accordance with the remainder of this section 18 and the 
arbitration will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolution of the Dispute. 

(2) A Party desiring arbitration under this Agreement must give a notice of arbitration to the 
other Party containing a concise description of the Dispute submitted for arbitration and 
the arbitrator must be selected as follows: 

(a) subject to section 18.3(2)(b), there will be 1 arbitrator appointed in accordance 
with the rules for the conduct of arbitration of the ADR Institute of Canada in 
effect at the date of commencement of the arbitration ("Rules"); 

(b) if the Dispute is in respect of an amount equal to or greater than $4 million 
(exclusive of interest or legal fees), then the Dispute will be heard and 
determined by 3 arbitrators appointed in accordance with the Rules; and 

(c) the arbitrator (or each of them as the case may be) must be independent of the 
Parties with expertise in the subject matter of the Dispute and otherwise be a 
suitably qualified person who is experienced in the Canadian base metals mining 
industry and who is knowledgeable about mining exploration and development in 
Canada. 

(3) The arbitrator may determine all questions of law and jurisdiction (including questions as 
to whether a Dispute is arbitral) and all matters of procedure relating to the arbitration. 
The arbitrator will have the right to grant legal and equitable relief (including injunctive 
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relief) and to award costs (including legal fees and the costs of the arbitration) and 
interest. 

(4) The arbitration must take place in Toronto, Ontario, or such other place as the Parties 
may mutually agree, and at such time as the arbitrator may fix. No later than 20 Business 
Days after hearing the representations and evidence of the Parties, the arbitrator must 
make his, her or their determination in writing and deliver 1 copy to each of the Parties. 

(5) The written decision of the arbitrator (or the majority of the arbitrators) will be final and 
binding upon the Parties in respect of all matters relating to the arbitration, the procedure, 
the conduct of the Parties during the proceedings and the final determination of the issues 
in the arbitration. There will be no appeal from the determination of the arbitrator to any 
court on any ground including, for greater certainty, any appeal on a question of law, a 
question of fact, or a question of mixed fact and law. Judgment upon any award rendered 
by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. 

(6) The costs of any arbitration must be borne by the Parties in the manner specified by the 
arbitrator in his or her or their determination, and until such determination is made by the 
arbitrator any expenses incurred by a Party in seeking resolution of a Dispute will be for 
its own account. 

(7) Insofar as they do not conflict with the terms of this section 18, the Rules will be 
applicable to the arbitration, and the arbitrator will have jurisdiction to take such action 
and make such orders as are contemplated in such Rules. 

18.4 Performance of Obligations During Dispute 

During the existence of any Dispute, the Parties must continue to perform all of their obligations 
under this Agreement without prejudice to their position in respect of such Dispute, unless the 
Parties otherwise agree. 

19. NOTICE 

19.1 Form of Notice 

(1) A notice, demand, consent or other communication given or made under this Agreement 
("Notice") must be in writing, signed by the sender and either left at the delivery address 
or sent to the addressee by mail, email or facsimile. Any Notice given or made under this 
Agreement will be deemed to be duly given or made: 

(a) in the case of delivery in person, when delivered; 

(b) in the case of delivery by mail, 5 Business Days after the date of posting (if 
posted to an address in the same country) or 10 Business Days after the date of 
posting (if posted to an address in another country); 

(c) in the case of delivery by facsimile, on receipt by the sender of a transmission 
control report from the despatching machine showing the relevant number of 
pages and the correct destination fax machine number and indicating that the 
transmission has been made without error; 
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(d) in the case of delivery by email, only when receipt is acknowledged by the 
addressee, 

but if the result is that a Notice would be taken to be given or made on a day which is not 
a Business Day in the place to which the Notice is sent or is later than 4:00 pm (local 
time) it will be taken to have been duly given or made at the commencement of business 
on the next Business Day in that place. 

(2) Each Party's delivery address, email address and facsimile number will be as specified in 
section 19.2 or as notified in writing from time to time to the other Party. 

19.2 Address for Service 

Any Notice given or made under this Agreement must be delivered to the intended recipient by 
hand, facsimile or email to the address, facsimile number or email address below or the address, 
facsimile number or email address last notified by the intended recipient to the sender: 

(1) to BMR: 

Attention: Gary Lewis 

Address: Level 36, Governor Phillip Tower 
1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia 

With a copy to: 

100 King Street, Suite 5600 
Toronto ON, Canada  M5X 1C9 

Email Address: [REDACTED] 

(2) to ESI: 

Attention: Robert Dunstan 

Address: 500, 727 7th Ave SW 
Calgary, AB Canada  T2P 0Z5 

Email Address: [REDACTED]  

19.3 Single Agent for Payment and Notice 

BMR BC and BMR Australia hereby appoint BMR Australia as their single agent for payment 
and notice required under this Agreement.   Payment or notice to BMR Australia shall constitute 
payment or notice to both BMR BC and BMR Australia.  In the event that BMR BC and BMR 
Australia wish to designate a new single agent for payment or notice, BMR BC and BMR 
Australia shall appoint, and shall deliver to the ESI, a document executed by BMR BC and BMR 
Australia that designates the name and address of the new single agent for payment or notice, and 
upon receipt by ESI, the new designation shall become effective.  If ESI makes a payment or 
delivers notice to an appointed agent in accordance with the provisions of this section 19.3, it 
shall be conclusively deemed that such payment or notice has been received by BMR BC and 
BMR Australia. 
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20. GENERAL 

20.1 Parties 

(1) If more than one person comprises a Party, each person: 

(a) is jointly and severally liable for the performance by the Party of the Party's 
obligations under this Agreement; and 

(b) must act only jointly in relation to the exercise by the Party of the Party's rights 
under this Agreement. 

(2) An obligation, representation or warranty in favour of more than one person is for the 
benefit of them separately and jointly. 

(3) A Party which is a trustee is bound both personally and in its capacity as a trustee. 

20.2 Relationship of Parties 

The Parties agree and declare that this Agreement is not and must not be construed as constituting 
an association, corporation, mining partnership, joint venture or any other kind of partnership 
and, except and until as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, nothing in this 
Agreement will be deemed to: 

(1) constitute a Party a partner, agent or legal representative of any other Party for any 
purpose whatsoever; or 

(2) create a fiduciary relationship between the Parties. 

20.3 No Holding Out 

No Party may, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, directly or indirectly use or 
permit the use of the name of another Party for any purpose related to the Property or this 
Agreement. 

20.4 Other Activities and Interests 

(1) The rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement are strictly limited to the 
Mineral Property, Mining Operations, Process Facility, and the Required Delivery of 
BMR Ore.  Except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, each 
Party may enter into, conduct and benefit from any business venture of any kind 
whatsoever, whether or not competitive with the activities undertaken under this 
Agreement, without disclosing those activities to the other Party or inviting or allowing 
the other Party to participate in that business venture. 

(2) Except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement and without limiting 
section 20.4(1), nothing in this Agreement will prevent or may be construed to prevent a 
Party from: 

(a) acquiring any Mineral Right or interest in any Mineral Right outside of Ontario 
and Quebec; 
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(b) acquiring any Mineral Right or interest in any Mineral Right within the Mineral 
Property that has been abandoned or surrendered in accordance with this 
Agreement; or 

(c) using, for any reason not related to the Mineral Property, any geological, 
geophysical, geochemical, metallurgical or operational concept, model or 
principle of any kind, 

and each Party will be free to so acquire and use with no obligation whatsoever to the 
other Party. 

20.5 Recording of this Agreement 

This Agreement, or a memorandum of this Agreement, will, upon the written request of a Party, 
be recorded in the office of any Governmental Authority identified in the written request of the 
requesting Party, in order to give notice to third persons of that Party's interests that arise under 
this Agreement.  Each Party agrees with the requesting Party to execute those documents that 
may be necessary to perfect such recording. 

20.6 Entire Agreement 

This Agreement: 

(1) is the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties on everything connected 
with the subject matter of this Agreement; and 

(2) supersedes any prior agreement or understanding on anything connected with that subject 
matter. 

20.7 Amendment and variation 

This Agreement may not be amended, modified, varied or supplemented except in writing signed 
by the Parties. 

20.8 Consents or Approvals 

Except where expressly specified otherwise in this Agreement, if the doing of any act, matter or 
thing under this Agreement is dependent on the consent or approval of a Party or is within the 
discretion of a Party, then the consent or approval may be given or the discretion may be 
exercised conditionally or unconditionally or withheld or delayed by the Party in its absolute 
discretion. 

20.9 Pre-Conditions 

Where in this Agreement a pre-condition is prescribed in relation to any right or benefit that a 
Party might become entitled to enjoy, the Party will only be entitled to the right or benefit if the 
pre-condition is satisfied. 

20.10 Waiver 

The Parties agree that: 



 
WSLEGAL\000001\00012\19776160v1   

Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement 

307432.00017/98819615.15 Page 48 of 68 
 

(1) a Party's failure or delay to exercise a power or right does not operate as a waiver of that 
power or right; 

(2) the exercise of a power or right does not preclude either its exercise in the future or the 
exercise of any other power or right; 

(3) a waiver is not effective unless it is in writing; and 

(4) waiver of a power or right is effective only in respect of the specific instance to which it 
relates and for the specific purpose for which it is given. 

20.11 Costs and Outlays 

Each Party must pay its own costs and expenses connected with the preparation, negotiation and 
execution of this Agreement including all legal, accounting and brokers or finders fees and 
disbursements relating to this Agreement. 

20.12 Manner of Payment 

Any payment to be made to a Party may be made by electronic funds transfer to that Party's bank 
as designated by that Party by notice from time to time.  That bank will be deemed the agent of 
the designating Party for the purposes of receiving, collecting and receipting such payment. 

20.13 Further Assurances 

Each Party must promptly at its own cost do all things (including executing and if necessary 
delivering all documents) reasonably necessary or desirable to give full effect to this Agreement 
and the transactions contemplated by it. 

20.14 Special Remedies 

Each Party acknowledges and agrees that: 

(1) any breach by it of section 14 (Assignment) or section 16 (Confidential Information) 
would constitute an injury and cause damage to the other Party which is impossible to 
measure monetarily; 

(2) monetary damages alone would not be a sufficient remedy for a breach of section 14 or 
section 16; 

(3) in addition to any other remedy which may be available in law or equity, a Party is 
entitled to interim, interlocutory and permanent injunctions or any of them to prevent 
breach of section 14 or section 16 and to compel specific performance of any one or more 
of those sections; and 

(4) any Party intending to breach or which breaches section 14 or section 16 hereby waives 
any defence it may have at law, in equity or under statute to such injunctive or equitable 
relief. 

20.15 Survival 
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Sections 2.4, 3.2, 9.4, 12, 10.4, 12, 16, 17.4 and 18  and all limitations of liability and rights 
accrued prior to completion, termination, or expiration of this Agreement will not merge on 
completion, termination, or expiration of this Agreement, but will continue in full force and effect 
after any termination or expiration of this Agreement as will any other provision of this 
Agreement which expressly or by implication from its nature is intended to survive the 
termination or expiration of this Agreement. 

20.16 Governing Law 

(1) This Agreement is solely governed by the law in force in Ontario and the laws of Canada 
applicable in Ontario without giving effect to the conflict of laws principles in Ontario 
and without reference to the laws of any other jurisdiction. 

(2) Subject to section 18, each Party: 

(a) irrevocably and unconditionally submits to and accepts the exclusive jurisdiction 
of the courts exercising jurisdiction in Ontario, and any court that may hear 
appeals from any of those courts, for any proceeding in connection with this 
Agreement, subject to the right to enforce a judgment obtained in any of those 
courts in any other jurisdiction; and 

(b) irrevocably waives any objection to the venue of any legal process commenced in 
the courts of Ontario on the basis that the process has been brought in an 
inconvenient forum. 

20.17 Violation of Law of another Jurisdiction 

If this Agreement is intended to be performed in more than one jurisdiction, and its performance 
would be a violation of the Applicable Laws of a jurisdiction where it is intended to be 
performed, this Agreement is binding in those jurisdictions in which it is valid and the Parties will 
use their reasonable efforts to re-negotiate and amend this Agreement so that its performance 
does not involve a violation of the Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction where its performance 
would be a violation. 

20.18 Conflicts of Interest and Corrupt Practices 

Each Party must comply with all applicable anti-corruption laws, including of Ontario or such 
other relevant laws of Canada and, where applicable, the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and 
the UK Bribery Act 2010 ("Anti-Corruption Law").  Each Party must not give or offer to give, 
receive, or agree to accept, any payment, gift or other advantage which violates Anti-Corruption 
Law. 

20.19 Severability 

(1) If anything in this Agreement is unenforceable, illegal or void then it is severed and the 
rest of this Agreement remains in full force and effect. 

(2) Where a provision of this Agreement is prohibited or unenforceable, the Parties must 
negotiate in good faith to replace the invalid provision by a provision which is in 
accordance with the Applicable Laws and which must be as close as possible to the 
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Parties' original intent and appropriate consequential amendments (if any) will be made 
to this Agreement. 

20.20 Successors and Assigns 

This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. 

20.21 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts.  Each counterpart is an original, 
but the counterparts together are one and the same document.  This Agreement is binding on the 
Parties on the exchange of counterparts.  A copy of a counterpart sent by facsimile machine or by 
electronic mail: 

(1) must be treated as an original counterpart; 

(2) is sufficient evidence of the execution of the original; and 

(3) may be produced in evidence for all purposes in place of the original. 

20.22 Execution – Authorized Officer to Sign 

Each person signing this Agreement as an authorized officer of a Party hereby represents and 
warrants that he or she is duly authorized to sign this Agreement for that Party and that this 
Agreement will, upon having been so executed, be binding on that Party in accordance with its 
terms. 

[Signature page follows] 
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EXECUTED AS AN AGREEMENT 

BATTERY MINERALS RESOURCES LIMITED
(AUSTRALIA CORPORATION) 

 ESI ENERGY SERVICES INC. 
(ALBERTA CORPORATION) 

     
     
By: "Gary L. Lewis"  By: "Robert R. Dunstan" 
 Authorized officer   Authorized officer 
     
 Gary L. Lewis   Robert R. Dunstan 
 Name   Name 
     
 Chairman and CEO   President & Chief Executive Officer 
 Title   Title 
     
     
 

 

BATTERY MINERALS RESOURCES LIMITED
(BRITISH COLUMBIA CORPORATION) 

  

    
    
"Gary L. Lewis"    
Authorized officer    
    
Gary L. Lewis    
Name    
    
Director    
Title    
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SCHEDULE 1 – MINERAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

[REDATED: List of mineral claims.] 
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SCHEDULE 2 –  DISCLOSURE 

As of the Effective Date, ESI has not obtained any authorization, approval, license, permit, or consent of 
any Governmental Authority or other third person regarding the construction or operation of the Process 
Facility. 

As of the Effective Date, BMR has not obtained any authorization, approval, license, permit, or consent 
of any Governmental Authority or other third person regarding Mining Operations on the Mineral 
Property. 

ESI is required to obtain approval of this Agreement by the Canadian Securities Exchange (on which the 
common shares of ESI are listed for trading) as a "change of business" within the meaning of Canadian 
Securities Exchange Policy 8. 

ESI is required to obtain approval of its minority shareholders (pursuant to under Canadian Securities 
Administrators Multilateral Instrument 61-101 – Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special 
Transactions) to complete the issue financing described in sections 5.1(1) and (2) of this Agreement. 
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SCHEDULE 3 – JOINT VENTURE TERMS 

 

1. JOINT VENTURE FORMATION 

This Agreement contemplates BMR (or an Affiliate of BMR) and ESI forming a joint venture 
that will be governed by the Joint Venture Agreement having, among others, substantially the 
terms set out in this Schedule 3.  The terms set out in this Schedule 3 are neither exhaustive nor 
complete, and may be amended by agreement between the Parties. 

2. DEFINITIONS 

Unless the context otherwise requires, in the Joint Venture Agreement: 

(1) "Approved Budget" means a budget of estimated Joint Venture Expenditure approved 
by the Management Committee relating to the carrying out of an Approved Program or 
otherwise to be incurred during the period to which an Approved Budget relates; 

(2) "Approved Program" means a program of Joint Venture Activities approved by the 
Management Committee; 

(3) "Cash Call Notice" has the meaning given in section 6.2; 

(4) "Chargee" has the meaning given in section 11.1; 

(5) "BMR Ore" means the Minerals extracted by BMR from the Mineral Property; 

(6) "Defaulting Participant" means a Participant which is in material breach of any of the 
provisions of the Joint Venture Agreement; 

(7) "Effective Date" means the date on which the Joint Venture was formed pursuant to 
section 13.1 of the Process Facility Agreement; 

(8) "Expenditure" in addition to cash expenditure includes costs, obligations and liabilities 
incurred or properly accrued but not yet met; 

(9) "Joint Venture Activities" means all and any activities directed to the achievement of 
the purposes of the Joint Venture as set out in section 3; 

(10) "Joint Venture Expenditure" means all Expenditure incurred under or in connection 
with the Joint Venture Agreement; 

(11) "Joint Venture Property" means: 

(a) the Process Facility; 

(b) the rights to delivery of BMR Ore pursuant to Process Facility and Cobalt Supply 
Agreement; 

(c) the Lease; and 
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(d) any other assets acquired for or in connection with the operation of the Process 
Facility by ESI or BMR or any of their Affiliates; 

(12) "Management Committee" has the meaning given in section 7.1; 

(13) "Mining Operation" means an operation directed to the treatment of ore to produce 
commercial quantities of saleable Product; 

(14) "National Instrument 43-101" means National Instrument 43-101 titled "Standards of 
Disclosure for Mineral Projects", as issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators, as 
amended from time to time; 

(15) "Non-charging Participant" has the meaning given in section 11.1; 

(16) "Non-Defaulting Participant" means a Participant other than a Defaulting Participant; 

(17) "Non-Operator" means any Participant which, at the relevant time, is not the Operator; 

(18) "Operator" has the meaning given in section 8.1(1); 

(19) "Participating Interest" means in relation to a Participant: 

(a) the proportionate interest (expressed as a percentage) of the Participant as tenant 
in common in the Joint Venture Property; 

(b) the right, subject to this Agreement, to take in kind and separately dispose of its 
proportion of all saleable Product produced by the Joint Venture under the Joint 
Venture Agreement; and 

(c) its proportionate interest (expressed as a percentage) of all other rights under the 
Joint Venture Agreement, 

subject to the obligations attaching to the foregoing and imposed on that Participant 
under the Joint Venture Agreement; 

(20) "Participant" means a party to the Joint Venture Agreement that has a Participating 
Interest; 

(21) "Product" means any Mineral in any form or compound whatsoever; 

(22) "Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement" means a written process facility and 
cobalt supply agreement dated May 17, 2018 between ESI, BMR and Battery Minerals 
Resources Limited (British Columbia); 

(23) "Security" has the meaning given in section 11.1; 

(24) "Selling Participant" means a Participant who desires or is compelled to sell, transfer, 
assign or dispose of the whole or any part of its Participating Interest; 

(25) a reference to a section is to a section of this Schedule 3; and 
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(26) words and expressions which are defined in the Process Facility and Cobalt Supply 
Agreement and not otherwise defined in this section 2 have the same meaning in the Joint 
Venture Agreement as in the Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement. 

3. JOINT VENTURE 

3.1 Scope of Joint Venture 

The Participants will associate themselves in and constitute, with effect on and from the Effective 
Date, a contractual joint venture for the following purposes: 

(1) to carry out operations at the Process Facility; 

(2) [to purchase BMR Ore in accordance with rights and obligations in Process Facility 
and Cobalt Supply Agreement;] 

(3) to sell the Product derived from the BMR Ore into the market the most favorable 
available terms. 

3.2 Dedication of Assets 

As of the Effective Date, each of the Parties dedicates, assigns and transfers to the Joint Venture 
its respective undivided right, title and interest in and to the Assets, which will become part of the 
Joint Venture Property and which will be held by the Operator in accordance with section 5.3. 

4. INITIAL PARTICIPATING INTERESTS AND JOINT VENTURE EXPENDITURE 

4.1 Participating Interests 

The Participating Interests of the Participants on the Effective Date will be: 

(1) BMR as to 75%; and 

(2) ESI as to 25%. 

4.2 Joint Venture Expenditure 

Upon the formation of the Joint Venture, the minimum Joint Venture Expenditure contributed by 
each Participant will be deemed to be: 

(1) BMR - $[Insert Dollar Amount]; and 

(2) ESI - $[Insert Dollar Amount]. 

5. RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF PARTICIPANTS 

5.1 Rights and Liabilities Several Not Joint 

As between the Participants the rights, duties, obligations and liabilities arising out of the Joint 
Venture will be several and not joint, it being the express purpose and intention of the 
Participants that the ownership of their respective interests in all Joint Venture Property must be 
as tenants in common in proportion to their Participating Interests and that all liabilities and 
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obligations arising out of Joint Venture Activities will be borne by the Participants in proportion 
to their respective Participating Interests. 

5.2 Participants not Fiduciaries 

Nothing contained in the Joint Venture Agreement will be construed as imposing any fiduciary 
duty on any Participant with respect to any activities carried out or decisions made as 
contemplated in the Joint Venture Agreement. 

5.3 Holding of Joint Venture Property 

All Joint Venture Property, whether acquired before or after the Effective Date, must wherever 
practicable be held by the Operator as a bare nominee and bare trustee, in trust, pursuant to the 
terms of the Joint Venture Agreement, for the Participants as tenants in common in proportion to 
their respective Participating Interests for the time being and from time to time. All Joint Venture 
Property held by the Operator must be held, used, dealt with or applied solely for the purposes of 
the Joint Venture or as otherwise permitted under the Joint Venture Agreement. Any Participant 
will be entitled to request, and the Operator must comply with any reasonable request so made, 
that a declaration of trust or other such documentation in a form satisfactory to counsel for the 
Participants, evidencing such a trust arrangement be prepared and executed by the Operator and 
the Participants. 

5.4 Right to Products 

Subject to the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement, each Participant will own and have the right 
to take in kind and separately dispose of and must take in kind a share proportionate to its 
Participating Interest of the saleable Product produced under the Joint Venture. 

6. CONTRIBUTION TO JOINT VENTURE EXPENDITURE 

6.1 Obligation to Contribute 

Subject to section 10.1, each Participant must contribute all Joint Venture Expenditure incurred in 
conducting Approved Programs and otherwise incurred as contemplated by Approved Budgets or 
otherwise incurred in a manner provided for in the Joint Venture Agreement in proportion to its 
Participating Interest on each date on which a contribution is due to be made. 

6.2 Timing of Contributions 

If contributions to Joint Venture Expenditure are required to be made by a Participant under the 
Joint Venture Agreement, then the Operator must issue a notice to each Participant ("Cash Call 
Notice") for each calendar quarter. Any Cash Call Notice must not be issued more than 40 
Business Days but not less than 30 Business Days in advance of the calendar quarter to which the 
Cash Call Notice relates. 

6.3 Operator's Cash Call Notices 

Subject to section 10.1, all contributions to Joint Venture Expenditure required to be made by a 
Participant under the Joint Venture Agreement must be made by that Participant paying to the 
Operator, on or before 30 days before the first day of the calendar quarter to which the Cash Call 
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Notice relates, the amount stated in the Cash Call Notice as being the amount due to be 
contributed by that Participant. 

7. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

7.1 Establishment 

A management committee must be established as soon as reasonably possible and within 1 month 
of the Effective Date to direct the Operator and all Joint Venture Activities ("Management 
Committee"). 

7.2 Number of Members 

The Management Committee must consist of a number of members which is twice the number of 
Participants for the time being. 

7.3 Appointment of Members 

The Participants must each appoint 2 of the members and at least 1 alternate member for the time 
being of the Management Committee and each Participant may remove any person so appointed 
by it and appoint another person in his or her place. Each appointment and removal of a member 
must be effected by notice in writing signed by an authorized officer of the appointing 
Participant.  An alternate member may attend all meetings and an alternate member may act in 
place of a Participant's appointed member in such member's absence. 

7.4 Quorum 

A quorum at a meeting of the Management Committee must comprise 2 members representing at 
least 2 Participants the aggregate of whose Participating Interests is not less than 50%. 

7.5 Votes 

The members appointed by a Participant will have between them 1 vote for each whole 
percentage point of their appointor's Participating Interest. 

7.6 Chairperson 

(1) A member of the Management Committee appointed by the Operator will be the chair of 
Management Committee meetings. 

(2) The chair will be entitled to appoint the secretary for the meeting.  The secretary of the 
meeting must take minutes of that meeting and circulate copies of the minutes to each 
member and each alternate member. 

(3) If there is a tie vote on any matter requiring a simple majority of the votes cast, then the 
chair will have a deciding vote. 

7.7 Decisions by Majority Vote 

Except where a provision of the Joint Venture Agreement expressly provides otherwise or 
requires a special resolution or a unanimous resolution, all questions before the Management 
Committee will be decided by a simple majority of the votes cast. 
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7.8 Unanimous Resolutions 

A unanimous resolution will be required for decisions relating to the following: 

(1) the incurring of a debt on behalf of the Participants as obligors to any Party or an 
Affiliate of a Party in any amount or to any other person in an amount in excess of 
$500,000 outstanding at any one time (otherwise than under an Approved Budget); 

(2) the giving jointly by the Participants of any mortgage, charge, guarantee or other form of 
security interest (whether direct or indirect) to secure the obligation of any person arising 
under the Joint Venture Agreement or otherwise in relation to Joint Venture Property; 

(3) any matter going to the fundamental operation of the Joint Venture or the relationship 
between the Participants except any decision that the Joint Venture be conducted by a 
Joint Venture Company; 

(4) any decision to permanently suspend or defer Joint Venture Activities or place any 
Mining Operation on an extended care and maintenance basis or to commence or 
recommence operations at a Mining Operation;  

(5) the making of a contract between the Participants as joint venturers and a Party or an 
Affiliate of a Party; 

(6) where the Operator is not a Participant, the making of a contract between the Participants 
as joint venturers and the Operator or an Affiliate of that Operator; and 

(7) the Operator's fee. 

7.9 Special Resolutions 

A special resolution of 75% will be required for decisions relating to the following: 

(1) subject to section 9.2, approval of programs and budgets; 

(2) material revision of an Approved Program or of an Approved Budget; 

(3) any Expenditure or commitment to Expenditure (whether capital or operating) by an 
amount in excess of 10% of the total Expenditure provided for in an Approved Budget; 

(4) the institution, defence, compromise or settlement of any court or arbitral proceedings 
involving the Joint Venture involving an amount in excess of $2,000,000; 

(5) the compromise or settlement of any insurance claim involving an amount in excess of 
$2,000,000; 

(6) where the Joint Venture is conducted by a Joint Venture Company, the appointment and 
removal of the senior officers of the Joint Venture Company including the chief 
executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operations officer and any resident or mine 
manager; 

(7) except as expressly provided otherwise in the Joint Venture Agreement, any decision to 
commence or prepare a feasibility study; 
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(8) any decision to establish a Mining Operation; 

(9) any decision to temporarily suspend or defer Joint Venture Activities or place any Mining 
Operation on a short-term care and maintenance basis; 

(10) approving all exploration, mining, milling, financial and other reports relating to the 
mining activities; 

(11) any decision to abandon or surrender the Property; 

(12) any decision to abandon or surrender, or any amendment to or waiver in respect of, any 
Mineral Rights which are comprised in the Property; 

(13) if applicable, the review and approval of annual ore reserve estimates prepared by the 
Operator, as appropriate for the purpose of National Instrument 43-101; 

(14) other than as otherwise set out in the Joint Venture Agreement, any decision to terminate, 
remove, appoint or replace an Operator or to enforce any of the provisions of the Joint 
Venture Agreement against the Operator; and 

(15) a change to the accounting procedure for the time being of the Joint Venture including 
the appointment and removal of auditors. 

7.10 Meetings of Technical Committee 

Management Committee meetings are to be held at least quarterly and are permitted by telephone. 

8. OPERATOR 

8.1 Operator and Removal of Operator 

(1) Subject to any agreement by the Participants otherwise, and to the creation of a Joint 
Venture Company, the Participant with the largest Participating Interest will be operator 
of the Joint Venture ("Operator") and will remain so unless the Operator's Participating 
Interest ceases to be the largest or the Operator resigns or is removed for default or is 
subject to an Insolvency Event.  

(2) A Non-Operator may refer question of Operator default to arbitration if it is outvoted on a 
Management Committee motion to remove the Operator for default. 

8.2 Operator Obligations 

(1) The Operator, among other usual and standard obligations, must keep the Assets in good 
standing and free of any Encumbrances, comply with Applicable Laws, maintain proper 
books and accounts and adequate insurance and operate according to good mining 
practices. 

(2) The Operator must conduct Joint Venture Activities in accordance with Approved 
Programs and Approved Budgets. 

(3) The Operator must deliver the following reports to the Management Committee: 
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(a) a quarterly progress report indicating the status of any Approved Program being 
conducted at the Mineral Property or Process Facility and disclosing any 
significant technical data learned or obtained in connection with such work, 
along with an estimate of the Expenditure incurred during that month; and 

(b) as soon as practical after verification by the Operator, a report in respect of any 
adverse events. 

8.3 Prohibitions 

The Operator must not, except with the prior approval of the Management Committee or except 
in an emergency or as necessary to protect property and persons: 

(1) knowingly enter into any contract or arrangement in connection with the Joint Venture 
with a Participant or an Affiliate of a Participant; 

(2) except where sufficient details are provided in an Approved Program or Approved 
Budget enter into any contract or subcontract involving a commitment to Expenditure, 
whether capital or operating, in excess of $2,000,000; 

(3) except where expressly contemplated in an Approved Program or Approved Budget, sell 
or otherwise dispose of any Joint Venture Property having a market value exceeding 
$2,000,000; 

(4) institute, defend, compromise or settle any court or arbitral proceedings or insurance 
claim involving an amount in excess of $2,000,000; or 

(5) except as necessary to comply with law or the requirements of any Governmental 
Authority having jurisdiction, suspend or curtail any Mining Operation. 

8.4 Indemnification of Operator 

Each Participant must indemnify the Operator from and against any Claim suffered, sustained or 
incurred by the Operator which arises out of or as a consequence of the performance by the 
Operator or its officers, employees or agents of the Operator's obligations under the Joint Venture 
Agreement. 

8.5 No Liability to Indemnify 

A Participant will not be liable to indemnify the Operator (whether under section 8.4 or 
otherwise) where any Claim arises out of or as a consequence of any fraud or gross negligence of 
the Operator or its Personnel. 

8.6 Deeming of No Gross Negligence 

An act or omission of the Operator or its Personnel: 

(1) at the direction of, or with the concurrence of, the Management Committee; or 

(2) unilaterally and in good faith by the Operator to protect life or property, 

will be deemed not to be gross negligence. 
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8.7 Operator's Fee 

The Operator may charge an appropriate fee for management of the Joint Venture, which fee will 
be determined by the Management Committee and must not exceed 10% of Joint Venture 
Expenditure. 

8.8 No Consequential Damages 

Except in the case of fraud or gross negligence and despite any other provision of this Agreement 
to the contrary, no Participant and its Affiliates (whether in its capacity as Operator or as holder 
of a Participating Interest) will be liable to any other Participant or its Affiliates for or in relation 
to any indirect or consequential loss, liability or damage, including: 

(1) loss of use of property which has not been physically lost, damaged or destroyed; 

(2) loss of reputation, goodwill or any opportunity; 

(3) business interruption, loss of actual or anticipated revenue, income or profits; 

(4) special damages, however arising and despite any knowledge, awareness, expectation, 
representation, reliance or dependency on the part of either Participant at the time of 
formation of the Joint Venture, under or in connection with it; 

(5) punitive or exemplary damages; or 

(6) restitution or restitutionary damages. 

8.9 Gross Negligence 

For the purposes of this section 8, "gross negligence" means wilful default or any act done 
recklessly or wantonly without regard for the consequences of that act. 

9. PROGRAMS AND PRODUCTION PROGRAMS 

9.1 Annual Programs and Budgets 

The Operator must submit annual programs and budgets for Management Committee approval.  
The proposed budget must contain quarterly Expenditure projections. 

9.2 Right of Participant to propose Program and Budget 

If the Operator fails to submit an annual program and budget with budgeted Expenditure equal to 
or greater than $100,000, then a Participant who is not the Operator may propose to the 
Management Committee an annual program and budget with budgeted Expenditure equal to or 
greater than $100,000.  If such a program and budget is approved and a Participant is the 
Operator and such Participant elects not to participate in the Approved Program and make 
contributions to the Expenditure required by the Approved Budget, then the Non-Operator may 
elect to become Operator of the Joint Venture for the purposes of carrying out that Approved 
Program.  Thereafter, the Participant with the largest Participating Interest will have the first right 
to propose an annual program and budget. 
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9.3 Operator's Authority 

The approval of a program and budget by the Management Committee will be authority for the 
Operator to undertake the Joint Venture Activities specified in and incidental to the program and 
to incur on behalf of the Participants the Joint Venture Expenditure estimated in and incidental to 
the budget but the Operator must not incur Expenditure in the performance of the Joint Venture 
Activities specified in an Approved Program and an Approved Budget in an amount which 
exceeds by more than 10% the total of the Joint Venture Expenditure estimated within an 
Approved Program and an Approved Budget except: 

(1) in an emergency, as considered by the Operator necessary to maintain and preserve the 
Joint Venture Property or to preserve or protect life, limb, property or the environment in 
respect of the Joint Venture Property; 

(2) to effect and maintain required insurances; 

(3) in accordance with a prior approval obtained from the Management Committee; or 

(4) as necessary to comply with any law or requirement of a Governmental Authority having 
jurisdiction where reference to the Management Committee is impracticable and until 
such reference becomes practical. 

10. DILUTION 

10.1 Election to Dilute 

Each Participant may, by notice in writing to the other Participant and the Operator given within 
10 Business Days after the approval by the Management Committee of a program and budget, 
elect: 

(1) not to contribute to the Joint Venture Expenditure to be incurred during the period to 
which that Approved Budget relates; or 

(2) to reduce its contribution to the Joint Venture Expenditure to be incurred during the 
period to which that Approved Budget relates by contributing less than the amount that it 
would, but for this section 10.1(2), be required to contribute under section 6.1. 

10.2 Consequence of Election 

If a Participant gives notice as permitted by section 10.1 then: 

(1) in the case where that Participant gives notice under section 10.1(1), it will not be entitled 
or obliged to contribute to Joint Venture Expenditure incurred from the commencement 
of the period covered by the Approved Budget in relation to which the notice was given 
until it becomes entitled and obliged to recommence contributing to Joint Venture 
Expenditure; 

(2) in the case where that Participant gives notice under section 10.1(2), it will only be 
entitled and obliged to contribute to Joint Venture Expenditure in the reduced amount 
specified in the notice given by it under section 10.1(2) until it becomes entitled and 
obliged to recommence contributing in full to Joint Venture Expenditure; and 
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(3) during the period for which a Participant is not entitled nor obliged to so contribute 
(either at all or in full), its Participating Interest will dilute. 

10.3 Dilution 

During any period in which the Participating Interest of a Participant is diluting Participating 
Interests of the Participants will be calculated as follows: 

PI = 100 x PTE 
TE 

where: 

PI is the Participating Interest of a Participant 

PTE is that Participant's Total Expenditure as at date the Participant elects not to contribute 

TE is Total Expenditure of all Participants 

10.4 Operator to Make Calculations 

If a Participant's Participating Interest is diluting in accordance with section 10.3, then 
calculations of Participating Interests must be made in each calendar quarter by the Operator at 
the same time as it prepares a Cash Call Notice in respect of a calendar quarter (and such a 
determination must also be made immediately upon a Participant, whose Participating Interest has 
been diluting, again becoming entitled and obliged to contribute to Joint Venture Expenditure). 
The Operator must, after having made such a calculation, notify the Participants of their 
respective Participating Interests and of the date on which the calculation of the Participating 
Interest was made by incorporating that information within the Cash Call Notice referred to 
above. 

10.5 Failure to pay Contributions to Expenditure 

A Participant's failure to contribute to the Joint Venture Expenditure after electing to contribute 
constitutes default and will result in dilution at double the rate provided in section 10.3. 

10.6 Purchase Option 

At any time, BMR will have the right to acquire ESI's Participating Interest in the Assets 
(collectively, the "Remaining Assets").  If BMR elects to acquire the Remaining Assets BMR 
and ESI will appoint an independent valuation firm to determine the fair value of the Remaining 
Assets as the purchase price (the "Purchase Price").  The Purchase Price shall be satisfied as 
determined by BMR in a combination of cash or shares of BMR.  If share consideration is paid, 
the shares of BMR would be valued on the basis of the average trailing 30 day volume weight 
average price of the publicly traded shares of BMR.  Any issuance of shares of BMR will be 
subject to meeting any regulatory requirements and will be issued in compliance with all 
applicable securities legislation. 
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11. ENCUMBRANCES 

11.1 Charging 

Each Participant may charge, mortgage, assign by way of security or otherwise encumber its 
Participating Interest if and only if the chargee, mortgagee, assignee or encumbrancee 
("Chargee") agrees in a legally enforceable manner with the other Participant ("Non-charging 
Participant") that the rights and interests of the Non-charging Participant in the Joint Venture 
Property will not be subject to or prejudiced by the charge, mortgage, assignment or other 
encumbrance ("Security") and that the Chargee and any liquidator, receiver, receiver and 
manager, assignee or transferee taking an interest in or relating to the Joint Venture Property 
under the Security or in the Participating Interest of the Participant granting the Security will be 
bound by the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement and will take subject to the rights and 
interests in the Joint Venture Property of the Non-charging Participant. 

11.2 No other Encumbrances 

Except as specified in section 11.1, no Participant may give or create any Encumbrance in or over 
its Participating Interest or the Joint Venture Property. 

12. ASSIGNMENT 

12.1 Assignment to Affiliates 

(1) Each Participant may at any time assign part or all of its Participating Interest to an 
Affiliate of that Participant as long as the Affiliate enters into an agreement with the 
remaining Participant on terms to its satisfaction including terms by which: 

(a) it agrees to be bound by the Joint Venture Agreement; and 

(b) if an Affiliate to which a Participant has assigned the whole or any part of its 
Participating Interest ceases to be an Affiliate of the assigning Participant it must 
immediately re-transfer that Participating Interest to the assigning Participant. 

(2) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Participants other than the Assignor, the 
Assignor remains liable for its obligations under this Agreement despite any assignment 
by the Assignor of any or all of its Participating Interest to an Affiliate. 

12.2 Assignment to Third Parties and Right of First Refusal [the timing and notice periods 
should track that for the ROFR in the Process Facility and Cobalt Supply Agreement or 
vice versa] 

Subject to section 12.4, any Participant may at any time and from time to time sell or assign all or 
part of its Participating Interest to a third party as long as: 

(1) the Selling Participant first gives notice to the other Participant of the consideration 
(which must be a cash consideration) for which and the other terms and conditions upon 
which it wishes to sell or assign following which the other Participant must for a period 
of 20 Business Days from the time of the receipt of that notice have the exclusive right 
and option to purchase that Participating Interest (or any relevant part of it) for the 
consideration and on the terms and conditions specified in the notice; 
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(2) the option granted by section 12.2(1) may be exercised by the other Participant however 
the whole of the offered Participating Interest must be taken up by the other Participant 
otherwise the selling Participant may proceed to sell the whole offered interest to the 
third party; 

(3) subject to the provisions of all Security (if any), if the option granted by section 12.2(1) is 
not exercised then the Selling Participant may sell or assign the whole or part of its 
Participating Interest (as specified in its notice under section 12.2(1)) to a third party for 
the consideration and on terms and conditions no more favourable than those specified in 
the notice to the other Participant under section 12.2(1) as long as the sale or assignment 
is evidenced in writing and to the extent consistent with those terms and conditions, 
completed within 60 Business Days of the expiration of the period of 20 Business Days 
specified in section 12.2(1); and 

(4) if the sale or assignment is not completed within the time specified in section 12.2(3) or 
any material alteration of the terms of the sale or assignment is proposed then the Selling 
Participant must not complete the sale or assignment after that time or as so altered 
without first having again complied with the foregoing provisions of this section 12.2. 

12.3 Pre-emptive Rights 

If a Participant receives a bona fide offer for the purchase or acquisition of the whole [or any part] 
of its Participating Interest which offer the Selling Participant desires to accept then the Selling 
Participant must, before unconditionally accepting the offer, notify the other Participant of the 
name of the offeror and of all of the terms and conditions of the offer and, if the consideration or 
any part of it is not in cash, of the cash value of the consideration or the relevant part of the 
consideration as determined by the Selling Participant and the following provisions will then 
apply: 

(1) within 5 Business Days after receipt of a notice under this section 12.3 the other 
Participant may object in writing to a determination of the cash value of the consideration 
as the subject matter of the offer and upon such an objection being made all of the 
Participants must seek to agree upon that cash value but if they cannot reach agreement 
within 5 Business Days after the date of objection, then that cash value will constitute a 
Dispute to be resolved in accordance with section 16.3 (the cost of which determination 
must be borne, if the cash value determined is less than that determined by the Selling 
Participant, by the Selling Participant and in any other case by the Participant which 
objects to the Selling Participant's determination); 

(2) the Participant other than the Selling Participant will have an option exercisable by notice 
in writing to the Selling Participant within 20 Business Days of the date of the Selling 
Participant's notice under this section 12.3 to acquire upon the same terms and conditions 
as are contained in the offer and for the consideration expressed in the offer or in lieu of 
any part of that consideration which is not a cash consideration, the cash value of it as 
determined or agreed in accordance with section 12.3(3), the Participating Interest of the 
Selling Participant (or the part of the Participating Interest which is the subject matter of 
the offer) as the case may be; 

(3) subject to the provisions of all Security, if the option granted under section 12.3(2) is not 
duly exercised, then the Selling Participant may, subject to compliance with section 12.4, 
within 5 Business Days after the expiry of the option accept the offer without any 
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alteration whatsoever and if it does so it must take all reasonable steps, subject always to 
the terms of the offer, to complete the sale and purchase thereby arising within 40 
Business Days after the date of acceptance; and 

(4) if the offer is not accepted within the time allowed in section 12.3(3) or any material 
alteration of the offer is proposed then the Selling Participant must not accept the offer 
after that time or as so altered without first having again complied with the foregoing 
provisions of this section 12.3. 

12.4 General Requirements 

No sale or assignment in whole or in part of a Participating Interest to a third person (including an 
Affiliate) will be effective unless and until: 

(1) the assignee agrees with the other Participant (in form and terms satisfactory to that 
Participant) to assume and perform the duties, liabilities, terms and conditions by the 
Joint Venture Agreement binding on the assigning Participant in relation to the 
Participating Interest being assigned; and 

(2) the assignee secures any and all necessary approvals of any Governmental Authority to 
that assignment. 

13. DEFAULT 

13.1 Defaulting Participant 

If a Participant becomes a Defaulting Participant the saleable Product to which it is entitled under 
the Joint Venture Agreement will, while it remains a Defaulting Participant, vest in the Operator 
upon trust for sale and any excess of proceeds and any unsold saleable Product will be paid and 
delivered to the Defaulting Participant when its default has been remedied and the Operator's 
costs of sale have been deducted. 

13.2 Continuing Default 

If, despite action taken under section 13.1, a Defaulting Participant continues to be in default 
(including, a default in respect of the payment of a contribution or other sum due in respect of the 
Joint Venture) and that default continues for 20 Business Days after a trust for sale arises under 
section 13.1 or, on a fourth occasion within any continuous period of 2 years, a Participant 
becomes a Defaulting Participant, then, at the expiration of the period of 15 Business Days after 
notice is given by a Non-defaulting Participant to the Defaulting Participant that either of the 
foregoing events have occurred, if the Defaulting Participant is then still a Defaulting Participant 
the Participating Interest (including the right to saleable Product of the Defaulting Participant) 
will vest in the Operator, in trust, for sale and the trust for sale under section 13.1 will cease.  
After a trust for sale arises under this section 13.2, the non-defaulting Participant will have an 
option to purchase the Defaulting Participant's Participating Interest for a price equal to the 
average of the independent valuations of the defaulting Participant's Participating Interest 
performed by 2 independent experts. If the option granted under this section 13.2 is not exercised, 
the Operator must use reasonable efforts to dispose of the Participating Interest held in trust for 
sale for the best price reasonably obtainable from a purchaser willing to comply with section 
12.4. 
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14. WITHDRAWAL AND WINDING UP 

No withdrawal by any means by a Participant or winding up of the Joint Venture without 
adequate payment of, or security for, reclamation and closure costs. 

15. AMENDMENT 

The Joint Venture Agreement may not be amended, modified, varied or supplemented except in 
writing signed by the Participants. 

16. OTHER 

16.1 Force Majeure 

Force majeure provisions substantially as in section 15 of the Process Facility Agreement. 

16.2 Confidentiality 

Confidentiality provisions substantially as in section 16 of the Process Facility Agreement. 

16.3 Dispute Resolution 

Dispute resolution provisions substantially as in section 18 of the Process Facility Agreement. 

16.4 Additional Provisions 

Such other provisions as may be customary and reasonable in mining ventures of this type. 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc., Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis and other information relating to ESI contained in this Annual Report are the 

responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting policies detailed in the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements and are in conformity with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (also referred to as “IFRS”) using methods appropriate for the industry in which the Company 

operates.  Where necessary, management made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the 

financial statements including estimates related to transactions and operations that were incomplete at 

year-end, the useful lives of assets, assumptions around future income tax calculations and the 

measurement of asset impairment losses.  Financial information throughout this Annual Report is 

consistent with the consolidated financial statements except as noted. 

Management ensures the integrity of the consolidated financial statements by maintaining a system of 

internal control.  The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that 

information required to be disclosed in reports is disclosed, processed and summarized and reported 

within specified time periods. Internal controls are monitored through self-assessments and are 

reinforced through a Code of Business Conduct, which sets forth the Company’s commitment to conduct 

business with integrity, and within both the letter and the spirit of the law. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent auditors, have conducted an examination of 

the consolidated financial statements and have had full access to the Audit Committee.  Their report 

appears on page 3. 

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee comprised of three independent directors as 

defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), and one director who is 

exempt from the independence requirements of NI 52-110, oversees management’s responsibilities for 

financial reporting.  The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and the independent 

auditors to discuss auditing and financial matters and to gain assurance that management is carrying 

out its responsibilities. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

signed “Robert R. Dunstan”  signed “Edward G. Rigaux”  

Robert R. Dunstan  Edward G. Rigaux 

President & Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 



April 2, 2018 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of 
ESI Energy Services Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc. and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 
December 31, 2016 and the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in  
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of ESI Energy Services Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Suncor Energy Centre, 111 5th Ave SW, Suite 3100, East Tower, Calgary, Alberta Canada, T2P 5L3 
T: +1 403 509 7500, F+1 403 781 1825, www.pwc.com/ca 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

(CAD thousands)  

As at 

note* 

    

December 31, 

2017 

  

December 31, 

2016 

ASSETS        

Current         

 Cash and cash equivalents 4   $ 5,761 $ 5,707 

 Short term investments 5    6,817  4,291 

       Accounts receivable 6    1,184  1,462 

 Prepaid expenses     115  88 

Total current assets     13,877  11,548 

Non-current assets:        

Property and equipment 7    22,515  26,749 

Total assets    $ 36,392 $ 38,297 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Current         

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    $ 1,002 $ 1,263 

 Deferred revenue     114  44 

 Income tax payable     145  80 

 Current portion of long term debt 8    535  2,022 

 Current portion of lease obligation     -  30 

Total current liabilities     1,796  3,439 

Non-current liabilities:        

Long-term debt 8    2,348  3,248 

Obligations under finance lease     -  20 

Total liabilities     4,144  6,707 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Share capital 9    40,457  40,457 

Contributed surplus 9    2,076  1,598 

Accumulated other comprehensive income     3,458  4,472 

Deficit     (13,743)  (14,937) 

Total shareholders’ equity     32,248  31,590 

Commitments 13       

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    $ 36,392 $ 38,297 

*   The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 8, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Approved by the Board of Directors,

signed, "Harold R. Zimmer"
Harold R. Zimmer
Director             

signed, "Robert R. Dunstan"
Robert R. Dunstan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

(CAD thousands) 

 

note* 

 Year Ended 

    December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

REVENUE          

Sales  11     $ 13,037 $ 8,101 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 

 

        

 Operating and maintenance          17      4,394  3,948 

 Depreciation and amortization          7      3,759  4,608 

 Selling and administrative          17      3,732  3,512 

Total costs and expenses       11,885  12,068 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS      $ 1,152 $ (3,967) 

Other items:          

 Impairment       -  (123) 

 Gain (loss) on disposal of property  

and equipment 

      446  39 

 Finance and other income       250  203 

 Finance costs       (166)  (302) 

       Transaction costs       -  (815) 

 Foreign exchange loss  12      (409)  (156) 

Net income (loss) before income taxes       1,273  (5,121) 

Income taxes (expense)            

 Current 10      (79)  (3) 

Total income taxes       (79)  (3) 

Net income (loss)       1,194  (5,124) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net 

income 

         

     Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation               

adjustments on foreign operations      

      (1,014)  (437) 

Comprehensive income (loss)      $ 180 $ (5,561) 

Basic earnings per share       0.03  (0.11) 

Diluted earnings per share       0.03  (0.11) 

*   The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 8, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

(CAD thousands) 
 

note* Share Capital 

Contributed 

Surplus Deficit 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2016  $ 40,207 1,598 (9,813)  4,909 $ 36,901 

Share Consideration   250 - -  -  250 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  (437)  (437) 

Net loss   - - (5,124)  -  (5,124) 

Balance, December 31, 2016  $ 40,457 1,598 (14,937)  4,472 $ 31,590 

 

Share based compensation 9  - 478 -  -  478 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  (1,014)  (1,014) 

Net income   - - 1,194  -  1,194 

Balance, December 31, 2017  $ 40,457 2,076 (13,743)  3,458 $ 32,248 

*   The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 8, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

(CAD thousands) 

   Year Ended 

    December 31, 

2017 

December 31, 

2016 

 note*         

Cash provided by (used in)          

OPERATING ACTIVITIES          

 Net income (loss)      $ 1,194 $ (5,124) 

 Items not involving cash:          

 Depreciation 7      3,759  4,608 

 Impairment       -  123 

 Stock based compensation 9      478  - 

 Gain on disposal of equipment       (446)  (39) 

 Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain)  12      532  146 

 Share consideration       -  250 

       Transaction costs       -  565 

 

 

      5,517  529 

Net change in non-cash working capital 15      566  1,130 

Cash flow from operating activities       6,083  1,659 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES          

 Proceeds on disposal of property & equipment       4,087  941 

       Purchase of property & equipment 7      (4,314)  (2,174) 

 Investments in GIC       (2,526)  (4,291) 

Cash flow used in investing activities       (2,753)  (5,524) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

 Proceeds on debt       422  89 

 Repayment of long-term debt       (2,762)  (1,848) 

 Repayment of finance lease obligation       (50)  (28) 

       Transaction costs       -  (565) 

       Net changes in non-cash working capital 15      (470)  470 

Cash flow used in financing activities       (2,860)  (1,882) 

          

Effect of exchange rate changes on  

cash and cash equivalents 

      (416)  (70) 

Increase (Decrease) in  

cash and cash equivalents  

      54  (5,817) 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

beginning of year 

      5,707  11,524 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

end of year 

     $ 5,761 $ 5,707 

*   The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 8, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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1.  Reporting entity 

Description of business 

ESI Energy Services Inc. (”ESI” or the “Company”) was incorporated as a numbered company under 

the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) ("ABCA") on February 22, 2001.  The Company's Articles of 

Incorporation were amended and the Company changed its name to "ESI Energy Services Inc." on 

September 12, 2001.  These consolidated financial statements comprise ESI and its subsidiaries, all 

of which are wholly owned (together referred to as the “Company”).    

 On September 29, 2016, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Exploratus 

Ltd. ("Exploratus") and 1994687 Alberta Ltd. ("Spinco").  The Arrangement was approved by 

written resolution of the ESI Shareholders on October 25, 2016 and the Exploratus Shareholders 

at a shareholders' meeting held on November 21, 2016.  The Arrangement resulted in New ESI 

having a public shareholder base to meet one of the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) listing 

conditions. ESI filed a Non-offering Long Form Prospectus with the Alberta Securities Commission 

on November 28, 2016.  The Company’s common shares were listed for trading on the Canadian 

Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  The shares trade under the symbol OPI.  A significant portion of the 

Company’s shares are owned by Yorktown Partners IV and Yorktown Partners VI.  

The Company operates under the name of Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder primarily in western Canada, 

the United States as well as other parts of the world, supplying (rentals and sales) backfill 

separation machines to mainline pipeline contractors and renewables and utility construction 

contractors as well as oilfield pipeline and construction contractors.  

The Company maintains its registered corporate and head office at suite 500, 727 – 7th Avenue 

SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 0Z5. 

2. Basis of presentation 

Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  

The comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year financial statement 

presentation.  Specifically: 

i) Foreign exchange gains and losses were formally presented as part of selling and 

administrative expenses, are now presented separately. 

ii) Expenses by Nature (Note 15)  

These reclassifications did not have an impact previously reported net earnings. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

April 02, 2018.   

3. Significant accounting policies 

Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except as specifically 

noted within these notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 

presentation currency. The functional currency of two of the subsidiary companies is the US dollar, 

and that of the parent and the other subsidiary company is the Canadian dollar.   
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Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of the 

Company and the entities it controls. Subsidiaries of the Company are ESI Pipeline Services Inc., 

Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder Inc., ESI Pipeline Services Ltd, and ESI Energy Services (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

all of which are wholly owned.   

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the investee. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained by the Company and 

deconsolidated from the date control ceases. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation. 

Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company or 

the respective subsidiary at the exchange rate in effect at the time of the transaction.  Monetary 

items are then translated into the Company’s functional currency at each reporting period at the 

exchange rates in effect at date of the statements of financial position.  Non-monetary items are 

translated at historic rates.  Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currency are 

translated at rates in effect at the time of the transactions.  Gains and losses on foreign currency 

transactions are included as a separate line item in the consolidated statements of operations and 

comprehensive income (loss). 

Foreign currency translation 

The Company’s non-Canadian subsidiaries functional currency is the US dollar, and therefore, 

assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the 

financial statement date and revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates 

for the period.  Translation gains or losses are included in other comprehensive income (loss). 

When the settlement of an intercompany receivable or intercompany payable is neither planned 

nor likely foreseeable in the future, foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the translation of 

those intercompany balances is considered a part of the net investment in the foreign operation 

and are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). 

Financial Instruments 

The company classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories. 

Classification Financial Instrument 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit 

or loss 
• None 

Loans and receivables                                                           • Cash and cash equivalents 

• Accounts receivable 

• Finance lease receivable 

Held to maturity investments • Short term investments 

Available for sale financial assets • None 
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Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost • Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

• Long term debt 

• Deferred revenue 

• Income taxes payable 

• Obligations under finance lease 

 

Loans and receivables 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three 

months or less. Short term investments are considered to be deposits that mature over more than 

three months.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 

Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 

purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. 

These assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment. Accounts receivables are reduced by provisions for estimated bad 

debts which are determined by reference to past experience and expectations.                                                                                                         

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction 

costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. The Company derecognizes a financial liability once its contractual 

obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. 

Obligations under a finance lease are initially recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its fair 

value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequently, the minimum lease 

payments made are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 

outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.   

Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement 

of financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts 

and intends either to settle them on a new basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

Fair value measurements 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 

values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses observable market data 

to the extent possible.  Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy 

based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows. 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e., prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
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If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 

fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level 

of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 

reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Capitalization, recognition and measurement 

The capital cost of an asset is the aggregate of its purchase price or construction cost, any costs 

directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs.  

For acquired assets, the purchase price is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any 

other consideration given up to acquire the asset.  Expenditures on major maintenance, 

inspection, and overhauls are capitalized when the item enhances the life or performance of an 

asset above its original condition.  Where an asset or part of an asset that was separately 

depreciated is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

replacement item will flow to the Company, the replacement expenditure is capitalized and the 

carrying amount of the replaced asset is charged to the statement of operations and 

comprehensive income (loss).  Routine costs incurred to repair or maintain property and 

equipment are expensed as incurred. 

When an item of property and equipment is disposed of or when there are no net future economic 

benefits expected from the continued use of the asset, the asset is removed from the accounts 

(derecognized) and any gain or loss arising on derecognition (calculated as the difference between 

net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item), is recognized in the statement of 

operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Depreciation 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful 

lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 

equipment. Padding equipment componentized assets consists of padding equipment add-ons 

such as elevators and conveyors. Due to the nature of these assets they undergo more wear in the 

earlier years and are depreciated using the declining balance basis.  

The method of depreciation and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for 

current and comparative years are as follows: 

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Straight-line 30-40 years 

Padding equipment non-componentized Straight-line 5-10 years 

Padding equipment componentized Declining balance 2.5-10 years 

Pipe layers Straight-line 5-10 years 

Major overhauls Declining balance 5-10 years 

Oilfield service equipment Straight-line 5-10 years 

Office furniture & equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 

Shop equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 
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Impairment evaluations 

Property and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized 

for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.  Value 

in use is the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant assets or Cash 

Generating Units (“CGUs”).  For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into 

CGUs that are the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  Impairment 

losses may be reversed in future periods if there are indicators of a reversal and the recoverable 

amount of a CGU has increased.  

Asset impairment tests may also require the estimation of the recoverable amount of the non-

financial asset or the CGU group, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 

value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding 

sales transactions conducted at arm’s length for similar assets, valuation appraisals, or observable 

market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based 

on a discounted cash flow mode which is derived from the Company’s budget. 

Leased assets 

Leases on terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at 

an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 

accounting policy applicable to that asset.  

Operating leases are leases other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognized 

an operating expense in the consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.    

Revenue recognition 

Rental revenue from padding machines, pipe layers and oilfield service equipment is recognized 

with the passage of time under month to month contracts, starting when the equipment is 

shipped, recovery of the consideration is probable and the amount of revenue can be measured 

reliably.  Upon commencement of the rental contract, customers are invoiced in advance for 

equipment and spare parts, and consumables. Spare parts and consumables are invoiced in 

advance for the full value of the spare parts and consumables delivered.  Payments for spare parts 

and consumables delivered are recorded as deferred revenue.  Upon return of the rented 

equipment, the customer is refunded the value of any spare parts and consumables returned, less 

a restocking fee.   

Revenue on the sale of spare parts and consumables related to rented or sold equipment is 

recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 

customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of 

goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, 

and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

Earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share (“Basic EPS”) are calculated by dividing net income attributable to the 

shareholders of the company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the period. 

Diluted earnings per share (“Diluted EPS”) are calculated by adjusting the weighted average 

number of common shares outstanding for dilutive common shares related to the company share 

based compensation plan. Net income attributable to the shareholder of the Company is the same 

for both the Basic and Diluted EPS calculations.  
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Share-based compensation plans 

Compensation expense associated with options granted under the Company’s share-based option 

plan is recognized in general and administrative expense over the vesting period of the options.  

Awards issued under the option plan are equity-settled awards, and therefore, the expense is 

offset to contributed surplus.  The Company measures the fair value of options at the date of grant 

using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  For options with graded vesting terms, fair value is 

determined for each vesting period as if it were a separate award.  An estimate of forfeitures is 

applied to the total options expected to vest that is trued up to actual forfeitures at each vesting 

date. 

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  It is recognized in the Statement of 

Income (Loss) except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized 

directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current income taxes 

Current income taxes comprise the expected income tax payable or receivable on the taxable 

income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the income tax payable or receivable in respect 

of previous years.  It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date. 

Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  

Deferred income tax is not recognized for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets 

or liabilities in a transaction other than a business combination. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 

temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which they can be used.  Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date 

and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 

realized. 

Use of judgments and estimates 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from 

these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates 

are recognized prospectively. 

Impairment 

The Company tests impairment of long-lived assets with determinate useful lives when indications 

of impairment exist. Application of judgment is required in determining if indicators of impairment 

exist and the recoverable value. 

An asset is considered impaired and written down only when the impairment test demonstrates 

that the carrying value is not recoverable.  The determination of recoverable amounts on any given 

asset is subject to significant estimates regarding the timing and magnitude of cash flows and 

appropriate discount rates for the value in use method.  Significant estimates relating to market 

value are needed when the fair value is used as the recoverable amount. 
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Leases and lease classification 

At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or 

contains a lease.  If an arrangement is determined to contain a lease then the Company must 

classify the lease as either an operating or a finance lease. Classification as a finance lease involves 

judgment over lease terms as finance lease criteria, including assumptions over the useful life and 

fair value of the leased asset and the determination of bargain purchase options. 

Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable are recorded when sales are made or services are rendered.  When it appears 

that the receivable may not be collected in full or part, an allowance is made and the receivable is 

reduced.  The allowance recorded is based on managements’ best estimate of the amount that 

will be collected. 

Depreciation  

Depreciation methods are based on management’s estimate of the most appropriate method to 

reflect the pattern of an asset’s future economic benefit expected to be consumed by the 

Company.  Among other factors, these estimates are based on industry standards and Company-

specific history and experience. 

                 Share-based payments 

The Company determines the fair value of share-based payments using a Black-Scholes option-

pricing model.  There are a number of estimates used in the calculation such as the expected future 

forfeiture rate, the expected period the share-based compensation is outstanding and the future 

price volatility of the underlying security.  The factors applied in the calculation are management’s 

estimates based on historical information and future forecasts and may vary from expectations. 

Deferred income taxes 

The recoverability of deferred income taxes is based on a number of assumptions, including 

estimating the future periods in which temporary differences and other tax credits will reverse, 

and the general assumption that substantively enacted future tax rates at the balance sheet date 

will remain in effect when differences reverse. 

Contingencies  

Contingencies are subject to measurements of uncertainty as the financial impact will only be 

confirmed by the outcome of a future event. The assessment of contingencies involves a significant 

amount of judgement, including assessing whether a present obligation exists, assessing factors 

that may mitigate or reduce the obligation, and determining a reliable estimate of the amount of 

cash out flow required to settle the obligation. The Company is required to both determine 

whether loss is probable and whether the loss can be reasonably estimated. The uncertainty 

involved with the time and amount at which a contingency may be settled may have a material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements of future periods to the extent that the amount 

provided for differs from the actual outcome.  
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Standards issued but not yet adopted 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards, potentially applicable to the Company.  

The Company has not applied the following new or amended standards in preparing these 

consolidated financial statements. 

• On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, replacing the 

existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  IFRS 9 

includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 

including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets and 

the new general hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on 

recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

• On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  IFRS 15 

establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 

revenue is recognized.  It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 

Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IFRIC 18 Transfer of assets from customers and IFRIC 

13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.  IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

• On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases).  IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidance 

in IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 requires the recognition of lease assets and of obligations on the 

balance sheet. For Lessees almost all leases will have to be treated as financial leases although 

lessor will still have the two classifications.  The standard is effective for years starting January 

1, 2019. 

The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments in its financial statements as 

of the effective dates.  The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting these 

standards on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.   
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4. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following: 

(CAD thousands) 
  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Cash   $ 1,566 $ 5,698 

Deposits    184  9 

GIC less than 90 days    4,011  - 

   $ 5,761 $ 5,707 

5. Short term investments 
(CAD thousands) 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Investment in GICs       

Redeemable   $ 252 $ 4,291 

Non-redeemable    6,565  - 

   $ 6,817 $ 4,291 

  (1.) US$ investment was converted using closing rate. 

 

Short term investment of $6,817,000 consists of Redeemable and Non-redeemable CDN$ and US$ 

Guaranteed Investment Certificate (GICs) held at two Canadian chartered banks at rates of interest varying 

between 1.10% and 1.40% depending on the term length and the currency of the investment. 

6. Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are comprised of the following: 

(CAD thousands) 
  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Trade receivables   $ 1,122 $ 1,925 

Allowance for doubtful accounts    -  (524) 

Other receivables    62  61 

   $ 1,184 $ 1,462 
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7. Property and equipment 
(CAD thousands) 

 

 

 Padding 

Equipment 

(including 

spare parts) 

 Pipe Layers  Land & 

Buildings 

 Other  Total 

COST 
 

         

At January 1, 2016 $ 31.248 $ 7,608 $ 6,933 $ 2,242 $ 48,031 

Additions  2,116  -  26  32  2,174 

Disposals  (2,033)  (1,320)  -  (13)  (3,366) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

(773)  -  (118)  (37)  (928) 

At December 31, 2016 $ 30,558 $ 6,288 $ 6,841 $ 2,224 $ 45,911 

Additions  4,267  -  8  39  4,314 

Disposals  (1,692)  (6,288)  -  (79)  (8,059) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

(1,708)  -  (211)  (146)  (2,065) 

At December 31, 2017 $ 31,425 $ - $ 6,638 $ 2,038 $ 40,101 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION         

At January 1, 2016 $ (11,419) $ (2,683) $ (1,504) $ (1,754) $ (17,360) 

Depreciation  (3,806)  (578)  (124)  (100)  (4,608) 

Impairment  -  (123)  -  -  (123) 

Disposals  2,089  558  -  2  2,649 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 215  -  31  34  280 

At December 31, 2016 $ (12,921) $ (2,826) $ (1,597) $ (1,818) $ (19,162) 

Depreciation  (3,415)  (146)  (127)  (71)  (3,759) 

Disposals  1,372  2,972  -  74  4,418 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 736  -  31  150  917 

At December 31, 2017  $ (14,228) $ - $ (1,693) $ (1,665) $ (17,586) 

NET BOOK VALUE           

At December 31, 2016 $ 17,637 $ 3,462 $ 5,244 $ 406 $ 26,749 

At December 31, 2017 $ 17,197 $ - $ 4,945 $ 373 $ 22,515 

 

As at December 31, 2017, included in padding equipment are assets under construction with a cost of $0.9 

million (December 31, 2016 - $0.3 million).  No depreciation was recorded for assets under construction.   

In March 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its remaining fleet of 8 pipe layers to a third 

party for gross proceeds of $3,500,000. The transaction closed on March 17, 2017. The Company also sold a 

mini-padder to a customer in the third quarter of 2017 for gross proceeds of US$210,000.  
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8. Long-term debt  
(CAD thousands) 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Term Loan (i)     -  1,138 

Mortgage – Leduc (ii)    2,624  2,982 

Mortgage – Phoenix (iii)    -  1,078 

Finance agreements (iv)    258  61 

Other    1  11 

Total long-term debt    2,883  5,270 

Less       

Current portion of long-term debt    535  2,022 

Net long-term debt   $ 2,348 $ 3,248 

 

The Company has mortgages outstanding with a Canadian chartered bank on its Leduc, AB property and 

minor obligations relating to the purchase of equipment. Further details are provided below: 

i) The term loan was used to repay a capital loan which was refinanced and bears interest at the bank’s 

prime rate.  The term loan was repaid in full on August 31, 2017.  

ii) Mortgage – Leduc consists of a mortgage on a property in Leduc, AB.  As at December 31,2016 there 

were two mortgages on this property. On October 26,2017 both mortgages were combined into a 

single mortgage facility. The Company is required to pay monthly installments of $23,000 plus interest 

on the facility at a fixed rate of interest of 4.75% for a three-year term. The mortgage has a five-year 

term, expiring on October 31,2022. 

iii) Mortgage – Phoenix consists of a mortgage on a property in Phoenix, AZ which was repaid in full on 

March 31,2017. 

iv) Finance agreement includes two loans relating to the purchase of two compact track loaders that were 

financed through the dealer in 2017. The loans are denominated in US dollars. The first loan which was 

obtained in March 2017 bears interest at a rate of 1.99%, and requires total monthly payments of 

US$5,253, expiring in February 2018. The second loan which was obtained in September 2017 bears 

interest at a rate of 2.25%, and requires total monthly payments of US$21,900, expiring in September 

2018. 

v) The Company has financial debt covenants related to the Leduc mortgage consisting of a minimum 

debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1. As at December 31, 2017, the Company was in compliance with 

the financial debt covenant.  

vi) The fair value of the long-term debt approximates the carrying value. 
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Debt obligations are repayable as follows: 

(CAD thousands) 
 

2018  $ 535 

2019   276 

2020   276 

2021   276 

2022   1,520 

  $ 2,883 

9. Share capital 

Authorized 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares with 

no par value. There are 45,000,792 issued and outstanding common shares.  

Issued and outstanding 

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016: 

 December 31,  

2017 

December 31,  

2016 

 Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Amount 

$Thousands 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Amount 

$Thousands 

Issued and outstanding, end of year     

Opening 45,000,792 40,457 44,686,722 40,207 

Issued - - 314,070 250 

Issued and outstanding, end of period 45,000,792 40,457 45,000,792 40,457 

 

As a result of the Plan of Arrangement in 2016, a share exchange of 0.7514 was determined and 

agreed upon by non-related parties for the valuation of the shares. The numbers of shares for all 

periods presented have been adjusted for this 0.7514 share exchange rate without a 

corresponding change in dollar amounts.  Earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect the 

impact of the share exchange.  

Share based payments 

As of November 28, 2016, the Company had an aggregate of 1,300,000 stock options issued and 

outstanding.  Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement (the “Plan”), all ESI Options were surrendered 

by the holders for nominal consideration and cancelled immediately prior to the effective date of 

the Plan.  

Pursuant to the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan adopted February 27, 2017, an aggregate of 

2,230,104 options have been granted to directors, officers and senior employees of the Company 
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to purchase ESI common shares at an exercise price of $0.50 per share.  The options granted vest 

over a period of two years and expire on February 27, 2022, five years after the grant date.   

  Number of 

Options 

Weighted Average Exercise Price $/Share 

Total Outstanding January 1, 

2016 

  1,730,104   0.86 

Granted   -   - 

Exercised   -   - 

Forfeited November 2016   (1,730,104)   0.86 

Expired   -   - 

Total Outstanding December 

31, 2016 

  -   - 

Granted February 2017   2,230,104   0.50 

Forfeited   -   - 

Total Outstanding December 

31, 2017 

  2,230,104   0.50 

 

No options were exercised between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2017. 

 Options Outstanding Exercisable Options 

Exercise Price 

Per Option 

Number 

of Options 

Remaining 

Contractual Life 

(Years) 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

Per Option ($) 

Number of 

Options 

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price Per 

Option ($) 

$0.50 2,230,104 4.50 0.50 743,368 0.50 

Total 

Outstanding 

December 31, 

2017 

 

2,230,104 

 

4.50 

 

0.50 

 

743,368 

 

0.50 

 

Share-based compensation is a non-cash item and is measured in accordance with a prescribed 

formula.  Share-based compensation expense recognized by the Corporation for the Stock Option 

Plan for the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 was $478,000 (2016 - $nil).  The fair value 

of stock options granted has been estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model with the following assumptions: 
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Period of Grant Twelve months 

ended December 31, 

2017 

Twelve months 

ended December 31, 

2016 

Number of options granted 2,230,104 - 

Exercise price $0.50 - 

Share price $0.40 - 

Expected life of options 4.50 - 

Expected volatility (%) 100 - 

Average risk-free interest rate (%) 0.68% - 

Expected dividend yield (%) 0% - 

 

Warrants 

The company has 1,996,274 warrants outstanding. Each warrant is exercisable to purchase one 

common share at an exercise price of $0.86. The warrants were initially due to expire on October 

19, 2018. In January 2018, the term of the warrants was extended to December 01, 2021. 

At December 31, 2017, the outstanding warrants have a weighted-average remaining life of 0.8 

years (December 31, 2016 – 1.8 years).  The subsequent extension increases the weighted-average 

remaining life to 3.92 years.    

Contributed surplus  

 (CAD thousands) 
 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Contributed surplus, beginning of year  $ 1,598 $ 1,598 

Stock based compensation   478  - 

Contributed surplus, end of year  $ 2,076 $ 1,598 

Basic and Diluted EPS 

As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016: 

 December 31,  

2017 

December 31,  

2016 

 Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Earnings Per 

Share 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Earnings Per 

Share 

Issued and outstanding, end of year     
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Weighted average number of common 

shares used in basic earnings per 

share 

45,000,792                $0.03    44,712,894 $(0.11)  

Dilution effect of options - - - - 

Weighted average number of common 

shares used in diluted earnings per 

share 

45,000,792 $0.03 44,712,894 $(0.11)  

For the year ended December 31, 2017, 4,226,378 options and warrants were excluded from the 

calculation of diluted earnings per share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive (2016 – 

1,191,667) 

10. Income Taxes 

The components of income tax expense are: 

(CAD thousands) 

For the year ended December 31,  2017 2016 

Current taxes expense (recovery)       

Current year   $ 79 $ 3 

Deferred tax expense (recovery)       

Current year    0  0 

Total income tax expense   $ 79 $ 3 

The income tax expense differs from that expected by applying the combined federal, provincial and state 

income tax rate of 27% (2016 -27%) to income before income taxes for the following reasons: 

 

(CAD thousands) 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2017 2016 

Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 1,273 $ (5,121) 

Effective income tax expense 

(recovery)  

at statutory rate 

   344  (1,383) 

Permanent differences    131  1 

Adjustment from prior year filings    (1,290)  (194) 

Other    377  (94) 

Change in unrecognized asset    517  1,673 

Net provision for income taxes   $ 79 $ 3 
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(CAD thousands)   
 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Deferred tax balances       

Non-capital loss carry forwards   $ 6,875 $ 10,752 

Property, plant and equipment    (1,664)  (3,577) 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)    (136)  (376) 

Other    84  125 

Capital leases    14  14 

Deferred Income Tax Asset not 

recognized 

   (5,173)  (6,938) 

Deferred tax asset (liability)   $ - $ - 

 

The Company has incurred cumulative non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately 

$9.4 million (2016 - $9.9 million) that are available to reduce Canadian taxable income in future years and 

expire commencing in 2029.  

On December 22, 2017, the United States passed the Tax Cut and Jobs Act which reduces the Federal 

corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% starting January 1, 2018. 

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries have incurred cumulative non-capital losses for foreign income tax 

purposes of approximately USD$11.8 million (2016 - USD $22 million) that are available to reduce taxable 

income in future years.  These losses expire between the years 2022 through 2032. 

The deductible temporary difference does not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets have 

not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be 

available against which the Company can utilize the benefits they are from. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, $nil of deferred income tax recovery was recognized as compared 

to $nil in 2016.  

11. Revenue 

Revenue is comprised of the following. 

(CAD thousands)   
 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Padding machines   $ 12,578 $ 7,129 

Pipe layers    135  245 

Oil field services equipment    323  439 

Machine sales    -  288 

   $ 13,037 $ 8,101 
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12. Financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of cash and 

cash equivalents, accounts receivable, finance leases receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 

obligations under finance lease, line of credit and long-term debt.  The fair values of financial instruments 

included in the consolidated statement of financial position, except long-term debt, approximate their 

carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments.  The carrying value of long-term debt 

approximates its fair value. 

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Interest rate risk 

• Foreign currency risk 

• Liquidity risk 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Company’s 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.  Further quantitative disclosures are 

included throughout these financial statements. 

Credit risk and customer concentration 

The Company assesses the credit worthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis and monitors 

the amounts and aging of outstanding accounts receivable, and when necessary, records an 

allowance for doubtful amounts.  The following table summarizes the aging of the Company’s 

accounts receivable: 

 (CAD thousands) 
 

  December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Within 30 days   $ 838 $ 717 

31 to 60 days    300  506 

61 to 90 days    12  64 

Over 90 days    34  699 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   -  (524) 

   $ 1,184 $ 1,462 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, $13 million (December 31, 2016 - $5.5 million) of revenue 

was derived from eleven (2016 – eight) customers that represented 82% (2016 - 68%) of the 

Company revenue.  As at December 31, 2017, $270 thousand (December 31, 2016 - $894 

thousand) from these customers was included in accounts receivable. 

Interest rate risk 

As at December 31, 2017, 100% (December 31, 2016 – 73%) of the Company’s outstanding debt 

was subject to fixed rates of interest. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, a 1% change in interest rates would have had the following 

impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss. 
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   (CAD thousands) 
 

  2017 2016 

1% increase in interest rates  $ - $ 22 

1% decrease in interest rates  $ - $ (22) 

Foreign currency risk 

A portion of the Company’s operations are denominated in United States dollars.  The Company 

does not use derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign currency exposure.  Fluctuations 

in foreign exchange rates could negatively affect the results from operations.  The Company does 

not have exposure to any highly inflationary foreign currencies. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, a 1% change in the value of foreign currencies would have 

had the following impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss.  

                       (CAD thousands) 
 

   2017 2016 

1% increase in the value of the US dollar $ 38 $ 1 

1% decrease in the value of the US dollar $ (38) $ (1) 

 

Foreign exchange loss   

The following table details the foreign exchange loss as presented on the consolidated statements 

of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  

                       (CAD thousands) 
 

For the year ended December 31   2017 2016 

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange $ 532 $ 146 

Realized (gain) loss on foreign exchange   (123)  10 

 $ 409 $ 156 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the exposure of the Company to the risk of being unable to meet its financial 

obligations as they come due.  The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and reviewing 

actual and forecasted cash flows to ensure there are available cash resources to meet these needs.   

The Company expects that cash and cash equivalents, and cash flow from operations, together 

with existing and available credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund its presently anticipated 

requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets. 

The following maturity analysis shows the remaining contractual maturities for the Company’s 

financial liabilities, including future lease payments: 
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 (CAD thousands) 
 

December 31, 2017 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,002 $ - $ - 

Income tax payable  145  -  - 

Deferred revenue  114  -  - 

Loans and borrowings (Note 8)  535  2,348  - 

 $ 1,796 $ 2,348 $ - 

  

  
                         (CAD thousands) 

December 31, 2016 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,263 $ - $ - 

Income tax payable  80  -  - 

Deferred revenue  44  -  - 

Obligations under finance lease  30  20  - 

Loans and borrowings (Note 8)  2,022  2,765  483 

 $ 3,439 $ 2,785 $ 483 

13. Commitments  

The Company has commitments under various operating lease agreements relating to premises and 

equipment aggregating approximately $352 thousand and $27 thousand, (December 31, 2016 - $511 

thousand and $15 thousand) respectively with future minimum payments as at December 31, 2017, as 

follows: 

(CAD thousands) 
 

2018  $  173 

2019    162 

2020    43 

2021    1 

  $  379 

14. Capital Disclosures  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to exercise financial discipline, and to deliver positive 

returns to its shareholders. The Company may make future adjustments to its capital management strategy 

in light of changing economic conditions resulting from the challenges associated with operating in a cyclical, 

commodity price influenced industry. 
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The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, operating lines of credit and 

long-term debt, net of cash, and cash equivalents. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the 

Company may from time to time adjust its capital spending to manage the level of its borrowings or may 

revise the terms of its operating lines of credit to support future growth initiatives.  The Company may also 

consider additional long-term borrowings or equity financing.  

   (CAD thousands)   

For the year ended 

December 31, 

  2017 2016 

Long term debt $ 2,883 $ 5,270 

Shareholders’ equity 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 32,248 

(5,761) 

 31,590 

(5,707) 

Total capitalization $ 29,370 $ 31,153 

15. Supplementary cash flow information 

Change in non-cash working capital balances 

                         (CAD thousands) 
 

 

 

 

 

For the year ended 

December 31,  

  2017 2016 

    

Current assets       

 Accounts receivable   $ 298 $ 1,504 

 Prepaid expenses    (28)  27 

Current liabilities    

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (322)  169 

 Income taxes payable (recoverable)   72  (83) 

 Deferred revenue    76  (17) 

Net change in non-cash working capital  $ 96 $ 1,600 

Changes in non-cash working capital 

relating to: 

     

     Operating   566  1,130 

     Financing   (470)  470 

   96  1,600 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cash flows arising from financing activities:  

 
(CAD thousands) 

 Current 

Portion of 

Finance 

Lease 

Long Term 

Portion of 

Finance Lease 

Current 

Portion of 

Long Term 

Debt 

Long Term Debt 

As at January 01, 2016 $ 28 $ 50 $ 5,908 $ 1,120 

Changes from cash flows:         

Proceeds on Debt  -  -  -  89 

Repayments – long-term debt   -  -  (1,848)  - 

Repayments – finance lease 

obligation  

 -  (28)  -  - 

Non-cash changes:         

Reclassification of the current 

portion 

 2  (2)  (2,038)  2,039 

As at December 31, 2016 $ 30 $ 20 $ 2,022 $ 3,248 

Changes from cash flows:         

Proceeds on long-term debt  -  -  -  422 

Repayments – long-term debt  -  -  (2,022)  (740) 

Repayments – finance lease 

obligation 

 (30)  (20)  -  - 

Non-cash changes   -  -  -  - 

Foreign exchange revaluation   -  -  -  (47) 

Reclassification of the current 

portion 

 -  -  535  (535) 

As at December 31, 2017 $ - $ - $ 535 $ 2,348 

16. Related party transactions 

Principal subsidiaries 

As at December 31,2017, details of ESI’s principal operating subsidiaries, which are each 100% 

wholly owned, are as follows:      

 

 

 

Country of operation 

Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder Inc.    United States 

ESI Pipeline Services Ltd.    Canada 
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Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following: 

  (CAD thousands) 
 

 

note 

December 31, 

 2017 

December 31,  

2016 

Salaries and directors’ fees   $ 1,039 $ 1,167 

Share based compensation    478  - 

   $ 1,517 $ 1,167 

There have been no other transactions with key management and officers during the year.  

No amounts were owing from or owed to officers and directors of the company. 

17. Expenses by nature  

The Company presents certain expenses in the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss 

by function. For example, freight associated with a job site would be allocated to operating expenses 

whereas freight relating to office equipment would go to selling, general and administrative. The following 

table presents those expenses by nature.   

 (CAD thousands) 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2017  2016  

  Operating  Selling and 

administrative  

 Operating  Selling and 

administrative 

Employee costs $ 1,608 $ 1,648 $ 1,555 $ 1,944 

Repairs and maintenance  1,027  112  1,102  125 

Freight and consumables  745  5  482  5 

Insurance  -  354  -  414 

Professional services  1  318  5  184 

Travel and promotion   107  253  56  267 

Rent  -  154  -  171 

Utilities and property taxes  230  7  184  41 

Share based compensation  -  478  -  - 

Other  676  403  564  360 

 $ 4,394 $ 3,732 $ 3,948 $ 3,512 

18. Geographical disclosure  

As at December 31, 2017, The Company’s non-current assets related to the U.S. foreign operations was 

$16.75 million (December 31, 2016 - $17.16 million). For the year ended December 31, 2017, ESI’s revenue 

related to the U.S. foreign operations was $11.89 million (December 31, 2016 - $7.42 million).  
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc., Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis and other information relating to ESI contained in this Annual Report are the 

responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting policies detailed in the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements and are in conformity with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (also referred to as “IFRS”) using methods appropriate for the industry in which the Company 

operates.  Where necessary, management made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the 

financial statements including estimates related to transactions and operations that were incomplete at 

year-end, the useful lives of assets, assumptions around future income tax calculations and the 

measurement of asset impairment losses.  Financial information throughout this Annual Report is 

consistent with the consolidated financial statements except as noted. 

Management ensures the integrity of the consolidated financial statements by maintaining a system of 

internal control.  The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that 

information required to be disclosed in reports is disclosed, processed and summarized and reported 

within specified time periods. Internal controls are monitored through self-assessments and are 

reinforced through a Code of Business Conduct, which sets forth the Company’s commitment to conduct 

business with integrity, and within both the letter and the spirit of the law. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent auditors, have conducted an examination of 

the consolidated financial statements and have had full access to the Audit Committee.  Their report 

appears on page 3. 

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee comprised of three independent directors as 

defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”), and one director who is 

exempt from the independence requirements of NI 52-110, oversees management’s responsibilities 

for financial reporting.  The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and the independent 

auditors to discuss auditing and financial matters and to gain assurance that management is carrying 

out its responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

signed “Robert R. Dunstan”  signed  “Edward G. Rigaux”  

Robert R. Dunstan  Edward G. Rigaux 

President & Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 
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 April 26, 2017  

  

Independent Auditor’s Report  

  

To the Shareholders of 
ESI Energy Services Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc. and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss), statement of changes in 
shareholder’s equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.  

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP   

111 5
th

 Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3  

T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825   

  

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.  
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Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of ESI Energy Services Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2016 and their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  

  

Revision of Comparative Information  

The financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2015 (prior to the 
revision of the comparative information described in Note 2.2 to the financial statements) were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on October 27, 2016.   

As part of our audit of the financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc. for the year ended December 

31, 2016, we also audited the adjustments described in Note 2.2 that were applied to revise the financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.  In our opinion, such adjustments were appropriate 

and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 

financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2015 other than with 

respect to the adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance 

on the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 taken as a whole.   

  

  

 Chartered Professional Accountants  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

(CAD thousands)  

As at 

note* 

    

December 31, 

2016 

 Revised 

December 31, 

2015 

ASSETS     
   

Current         

 Cash and cash equivalents 4   $ 5,707 $ 11,524 

 Short term investments 5    4,291  - 

       Accounts receivable 6    1,462  1,405 

 Finance leases receivable 7    -  1,660 

 Prepaid expenses     88  136 

Total current assets     11,548  14,725 

Non-current assets:        

Property and equipment 8    26,749  30,671 

Total assets    $ 38,297 $ 45,396 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Current         

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13   $ 1,263 $ 1,156 

 Deferred revenue     44  60 

 Income tax payable     80  173 

 Current portion of long term debt 9    2,022  5,908 

 Current portion of lease obligation 10    30  28 

Total current liabilities     3,439  7,325 

Non-current liabilities:        

Long-term debt 9    3,248  1,120 

Obligations under finance lease 10    20  50 

Total liabilities     6,707  8,495 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Share capital 11    40,457  40,207 

Contributed surplus 11    1,598  1,598 

Accumulated other comprehensive income     4,472  4,909 

Deficit     (14,937)  (9,813) 

Total shareholders’ equity     31,590  36,901 

Commitments 14       

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    $ 38,297 $ 45,396 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 9, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Approved by the Board of Directors, 

signed “Harold R. Zimmer”  signed “Robert R. Dunstan”  

Harold R. Zimmer  Robert R. Dunstan 

Director  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

(CAD thousands) 

 

note* 

 Year Ended 
    December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 

2015 

REVENUE          

Sales  13     $ 8,101 $ 11,179 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
 

        

 Operating and maintenance 
 

     3,948  4,134 

 Depreciation and amortization 
 

     4,608  5,506 

 Selling and administrative 
17 

     3,668  2,106 

Total costs and expenses       12,224  11,746 

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS      $ (4,123) $ (567) 

Other items:          

 Impairment 8      (123)  (1,100) 

 Gain (loss) on disposal of property  

and equipment 

      39  214 

 Finance and other income       203  95 

 Finance costs       (302)  (733) 

 Transaction costs 19      (815)  - 

Loss before income taxes       (5,121)  (2,091) 

Income taxes (expense)            

 Current       (3)  (185) 

 Deferred       -  159 

Total income taxes       (3)  (26) 

Net loss       (5,124)  (2,117) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net 

income 

         

     Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation               

adjustments on foreign operations      

      (437)  3,098 

Comprehensive income (loss)      $ (5,561) $ 981 

Basic earnings per share       (0.11)  (0.05) 

Diluted earnings per share         (0.11)    (0.05) 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 9, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

(CAD thousands) 
 

note* Share Capital 

Contributed 

Surplus Deficit 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance at  January 1, 2015  $ 40,207 1,598 (7,696)  1,811 $ 35,920 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  3,098  3,098 

Net loss   - - (2,117)  -  (2,117) 

Balance, December 31, 2015  $ 40,207 1,598 (9,813)  4,909 $ 36,901 

 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  (437)  (437) 

Share Consideration   250 - -  -  250 

Net loss   -  (5,124)  -  (5,124) 

Balance, December 31, 2016 11 $ 40,457 1,598 (14,937)  4,472 $ 31,590 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 9, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

(CAD thousands) 

   Year Ended 

  December 31, 

2016 

December 31, 

2015 

 note*         

Cash provided by (used in)      
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES          

 Net loss      $ (5,124) $ (2,117) 

 Items not involving cash:          

 Depreciation 8      4,608  5,506 

 Impairment 8      123  1,100 

 Deferred income taxes 12      -  (159) 

 Gain on disposal of equipment       (39)  (214) 

 Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain)        146  (1,506) 

 Share consideration 19      250  - 

       Transaction costs 19      565  - 

Funds flow from operations       529  2,610 

Net change in non-cash working capital 16      1,130  (1,388) 

Cash flow from operating activities       1,659  1,222 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES          

 Proceeds on disposal of property & equipment       941  2,655 

       Purchase of property & equipment       (2,174)  (4,663) 

 Investments in GIC 5      (4,291)  - 

Cash flow used in investing activities       (5,524)  (2,008) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

 Proceeds on debt       89  - 

 Repayment of long-term debt       (1,848)  (1,974) 

 Repayment of finance lease obligation       (28)  (953) 

       Transaction costs 19      (565)  - 

       Net changes in non-cash working capital 16      470  - 

Cash flow from financing activities       (1,882)  (2,927) 

          

Effect of exchange rate changes on  

cash and cash equivalents 

      (70)  719 

Decrease in  

cash and cash equivalents  

      (5,817)  (2,994) 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

beginning of year 

      11,524  14,518 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

end of year 

     $ 5,707 $ 11,524 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page 9, are an integral part of the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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1.  Reporting entity 

 Description of business 1.1.

ESI Energy Services Inc. (”ESI” or the “Company”) was incorporated as a numbered company 

under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) ("ABCA") on February 22, 2001.  The Company's 

Articles of Incorporation were amended and the Company changed its name to "ESI Energy 

Services Inc." on September 12, 2001.  These consolidated financial statements comprise ESI and 

its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned (together referred to as the “Company”).    

 On September 29, 2016, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Exploratus 

Ltd. ("Exploratus") and 1994687 Alberta Ltd. ("Spinco").  The Arrangement was approved by 

written resolution of the ESI Shareholders on October 25, 2016 and the Exploratus Shareholders 

at a shareholders' meeting held on November 21, 2016.  The Arrangement resulted in New ESI 

having a public shareholder base to meet one of the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) listing 

conditions. ESI filed a Non-offering Long Form Prospectus with the Alberta Securities Commission 

on November 28, 2016.  The Company’s common shares were listed for trading on the Canadian 

Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  The shares trade under the symbol OPI.  A significant portion of the 

Company’s shares are owned by Yorktown Partners IV and Yorktown Partners VI.  

The Company currently operates in most provinces in western Canada as well as in the United 

States of America.  The Company, through its operating subsidiaries, ESI Pipeline Services Ltd. 

("ESIPSL") and Ozzie's Pipeline Padder, Inc. ("OPI"), supplies (rentals and sales) backfill separation 

machines ("Padding Machines") to mainline pipeline contractors and renewables and utility 

construction contractors as well as oilfield pipeline and construction contractors.  

The Company maintains its registered corporate and head office at suite 500, 727 – 7th Avenue 

SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 0Z5. 

2. Basis of presentation 

 Statement of compliance 2.1.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board.  The comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year financial 

statement presentation. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

April 26, 2017. 

 Revision to prior period financial statements 2.2.

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, 

the Company identified an error related to OPI’s spare parts that understated their value in the 

amount of US$964,000.  The Company assessed the error and concluded that the error was not 

material to any of its previously issued financial statements as is not expected to be material to 

the 2016 results, either individually or in aggregate.  However, the Company chose to revise its 

previously issued consolidated financial statements to correctly present comparative financial 

statement balances.  The following revision was made to property and equipment and retained 

earnings to correct this error.   

 (CAD thousands)   Dec 31, 2015 Adjustment Revised Dec 31, 2015 

Property and equipment  29,335  1,334  30,671   

Retained earnings (deficit)  (10,806)  993  (9,813)  

Accumulated other         

 comprehensive income  (4,568)  (341)  (4,909) 
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This revision was non-cash related and had no effect on the consolidated income statement, the 

earnings per share or cash flow for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016.     

3. Significant accounting policies 

 Basis of measurement 3.1.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except as 

specifically noted within these notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Functional and presentation currency 3.2.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 

Company’s presentation currency. The functional currency of two of the subsidiary companies is 

the US dollar, and that of the parent and the other subsidiary company is the Canadian dollar.   

 Basis of consolidation 3.3.

Subsidiaries 

Included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of the 

subsidiaries, ESI Pipeline Services Inc., Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder Inc., ESI Pipeline Services Ltd, and 

ESI Energy Services (Australia) Pty Ltd. all of which are wholly owned.   

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-company balances and transactions are eliminated. 

 Use of judgments and estimates 3.4.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from 

these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates 

are recognized prospectively. 

Judgments 
Impairment 

The Company tests impairment of long-lived assets with determinate useful lives when 

indications of impairment exist. Application of judgment is required in determining if indicators 

of impairment exist and the recoverable value. 

Leases and lease classification 

At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or 

contains a lease.  If an arrangement is determined to contain a lease then the Company must 

classify the lease as either an operating or a finance lease. Classification as a finance lease 

involves judgment over lease terms as finance lease criteria, including assumptions over the 

useful life and fair value of the leased asset and the determination of bargain purchase options. 
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Estimates 
Accounts Receivable  

Accounts receivable are recorded when sales are made or services are rendered.  When it 

appears that the receivable may not be collected in full or part, an allowance is made and the 

receivable is reduced.  The allowance recorded is based on managements’ best estimate of the 

amount that will be collected. 

Finance Leases  

In order to determine whether a lease is a finance lease, management has to assess if it transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  Classification as a finance lease 

involves estimates including useful lives and fair values of the leased assets. 

Depreciation  

Depreciation methods are based on management’s estimate of the most appropriate method to 

reflect the pattern of an asset’s future economic benefit expected to be consumed by the 

Company.  Among other factors, these estimates are based on industry standards and Company-

specific history and experience. 

Impairment 

The Company performs impairment tests on long-lived assets when impairment indicators exist.  

An asset is considered impaired and written down only when the impairment test demonstrates 

that the carrying value is not recoverable.  The determination of recoverable amounts on any 

given asset is subject to significant estimates regarding the timing and magnitude of cash flows 

and appropriate discount rates for the value in use method.  Significant estimates relating to 

market value are needed when the fair value is used as the recoverable amount. 

                 Share-based payments 

The Company determines the fair value of share-based payments using a Black-Scholes option-

pricing model.  There are a number of estimates used in the calculation such as the expected 

future forfeiture rate, the expected period the share-based compensation is outstanding and the 

future price volatility of the underlying security.  The factors applied in the calculation are 

management’s estimates based on historical information and future forecasts and may vary from 

expectations. 

Deferred income taxes 

The recoverability of deferred income taxes is based on a number of assumptions, including 

estimating the future periods in which temporary differences and other tax credits will reverse, 

and the general assumption that substantively enacted future tax rates at the balance sheet date 

will remain in effect when differences reverse. 

 Foreign currency 3.5.

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company or 

the respective subsidiary at the exchange rate in effect at the time of the transaction.  Monetary 

items are then translated into the Company’s functional currency at each reporting period at the 

exchange rates in effect at date of the statements of financial position.  Non-monetary items are 

translated at historic rates.  Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currency are 

translated at rates in effect at the time of the transactions.  Gains and losses on foreign currency 

transactions are included as a separate line item in the consolidated statements of operations 

and comprehensive income (loss). 
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Foreign currency translation 

The Company’s non-Canadian subsidiaries functional currency is the US dollar, and therefore, 

assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the 

financial statement date and revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange 

rates for the period.  Translation gains or losses are included in other comprehensive income 

(loss). When the settlement of an intercompany receivable or intercompany payable is neither 

planned nor likely foreseeable in the future, foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the 

translation of those intercompany balances is considered a part of the net investment in the 

foreign operation and are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). 

 Financial Instruments 3.6.

Financial assets  

The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for 

sale financial assets. 

The Company has the following financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 

short term investments and finance lease receivable. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three 

months or less. Short term investments are considered to be deposits that mature over more 

than three months.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 

the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for 

the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

Receivables 

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. 

These assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment. 

Financial liabilities  

The Company has the following financial liabilities: line of credit, long-term debt, deferred 

revenue, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable and obligations 

under finance lease. 

Obligations under a finance lease are initially recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its 

fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequently, the minimum 

lease payments made are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the 

outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Financial liabilities - measurement 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction 

costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method. The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its 

contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.   

Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 

of financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts 

and intends either to settle them on a new basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 
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Fair Values 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair 

values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses observable market data 

to the extent possible.  Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy 

based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows. 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e., prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 

fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same 

level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 

measurement. 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 

reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

 Property, plant and equipment 3.7.

Capitalization, recognition and measurement 

The capital cost of an asset is the aggregate of its purchase price or construction cost, any costs 

directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation, and for qualifying assets, borrowing 

costs.  For acquired assets, the purchase price is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of 

any other consideration given up to acquire the asset.  Expenditures on major maintenance, 

inspection, and overhauls are capitalized when the item enhances the life or performance of an 

asset above its original condition.  Where an asset or part of an asset that was separately 

depreciated is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

replacement item will flow to the Company, the replacement expenditure is capitalized and the 

carrying amount of the replaced asset is charged to the statement of operations and 

comprehensive income (loss).  Routine costs incurred to repair or maintain property and 

equipment are expensed as incurred. 

When an item of property and equipment is disposed of or when there are no net future 

economic benefits expected from the continued use of the asset, the asset is removed from the 

accounts (derecognized) and any gain or loss arising on derecognition (calculated as the 

difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item), is recognized in 

the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Depreciation 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different 

useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 

equipment. Padding equipment componentized assets consists of padding equipment add-ons 

such as elevators and conveyors. Due to the nature of these assets they undergo more wear in 

the earlier years and are depreciated using the declining balance basis.  

The method of depreciation and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for 

current and comparative years are as follows: 

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Straight-line 30-40 years 
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Padding equipment non-componentized Straight-line 5-10 years 

Padding equipment componentized Declining balance 2.5-10 years 

Pipe layers Straight-line 5-10 years 

Major overhauls Declining balance 5-10 years 

Oilfield service equipment Straight-line 5-10 years 

Office furniture & equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 

Shop equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 

   

Impairment evaluations 

Property and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized 

for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.  

Value in use is the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant assets or Cash 

Generating Units (“CGUs”).  For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into 

CGUs that are the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  

Impairment losses may be reversed in future periods if there are indicators of a reversal and the 

recoverable amount of a CGU has increased.  

Leased assets 

Leases on terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured 

at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 

accounting policy applicable to that asset. Other leased assets are classified as operating and are 

not recognized in the Company’s statement of financial position.  

 Revenue recognition 3.8.

Rental revenue from padding machines, pipe layers and oilfield service equipment is recognized 

with the passage of time under month to month contracts, starting when the equipment is 

shipped, recovery of the consideration is probable and the amount of revenue can be measured 

reliably.  Upon commencement of the rental contract, customers are invoiced in advance for 

equipment and spare parts, and consumables. Spare parts and consumables are invoiced in 

advance for the full value of the spare parts and consumables delivered.  Payments for spare 

parts and consumables delivered are recorded as deferred revenue.  Upon return of the rented 

equipment, the customer is refunded the value of any spare parts and consumables returned, 

less a restocking fee.   

Revenue on the sale of spare parts and consumables related to rented or sold equipment is 

recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 

customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of 

goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the 

goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
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 Share-based compensation plans 3.9.

Compensation expense associated with options granted under the Company’s share-based 

option plan is deferred and recognized in general and administrative expense over the vesting 

period of the options.  Awards issued under the option plan are equity-settled awards, and 

therefore, the expense is offset to contributed surplus.  The Company measures the fair value of 

options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  For options with graded 

vesting terms, fair value is determined for each vesting period as if it were a separate award.  An 

estimate of forfeitures is applied to the total options expected to vest that is trued up to actual 

forfeitures at each vesting date. 

 Income taxes 3.10.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  It is recognized in the Statement of 

Income (Loss) except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized 

directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current income taxes 

Current income taxes comprise the expected income tax payable or receivable on the taxable 

income or loss for the year and any adjustment to the income tax payable or receivable in 

respect of previous years.  It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. 

Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes.  Deferred income tax is not recognized for temporary differences on the initial 

recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction other than a business combination. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 

deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 

be available against which they can be used.  Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 

benefit will be realized. 

Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date. 

 Standards issued but not yet adopted 3.11.

A number of new standards and amendments to standards, potentially applicable to the 

Company, are effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2017.  The Company has 

not applied the following new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial 

statements. 

• On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, replacing the 

existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  IFRS 9 

includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 

including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets and 

the new general hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on 

recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption 

permitted. 

• On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  IFRS 15 

establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 

revenue is recognized.  It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 

Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IFRIC 18 Transfer of assets from customers and IFRIC 
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13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.  IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

• On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases).  IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidance 

in IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 requires the recognition of lease assets and of obligations on the 

balance sheet. For Lessees almost all leases will have to be treated as financial leases 

although lessor will still have the two classifications.  The standard is effective for years 

starting January 1, 2019. 

The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments in its financial statements 

as of the effective dates.  The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting 

these standards on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.   

4. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following: 

(CAD thousands) 
  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Cash   $ 5,698 $ 3,581 

Deposits    9  7,943 

   $ 5,707 $ 11,524 

 

5. Short term investments 
(CAD thousands) 

  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

GIC   $ 4,291 $ - 

   $ 4,291 $ - 

 Short term investment of $4,291,000 consists of Cashable Guaranteed Investment Certificate (GIC) held at 

one Canadian chartered bank and earns interest at a rate of 1.55%. The GIC will mature on September 07, 

2017. 

 

6. Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable are comprised of the following: 

(CAD thousands) 
  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Trade receivables   $ 1,925 $ 1,880 

Allowance for doubtful accounts    (524)  (540) 
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Other receivables    61  65 

   $ 1,462 $ 1,405 

 

7. Finance leases receivable 
(CAD thousands) 

  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

 
  Minimum lease 

payments from finance 

leases 

Minimum lease 

payments from finance 

leases 

Less than one year  $ - $ 1,718 

Between one and five years   -  - 

After five years   -  - 

Unearned finance income   -  (58) 

   $ - $ 1,660 

 

In 2015 the Company recognized three finance lease receivables which matured during 2016.  During the 

first quarter of 2016 one of these leases was terminated with the return of the related machine.  

Accordingly, the receivable was reduced and the machine was put into property and equipment.  The 

Company entered into no new finance leases in 2016. 
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8. Property and equipment 
(CAD thousands) 
 

 

Padding 

Equipment 

(including 

spare parts) 

Pipe Layers Land & 

Buildings 

Other Total 

COST 
 

         

At January 1, 2015 $ 30,901 $ 10,057 $ 6,363 $ 1,990 $ 49,311 

Additions  2,761  1,894  -  8  4,663 

Disposals  (3,818)  (4,343)  -  -  (8,161) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

1,404  -  570  244  2,218 

At December 31, 2015 $ 31,248 $ 7,608 $ 6,933 $ 2,242 $ 48,031 

Additions  2,116  -  26  32  2,174 

Disposals  (2,033)  (1,320)  -  (13)  (3,366) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

(773)  -  (118)  (37)  (928) 

At December 31, 2016 $ 30,558 $ 6,288 $ 6,841 $ 2,224 $ 45,911 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION         

At January 1, 2015 $ (11,466) $ (1,083) $ (1,293) $ (1,398) $ (15,240) 

Depreciation  (3,679)  (1,306)  (78)  (443)  (5,506) 

Impairment  -  (1,100)  -  -  (1,100) 

Disposals  2,062  806  -  -  2,868 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 1,664  -  (133)  87  1,618 

At December 31, 2015 $ (11,419) $ (2,683) $ (1,504) $ (1,754) $ (17,360) 

Depreciation  (3,806)  (578)  (124)  (100)  (4,608) 

Impairment  -  (123)  -  -  (123) 

Disposals  2,089  558  -  2  2,649 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 215  -  31  34  280 

At December 31, 2016  $ (12,921) $ (2,826) $ (1,597) $ (1,818) $ (19,162) 

NET BOOK VALUE           

At December 31, 2015 $ 19,829 $ 4,925 $ 5,429 $ 488 $ 30,671 

At December 31, 2016 $ 17,637 $ 3,462 $ 5,244 $ 406 $ 26,749 

 

As at December 31, 2016, included in padding equipment are assets under construction with a cost of $0.3 

million (December 31, 2015 - $1.6 million).  During the year presented, no depreciation was recorded for 

assets under construction.   

On July 1, 2016, two RL-44 pipe layers were moved from non-current to current assets held for sale at a net 

book value of $755,957.  The two assets were sold in September for $333,000.   
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9. Long-term debt  
(CAD thousands) 
 

  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Capital Loan    $ - $ 2,478 

Term Loan (i)     1,138  - 

Mortgage – Leduc (ii)    2,982  3,279 

Mortgage – Phoenix (iii)    1,078  1,211 

Finance agreements (iv)    61  37 

Other    11  23 

Total long-term debt    5,270  7,028 

Less       

Current portion of long-term debt    2,022  5,908 

Net long-term debt   $ 3,248 $ 1,120 

 

The Company has a term loan and a mortgage outstanding with a Canadian chartered bank, a mortgage 

outstanding with a US bank, and minor obligations relating to equipment. Security for the term loan facility 

consists of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and general security agreements and 

guarantees from the Company and its subsidiaries. Further details are provided below: 

i) The term loan was used to repay the capital loan and bears interest at the bank’s prime rate.  The 

term loan is repayable on demand.  The Company is required to pay equal monthly principal 

payments plus interest of $125,000 per month over the term of the loan.  The loan will be repaid in 

full no later than April 30, 2017. 

ii) Mortgage – Leduc consists of two mortgages on a property located in Leduc, AB.  Both mortgages 

bear interest at a rate of 4.75% per annum. 

a. The Company is required to pay equal monthly installments on the first mortgage of $16,140 

over a five-year term ending on February 28, 2017. This credit facility was subsequently extended 

to April 30, 2017. 

b. The Company is required to pay equal monthly instalments on the second mortgage of $23,400 

over a five year term ending on April 30, 2018. 

iii) Mortgage – Phoenix consists of a mortgage on a property located in Phoenix, AZ.  The mortgage bears 

interest at the variable rate of the US 6 month constant maturities Treasury note plus 5.25%.  As at 

December 31, 2016 the actual rate was 6.07% (2015 – 5.76 %) per annum and the mortgage is 

amortized over a term of 20 years ending in February 2025.  The Company is required to pay monthly 

instalments on the mortgage, ranging from US $9,961 to US$12,195.  As of March 31, 2017 the 

mortgage was paid in full with a remaining balance of $nil. 
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iv) Finance agreement includes loans related to track loader that was individually financed through the 

manufacturer in 2016.  This interest free loan is denominated in US dollars and requires total monthly 

payments of US$5,640, expiring in August 2017. 

v) The Company had financial debt covenants related to the Leduc mortgage and the term loan of a 

minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1. Prior to December 31, 2016, Lender confirmed that 

the company will not be subject to the debt service coverage covenant test for the financial year 

ended December 31, 2016. 

Debt obligations are repayable as follows: 

(CAD thousands) 

2017  $ 2,022 

2018   2,386 

2019   119 

2020   126 

2021   134 

Thereafter   483 

  $ 5,270 

10. Obligation under finance lease 

Obligations under finance lease as at December 31, 2016 relate to leased vehicles is as below. 

(CAD thousands) 
 

 December 31,  

2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Obligation under finance lease  $ 50 $ 78 

Less      

Current portion   30  28 

Net finance lease obligation  $ 20 $ 50 

 

Based on current scheduled principal repayments the remaining finance lease obligations are repayable as 

follows: 

(CAD thousands) 
 

2017  $ 30 

2018   20 

  $ 50 
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11. Share capital 

 Authorized 11.1.

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares with 

no par value.  No preferred shares have been issued.  

Issued and outstanding 

As at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 

 December 31,  

2016 

December 31,  

2015 

 Number

of Common 

Shares

Amount 

$Thousands 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Amount 

$Thousands 

Issued and outstanding, end of year     

Opening 44,686,722 40,207 44,686,722 40,207 

Issued 314,070 250   

Issued and outstanding, end of period 45,000,792 40,457 44,686,722 40,207 

 

As a result of the Plan of Arrangement, a share exchange of 0.7514 was determined and agreed 

upon by non-related parties for the valuation of the shares (see Note 19).  The numbers of shares 

for all periods presented have been adjusted for this 0.7514 share exchange rate without a 

corresponding change in dollar amounts.  Earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect the 

impact of the share exchange.  

Share based payments 

As of November 28, 2016, the Company had an aggregate of 1,300,000 stock options issued and 

outstanding.  Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement (the “Plan”), all ESI Options were surrendered 

by the holders for nominal consideration and cancelled immediately prior to the effective date of 

the Plan (see Note 19 for additional information).  

Warrants 

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has 1.98 million warrants.  Each warrant is to purchase 

one share of the Company with an exercise price of $0.86.  These warrants will expire October 

19, 2018. 

At December 31, 2016, the outstanding warrants have a weighted-average remaining life of 1.8 

years (December 31, 2015 – 2.8 years).   
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 Contributed surplus  11.2.
 (CAD thousands) 
 

 December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Contributed surplus, beginning of year $ 1,598 $ 1,598 

Stock based compensation  -  - 

Contributed surplus, end of year $ 1,598 $ 1,598 

 

 

 Basic and Diluted EPS 11.3.

As at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015: 

 December 31,  

2016 

December 31,  

2015 

 Number

of Common 

Shares

Earnings Per 

Share 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Earnings Per 

Share 

Issued and outstanding, end of year     

Weighted average number of common 

shares used in basic earnings per 

share 

44,712,894 (0.11) 44,686,722 (0.05) 

Dilution effect of options - - - - 

Weighted average number of common 

shares used in diluted earnings per 

share 

44,712,894 (0.11) 44,686,722 (0.05) 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, 1,191,667 shares were excluded from the calculation of 

diluted  earnings per share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive (2015 – 1,300,000) 

12. Income Taxes 

The components of income tax expense are: 

(CAD thousands) 

For the year ended December 31, 2016 2015 

Current taxes expense (recovery)       

Current year   $ 3 $ 171 

Adjustment for prior years    -  14 

    3  185 
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Deferred tax expense (recovery)       

Origination and reversal of temporary 

difference 

   (1,654)  (171) 

Change in tax rate    -  (18) 

Change in recognized deductible 

temporary differences 

   -  (323) 

Adjustment for prior years    1,654  353 

    -  (159) 

Total income tax expense   $ 3 $ 26 

The income tax expense differs from that expected by applying the combined federal, provincial and state 

income tax rate of 27% (2015 -26.01%) to income before income taxes for the following reasons: 

(CAD thousands) 

For the year ended December 31, 2016 2015 

Loss before income taxes  $ (5,121) $ (2,091) 

Effective income tax expense 

(recovery)  

at statutory rate 

  (1,383)  (544) 

Permanent differences   1  359 

Adjustment from prior year filings   (194)  353 

Non-taxable capital gains   -  - 

Difference between current and future 

rate on temporary differences 

  -  (18) 

Other   (94)  199 

Change in unrecognized asset   1,667  (323) 

Net provision for income taxes  $ 3 $ 26 

 

(CAD thousands) 
 December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Deferred tax balances      

Non-capital loss carry forwards  $ 10,752 $ 9,955 
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Property, plant and equipment   (3,577)  (3,355) 

Unrecognized asset and other   -  - 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)   (376)  (578) 

Other   125  58 

Capital leases   14  - 

Lease obligations   -  21 

Valuation allowance   (6,938)  (6,101) 

Deferred tax asset (liability)  $ - $ - 

 

The Company has incurred cumulative non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of 

approximately $9.9 million (2015 - $9.5 million) that are available to reduce Canadian taxable income in 

future years and expire commencing in 2029.  

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries have incurred cumulative non-capital losses for foreign income tax 

purposes of approximately USD$22 million (2015 - USD $14.5 million) that are available to reduce taxable 

income in future years.  These losses expire between the years 2022 through 2032. 

The deductible temporary difference does not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets 

have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will 

be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits they are from. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, $nil of deferred income tax recovery was recognized as compared 

to $nil in 2015.  

13. Financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of cash 

and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, finance leases receivable, accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, obligations under finance lease, line of credit and long-term debt.  The fair values of financial 

instruments included in the consolidated statement of financial position, except long-term debt, 

approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments.  The carrying 

value of long-term debt approximates its fair value. 

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Interest rate risk 

• Foreign currency risk 

• Liquidity risk 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks and the 

Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.  Further quantitative 

disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 
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 Credit risk and customer concentration 13.1.

The Company assesses the credit worthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis and monitors 

the amounts and aging of outstanding accounts receivable, and when necessary, records an 

allowance for doubtful amounts.  The following table summarizes the aging of the Company’s 

accounts receivable: 

 (CAD thousands) 
 

  December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Within 30 days  $ 717 $ 777 

31 to 60 days   506  479 

61 to 90 days   64  27 

Over 90 days   699  662 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (524)  (540) 

  $ 1,462 $ 1,405 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, $5.5 million (December 31, 2015 - $7.4 million) of 

revenue was derived from eight (2015 – twelve) customers that represented 68% (2015 - 66%) of 

the Company revenue.  As at December 31, 2016, $894 thousand (December 31, 2015 - $514 

thousand) from these customers was included in accounts receivable. 

 Interest rate risk 13.2.

As at December 31, 2016, 73% (December 31, 2015 – 73%) of the Company’s outstanding long-

term debt was subject to fixed rates of interest.  The balance of the Company’s outstanding long-

term debt was exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, a 1% change in interest rates would have had the 

following impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss. 

 (CAD thousands) 
 

  2016 2015 

1% increase in interest rates $ 22 $ 37 

1% decrease in interest rates $ (22) $ (37) 

 

 Foreign currency risk 13.3.

A portion of the Company’s operations are denominated in United States dollars.  The Company 

does not use derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign currency exposure.  

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negatively affect the results from operations.  The 

Company does not have exposure to any highly inflationary foreign currencies. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, a 1% change in the value of foreign currencies would 

have had the following impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss. 
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 (CAD thousands) 
 

   2016 2015 

1% increase in the value of the US dollar $ 1 $ 1 

1% decrease in the value of the US dollar $ (1) $ (1) 

 Liquidity risk 13.4.

Liquidity risk is the exposure of the Company to the risk of being unable to meet its financial 

obligations as they come due.  The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and reviewing 

actual and forecasted cash flows to ensure there are available cash resources to meet these 

needs.   

The Company expects that cash and cash equivalents, and cash flow from operations, together 

with existing and available credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund its presently anticipated 

requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets. 

The following maturity analysis shows the remaining contractual maturities for the Company’s 

financial liabilities, including future lease payments: 

 (CAD thousands) 
 

December 31, 2016 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,263 $ - $ - 

Income tax payable  80  -  - 

Deferred revenue  44  -  - 

Obligations under finance lease  30  20   

Loans and borrowings (Note 9)  2,022  2,765  483 

 $ 3,439 $ 2,785 $ 483 

  

 (CAD thousands) 
 

December 31, 2015 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,156 $ - $ - 

Income tax payable  173  -  - 

Deferred revenue  60  -  - 

Obligations under finance lease  28  50  - 

Loans and borrowings (Note 9)  1,752  2,921  2,355 

 $ 3,169 $ 2,971 $ 2,355 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

27 of 30 
ESI Energy Services Inc. 

At December 31, 2016, the Company had $nil (December 31, 2015 -$2 million) available under its 

credit facility and had cash and cash equivalents of $5.7 million at December 31, 2016 (December 

31, 2015 - $11.5 million). 

14. Commitments  

The Company has commitments under various operating lease agreements relating to premises and 

equipment aggregating approximately $511 thousand and $15 thousand, (2015 - $692 thousand and $30 

thousand) respectively with future minimum payments as at December 31, 2016, as follows: 

(CAD thousands) 

2017  $ 168 

2018   160 

2019   159 

2020   39 

  $ 526 

15. Capital Disclosures  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to exercise financial discipline, and to deliver positive 

returns to its shareholders. The Company may make future adjustments to its capital management strategy 

in light of changing economic conditions resulting from the challenges associated with operating in a 

cyclical, commodity price influenced industry. 

The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, operating lines of credit and 

long-term debt, net of cash, and cash equivalents. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the 

Company may from time to time adjust its capital spending to manage the level of its borrowings, or may 

revise the terms of its operating lines of credit to support future growth initiatives.  The Company may also 

consider additional long-term borrowings or equity financing.  

(CAD thousands) 

For the year ended 

December 31, 
  2016 2015 

Long term debt $ 5,270 $ 7,028 

Shareholders’ equity 

(Cash + cash equivalents) 

 31,590 

(5,707) 

 36,901 

(11,524) 

Total capitalization $ 31,153 $ 32,405 

16. Supplementary disclosures 

Change in non-cash working capital balances 

(CAD thousands) 
 

For the year ended 

December 31,  
  2016 2015 

    

Current assets      

 Accounts receivable  $ 1,504 $ (1,694) 
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17. Expenses by nature  

The Company presents certain expenses in the consolidated statement of net loss and comprehensive loss 

by function.    For example freight associated with a job site would be allocated to operating expenses 

whereas freight relating to office equipment would go to selling, general and administrative. The following 

table presents those expenses by nature.   

(CAD thousands) 

For the year ended December 31,    2016 2015 

Employee costs  $ 3,499 $ 3,336 

Repairs and maintenance   1,227  1,573 

Freight and consumables   487  104 

Realized foreign exchange loss   11  208 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain   146  (1,506) 

Insurance   414  361 

Professional services   189  397 

Travel and promotion    323  346 

Rent    171  61 

Utilities and property taxes   225  230 

Depreciation 

Other 

  4,608 

924 

 5,506 

1,130 

   12,224  11,746 

Allocated to:      

  Operating expenses   3,948  4,134 

 Prepaid expenses   27  (23) 

Current liabilities    

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  169  160 

 Income taxes payable (recoverable)  (83)  160 

 Deferred revenue   (17)  9 

Net change in non-cash working capital $ 1,600 $ (1,388) 

Changes in non-cash working capital 

relating to: 

    

     Operating  1,130  (1,388) 

     Financing  470  - 

  1,600  (1,388) 
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 Depreciation   4,608 

3,668 

 5,506 

 Selling, general and 

administrative 

  2,106 

  $ 12,224 $ 11,746 

18. Related party transactions 

Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following. 

 (CAD thousands) 
 

 

note 

December 31, 

 2016 

December 31,  

2015 

Salaries and directors’ fees  $ 1,167 $ 1,044 

Termination payments   -  28 

  $ 1,167 $ 1,072 

There have been no other transactions with key management and officers during the year.  

No amounts were owing from or owed to officers and directors of the company. 

19. Plan of Arrangement 

On September 29, 2016, ESI entered into an agreement with Exploratus Ltd., a company which is 

incorporated and a reporting issuer in Manitoba (“Exploratus”), and its wholly owned subsidiary 1994687 

Alberta Ltd. (“Spinco”) amalgamated with ESI to form “New ESI”.  Upon amalgamating with Spinco by way 

of a Plan of Arrangement, one New ESI common share was issued in exchange for every 0.7514 of an ESI 

common share and New ESI common shares were issued in exchange for Spinco common shares on the 

basis of one New ESI common share for every 15.92 Exploratus common shares.  New ESI shares received 

by Exploratus were distributed by exchange to Exploratus shareholders and a portion of the New ESI shares 

received by certain ESI shareholders comprising two Investment Limited Partnerships were distributed to 

their respective investors. 

On completion of the transaction: 

• The current shareholders of ESI own approximately 99.3% of New ESI; and 

• New ESI is named “ESI Energy Services Inc.”. 

The shares of ESI Energy Services Inc. are listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”). 

As Spinco is a non-operating company per IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, the Company was deemed the 

acquirer and the transaction was valued under IFRS 2, “Share-based Payment”.  IFRS 2 deals with 

transactions where an entity grants equity instruments but the value of the goods or services in return 

cannot be specifically identified.  Since the fair value of the goods or services cannot be estimated, the fair 

value of the equity instruments granted is used to value the transaction.  The fair value of this transaction 

is considered to be the percentage of ownership which the Exploratus shareholders have in the combined 

entity after the transaction.  

This transaction was accounted for as a reverse take-over of Exploratus and, as Spinco has no assets or 

business operations, the continuing financial statements are those of the Company.  Total transaction costs 

to the Company, excluding legal and regulatory costs, was the value of the ESI shares exchanged for shares 

of Spinco owned by Exploratus valued at $250,000 and $60,000 in cash to cover Exploratus’ legal and 
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regulatory costs. The $250,000 value was agreed upon by Exploratus and ESI Energy Services Inc. 314,070 

New ESI shares were issued to Exploratus and the value per share was agreed to be $0.795. This share 

based payment has been recognized as an expense with an offset to equity.   Legal, regulatory and other 

related costs were expensed when the transaction closed in November 2016. 

Existing ESI options were cancelled as part of the Exploratus transaction.  A new Equity Incentive Plan was 

adopted by ESI directors on September 27, 2016, although no options, restricted share units, or other 

incentive securities were granted in 2016. 

Existing ESI warrants (see note 11.1) became New ESI warrants on completion of the Exploratus transaction 

with exercise price and number of warrants adjusted by the same exchange ratio applicable to ESI common 

shares. 

 Transaction Costs 19.1.

 (CAD thousands) 
 

   

Legal and regulatory costs   $ 565 

Equity settled share based payment 

made to Exploratus 

  $ 250 

   $ 815 

20. Subsequent Event 

In March 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its remaining fleet of 8 pipe layers to a 

third party for a cash price of $3,500,000.  The transaction closed on March 17, 2017.    
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KPMG LLP
205 5th Avenue SW
Suite 3100
Calgary AB
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Telephone (403) 691-8000
Fax (403) 691-8008
www.kpmg.ca

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of ESI Energy Services Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ESI Energy Services Inc., 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and 
December 31, 2014, the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG 
LLP.



Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of ESI Energy Services Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and 
December 31, 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Chartered Professional Accountants
October 27, 2016
Calgary, Canada 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG 
LLP.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(CAD thousands)  

As at 
note* 

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

ASSETS 

Current  

Cash and cash equivalents 4 $ 11,524 $ 14,518 

Accounts receivable 5,13 1,405 1,128 

Finance leases receivable 6 1,660 - 

Prepaid expenses 136 129 

Total current assets 14,725 15,775 

Non-current assets: 

Property and equipment 7 29,337 32,737 

Total assets $ 44,062 $ 48,512 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Current  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 $ 1,156 $ 973 

Deferred revenue 60 42 

 Income tax payable 173 - 

Current portion of long term debt 9 5,908 7,709 

Current portion of lease obligation 10 28 1,010 

Total current liabilities 7,325 9,734 

Non-current liabilities: 

Long-term debt 9 1,120 1,070 

Obligations under finance lease 10 50 2,734 

Deferred income tax liability  12 - 172 

Total liabilities 8,495 13,710 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Share capital 11 40,207 40,207 

Contributed surplus 11 1,598 1,598 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,568 1,686 

Deficit (10,806) (8,689) 

Total shareholders’ equity 35,567 34,802 

Commitments 14 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 44,062 $ 48,512 

* The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page B-3  are an integral part of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
(Loss) 
(CAD thousands) 

note* 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2015 
December 31, 

2014 

REVENUE 

Sales  13 $ 11,179 $ 9,293 

Operating expenses 
17 

9,568 10,694 

Gross profit (loss) 1,611 (1,401) 

EXPENSES 

Selling, general and administrative 17 2,178 2,460 

Loss from operations $ (567) $ (3,861) 

Other items: 

Impairment 7 (1,100) - 

Gain on disposal of property  
and equipment 

214 2,905 

Finance income 95 309 

Finance costs (733) (670) 

Loss before income taxes (2,091) (1,317) 

Income taxes (recovery) 12 

Current 185 47 

Deferred (159) 7,204 

Total income taxes 26 7,251 

Net loss (2,117) (8,568) 

Foreign exchange gain on translation adjustments 
on foreign operations 

2,882 1,103 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 765 $ (7,465) 

Earnings (loss) per share – basic and diluted                 $                   (0.06)   $              (0.26) 

* The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page B-3  are an integral part of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
(CAD thousands) 

note* Share Capital 
Contributed 

Surplus Deficit 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance at  January 1, 2014 $ 40,207 1,581 (121) 583 $ 42,250 

Share based compensation - 17 - - 17 

Foreign currency translation adjustment - - - 1,103 1,103 

Net income (loss) - - (8,568) - (8,568) 

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 40,207 1,598 (8,689) 1,686 $ 34,802 

Foreign currency translation adjustment - - - 2,882 2,882 

Net income (loss) - - (2,117) - (2,117) 

Balance, December 31, 2015 11 $ 40,207 1,598 (10,806) 4,568 $ 35,567 

* The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page B-3  are an integral part of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(CAD thousands) 

Year Ended 

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

note* 

Cash provided by (used in) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net earnings (loss) $ (2,117) $ (8,568) 

Items not involving cash: 

Depreciation 7 5,506 6,759 

Impairment 7 1,100 - 

Deferred income taxes 12 (159) 7,204 

Gain on disposal of equipment (214) (2,905) 

Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain)  (1,506) (672) 

Share based compensation 11 - 17 

Funds flow from operations 2,610 1,835 

Net change in non-cash working capital 16 (1,388) (2,427) 

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities 1,222 (592) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds on disposal of equipment 2,655 $ 7,464 

Purchase of equipment 7 (4,663) (4,196) 

Cash flow from (used in) investing activities (2,008) 3,268 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Repayment of line of credit - $ (1,425) 

Proceeds on long-term debt - 1,832 

Repayment of long-term debt (1,974) (3,700) 

Repayment of finance lease obligation (953) (507) 

Cash flow used in financing activities (2,927) (3,800) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on  
cash and cash equivalents 

719 (45) 

Decrease in  
cash and cash equivalents  

(2,994) (1,169) 

Cash and cash equivalents,  
beginning of year 

14,518 15,687 

Cash and cash equivalents,  
end of year 

$ 11,524 $ 14,518 

* The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, which begin on page B-3  are an integral part of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Reporting entity
Description of business
ESI Energy Services Inc. (”ESI”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of Alberta.  These
consolidated financial statements comprise ESI and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned (together
referred to as the “Company”).  The Company primarily provides pipeline padding equipment (used for backfill
separation) and pipe layer rentals and sales services to the pipeline industry in Canada and the United States.

The Company is privately held and maintains its registered corporate and head office at suite 500, 727 – 7th

Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 0Z5.

2. Basis of presentation
Statement of compliance 
These consolidated financial statements for the two years ended December 31, 2015 have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on September 
27, 2016. 

3. Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except as specifically noted within 
these notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s presentation 
currency. The functional currency of two of the subsidiary companies is the US dollar, and that of the parent and 
the other subsidiary company is the Canadian dollar.   

(c) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of the subsidiaries, ESI 
Pipeline Services Inc., Ozzie’s Pipeline Padder Inc., Ozzie’s Padder of Australia Inc., and ESI Pipeline Services Ltd., 
all of which are wholly owned.   

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-company balances and transactions are eliminated. 

(d) Use of judgments and estimates 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates are recognized 
prospectively. 



B-3
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Judgments 
Impairment 

The Company tests impairment of long-lived assets with determinate useful lives when indications of impairment 
exist. Application of judgment is required in determining if indicators of impairment exist and in the determination 
of the recoverable value. 

Leases and lease classification 

At the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease.  If 
an arrangement is determined to contain a lease then the Company must classify the lease as either an operating 
or a finance lease. Classification as a finance lease involves judgment over lease terms as finance lease criteria, 
including assumptions over the useful life and fair value of the leased asset and the determination of bargain 
purchase options. 

Estimates 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are recorded when sales are made and the customer invoiced and there is reasonable 
assurance of collection.  When it appears that the receivable may not be collected in full or part, an allowance is 
made and the receivable reduced.  The allowance recorded is based on managements’ best estimate of the 
amount that will be collected. 

Finance Leases 

In order to determine whether a lease is a finance lease, management has to assess if it transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  Classification as a finance lease involves estimates including useful 
lives and fair values of the leased assets. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation methods are based on management’s estimate of the most appropriate method to reflect the 
pattern of an asset’s future economic benefit expected to be consumed by the Company.  Among other factors, 
these estimates are based on industry standards and company-specific history and experience. 

Impairment 

The Company performs impairment tests on long-lived assets when impairment indicators exist.  An asset is 
considered impaired and written down only when the impairment test demonstrates that the carrying value is not 
recoverable.  The determination of recoverable amounts on any given asset is subject to significant estimates 
regarding the timing and magnitude of cash flows and appropriate discount rates for the value in use method.  
Significant estimates relating to market value are needed when the fair value is used as the recoverable amount. 

Share-based payments 

The Company determines the fair value of share-based payments using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  
There are a number of estimates used in the calculation such as the expected future forfeiture rate, the expected 
period the share-based compensation is outstanding and the future price volatility of the underlying security.  The 
factors applied in the calculation are management’s estimates based on historical information and future 
forecasts and may vary from expectations. 

Deferred income taxes 

The recoverability of deferred income taxes is based on a number of assumptions, including estimating the future 
periods in which temporary differences and other tax credits will reverse, and the general assumption that 
substantively enacted future tax rates at the statement of financial position date will remain in effect when 
differences reverse. 
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(e) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company or the respective 
subsidiary at the exchange rate in effect at the time of the transaction.  Monetary items are then translated into 
the Company’s functional currency at each reporting period at the exchange rates in effect at date of the 
statements of financial position.  Non-monetary items are translated at historic rates.  Revenues and expenses 
denominated in foreign currency are translated at rates in effect at the time of the transactions.  Gains and losses 
on foreign currency transactions are included as a separate line item in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income (loss). 

Foreign currency translation 

The Company’s non-Canadian subsidiaries functional currency is the US dollar, and therefore, assets and liabilities 
are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the financial statement date and revenues 
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.  Translation gains or losses are included 
in other comprehensive income (loss). When the settlement of an intercompany receivable or intercompany 
payable is neither planned nor likely foreseeable in the future, foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the 
translation of those intercompany balances is considered a part of the net investment in the foreign operation 
and are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). 

(f) Financial Instruments 

Financial assets 

The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for sale financial assets. 

The Company has the following financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and finance lease 
receivable. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three months or less. 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

Receivables 

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

These assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

Financial liabilities 

The Company has the following financial liabilities: line of credit, long-term debt, deferred revenue, and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable and obligations under finance lease. 

Obligations under a finance lease are initially recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequently, the minimum lease payments made are 
apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is 
allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 
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Financial liabilities - measurement 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The 
Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.   

Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle 
them on a new basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Fair Values 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses observable market data to the extent 
possible.  Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the 
valuation techniques as follows. 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 

Capitalization, recognition and measurement 

The capital cost of an asset is the aggregate of its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset into operation, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs.  For acquired assets, 
the purchase price is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given up to acquire 
the asset.  Expenditures on major maintenance, inspection, and overhauls are capitalized when the item enhances 
the life or performance of an asset above its original condition.  Where an asset or part of an asset that was 
separately depreciated is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
replacement item will flow to the Company, the replacement expenditure is capitalized and the carrying amount 
of the replaced asset is charged to the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  Routine costs 
incurred to repair or maintain property and equipment are expensed as incurred. 

When an item of property and equipment is disposed of or when there are no net future economic benefits 
expected from the continued use of the asset, the asset is removed from the accounts (derecognized) and any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition (calculated as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the item), is recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Depreciation 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses.  If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 
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The method of depreciation and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and 
comparative years are as follows: 

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Straight-line 30-40 years 

Padding equipment Declining balance 2.5-10 years 

Pipe layers Straight-line 5-10 years 

Major overhauls Declining balance 5-10 years 

Oilfield service equipment Straight-line 5-10 years 

Office furniture & equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 

Shop equipment Straight-line 2-5 years 

Impairment evaluations 

Property and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be fully recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less cost to sell and its value in use.  Value in use is the present value of the expected future cash flows of 
the relevant assets or Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”).  For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped into CGUs that are the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  Impairment 
losses may be reversed in future periods if the conditions giving rise to the impairment loss change. 

Leased assets 

Leases on terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair 
value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is 
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Other leased assets are classified 
as operating and are not recognized in the Company’s statement of financial position.  

(h) Revenue recognition 

Rental revenue from padding machines, pipe layers and oilfield service equipment is recognized with the passage 
of time under month to month contracts, starting when the equipment is shipped, recovery of the consideration is 
probable and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  Upon commencement of the rental contract, 
customers are invoiced in advance for equipment and spare parts, and consumables delivered. Payments for 
spare parts and consumables delivered are recorded as deferred revenue.  Upon return of the rented equipment, 
the customer is refunded the value of any spare parts and consumables returned, less a restocking fee.   

Revenue on the sale of spare parts and consumables related to rented or sold equipment is recognized when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is 
probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing 
management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

(i) Share-based compensation plans 

Compensation expense associated with options granted under the Company’s share-based option plan is deferred 
and recognized in general and administrative expense over the vesting period of the options.  Awards issued 
under the option plan are equity-settled awards, and therefore, the expense is offset to contributed surplus.  The 
Company measures the fair value of options at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  For 
options with graded vesting terms, fair value is determined for each vesting period as if it were a separate award.  
An estimate of forfeitures is applied to the total options expected to vest that is trued up to actual forfeitures at 
each vesting date. 
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(j) Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  It is recognized in profit and loss except to the extent 
that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current income taxes 

Current income taxes comprise the expected income tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustment to the income tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.  It is measured 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred income taxes 

Deferred income taxes are recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred income tax is not 
recognized for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction other than a 
business combination. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
used.  Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

(k) Standards issued but not yet adopted 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards, potentially applicable to the Company, are effective 
for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2016.  The Company has not applied the following new or amended 
standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 

On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, replacing the existing guidance in
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss model for
calculating impairment on financial assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements.  It also
carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.

On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  IFRS 15 establishes a
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized.  It replaces
existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IFRIC 18
Transfer of assets from customers and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.  IFRS 15 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases).  IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidance in IAS 17 Leases.
IFRS 16 requires the recognition of lease assets and of obligations on the statement of financial position.
Lessees will treat almost all leases as financial leases although lessors will still have two classifications. The
standard is effective for years starting January 1, 2019.

The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments in its financial statements as of the effective 
dates.  The Company is still determining the impact of the adoption of these standards and amendments on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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4. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following: 
$Thousands 

December 31, 
 2015 

December 31,  
2014 

Cash $ 3,581 $ 2,319 

Bank term deposits 7,943 12,199 

$ 11,524 $ 14,518 

Bank term deposits are with two Canadian chartered banks. One deposit earns interest at the bank’s prime rate minus 
1.9% with the funds being available immediately. The other deposit is reinvested for short terms and at December 31, 
2015 was due to mature on January 29, 2016 and earns interest of 0.63%. 

5. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are comprised of the following: 
$Thousands 

December 31, 
 2015 

December 31,  
2014 

Trade receivables $ 1,880 $ 1,122 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (540) (32) 

Other receivables 65 38 

$ 1,405 $ 1,128 

6. Finance leases receivable
$Thousands 

December 31, 
 2015 

December 31,  
2015 

Minimum lease 
payments from 

finance leases 

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments 
Less than one year $ 1,718 $ 1,660 
Between one and five years - - 
After five years - - 
Unearned finance income (58) - 

$ 1,660 $ 1,660 

During 2015, the Company recognized three finance lease receivables which expire during 2016 with implicit rates of 
0.92% to 1.36% per month.  Included within the receivables are unguaranteed residual values for purchase options.  
The finance leases contain purchase options of US $274 thousand, US $255 thousand and US $255 thousand. Finance 
income of $123 thousand was recognized in 2015 (2014 - Nil).  There is no allowance for uncollectable lease payments 
receivable or contingent rents recognized as income during the year of 2015 (2014 – Nil) 
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7. Property and equipment
$Thousands 

Padding 
Equipment 

(including 
spare parts) 

Pipe Layers Land & 
Buildings 

Other Total 

COST 

At January 1, 2014 $ 24,524 $ 12,306 $ 5,990 $ 2,574 $ 45,394 

Additions 2,489 5,699 34 295 8,517 

Disposals - (7,948) - (929) (8,877) 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 

2,554 - 339 50 2,943 

At December 31, 2014 $ 29,567 $ 10,057 $ 6,363 $ 1,990 $ 47,977 

Additions 2,761 1,894 - 8 4,663 

Disposals (3,818) (4,343) - - (8,161) 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 

1,404 - 570 244 2,218 

At December 31, 2015 $ 29,914 $ 7,608 $ 6,933 $ 2,242 $ 46,697 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

At January 1, 2014 $ (5,425) $ (2,301) $ (1,045) $ (2,087) $ (10,858) 

Depreciation (4,401) (2,125) (140) (93) (6,759) 

Disposals - 3,343 - 836 4,179 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 

(1,640) - (108) (54) (1,802) 

At December 31, 2014 $ (11,466) $ (1,083) $ (1,293) $ (1,398) $ (15,240) 

Depreciation (3,679) (1,306) (78) (443) (5,506) 

Impairment - (1,100) - - (1,100) 

Disposals 2,062 806 - - 2,868 

Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 

1,664 - (133) 87 1,618 

At December 31, 2015  $ (11,419) $ (2,683) $ (1,504) $ (1,754) $ (17,360) 

NET BOOK VALUE 

At December 31, 2014 $ 18,101 $ 8,974 $ 5,070 $ 592 $ 32,737 

At December 31, 2015 $ 18,495 $ 4,925 $ 5,429 $ 488 $ 29,337 

As at December 31, 2015, included in padding equipment are assets under construction with a cost of $1,633,000 
(December 31, 2014 - $2.4 million).  During the years presented, no depreciation was recorded for assets under 
construction.  

At December 31, 2015 the current industry environment indicated that the net book value of the pipe layers cash 
generating unit (CGU) might not be fully recoverable. The Company determined the impairment based on the higher of 
fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The Company obtained estimated fair values from two independent 
sources. Based upon this information the Company determined that the estimated recoverable value was $4.9 million. 
As the net book value of $6 million exceeded the estimated recoverable amount an impairment of $1.1 million was 
recorded.  

During 2015, the Company entered into leases related to three machines.  These leases were treated as finance leases 
(note 6) and accordingly the Company recorded a gain of $784 thousand. 
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8. Line of credit
The Company has two revolving credit facilities with a Canadian chartered bank with limits of $2 million (December 31, 
2014-$4.5 million) and $0.5 million (December 31, 2014 -$0.5 million) respectively. The first facility is to assist in 
financing the day to day operating requirements of the Company and the second is for the purchase of forward contracts 
for major currencies.  The facilities are secured by cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and general security 
agreements and guarantees from the Company and its subsidiaries.  The $2 million line of credit is payable on demand 
and bears interest at the bank’s Canadian prime rate plus 1.5% (2014 -1%) and the bank’s US prime rate plus 1.5% (2014 
-1%) respectively. The US $500,000  line of credit is payable on demand and bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 
1.75% (2014 – 1.25%).  These line of credits have no outstanding balances as at December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

9. Long-term debt
$Thousands 

December 31, 
 2015 

December 31,  
2014 

Non-revolving term loan #1 $ - $ 116 

Capital Loan (i) (v) 2,478 3,754 

Mortgage – Leduc (ii) (v) 3,279 3,590 

Mortgage – Phoenix (iii) 1,211 1,098 

Finance agreements (iv) 37 190 

Other 23 31 

Total long-term debt 7,028 8,779 

Less 

Current portion of long-term debt 5,908 7,709 

Net long-term debt $ 1,120 $ 1,070 

The Company, whilst preparing these financial statements for inclusion in the non-offering prospectus regarding the 
transaction disclosed in Subsequent Event Note 20 to these financial statements, discovered an immaterial error with 
respect to the previously issued financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014. The error identified was 
an oversight regarding non-compliance with the debt service coverage ratio covenants for the capital loan and the 
mortgage – Leduc. Due to the non-compliance with these covenants, amounts related to these debt facilities, previously 
reflected in long term liabilities as at December 31 2014, should have been presented as current liabilities in the amount 
of $5,769. Accordingly the 2014 comparative figures have been recast to correct the error. 

The Company has credit facilities with a Canadian chartered bank that includes a line of credit (see note 8) and a 
capital loan, a foreign exchange loan and a leasing facility (note 10).  These facilities are secured by cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, and general security agreements and guarantees from the Company and its 
subsidiaries.   

The Company has mortgages outstanding with other lenders and equipment financing agreements. Further details are 
provided below: 

i. The capital loan bears interest at the bank’s prime rate plus 1.75% (2014 -1.25%) per annum.  The Company is
required to pay equal monthly principal payments plus accrued interest over the term of the loan.  The Company’s
principal payments are $106,318 per month and the loan will be repaid in full by February 18, 2018.

ii. Mortgage – Leduc consists of two mortgages on a property located in Leduc, AB.  Both mortgages bear interest at
a rate of 4.75% per annum.

a. The Company is required to pay equal monthly installments on the first mortgage of $16,140 over a five-
year term ending on February 28, 2017.

b. The Company is required to pay equal monthly instalments on the second mortgage of $23,400 over a five
year term ending on September 30, 2018.
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iii. Mortgage – Phoenix consists of a mortgage on a property located in Phoenix, AZ.  The mortgage bears interest at
the variable rate of the US six month constant maturities Treasury note plus 5.25%.  As at December 31, 2015 the
actual rate was 5.76% (2014 – 5.4%) per annum and the mortgage is amortized over a term of 20 years ending in
February 2025.  The Company is required to pay monthly instalments on the mortgage, ranging from US $9,961 to
US$12,195.

iv. Equipment loans include loans related to Caterpillar engines that were individually financed through the
manufacturer.  The loans are denominated in US dollars, bear interest at rates between 5.25% and 5.95% and
require total monthly payments of US$5,457, expiring in May 2016.

v. The Company has financial debt covenants related to the capital loan of a minimum working capital of 1.3:1, a
maximum debt to tangible net worth of 1.5:1, and a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.3:1.  At December
31, 2015 and 2014, the Company was in compliance with the first two covenants but not the third. Accordingly, the 
entire amount of the capital loan has been classified as a current liability.

The Company has a financial debt covenant related to the mortgage – Leduc of a minimum debt service coverage
ratio of 1.25:1.  At December 31, 2014, the Company was not in compliance with the covenant.  Accordingly, the
entire amount of the debt has been classified as a current liability as at December 31, 2014.  The covenant was in
compliance as at December 31, 2015.  However, as no waiver or amendment relating to the 2014 covenant breach
has been obtained from the lender, the debt is technically callable thus the entire amount has continued to be
presented as current.

Management believes that because of the overall strength of its financial position and that cash held is in excess
of the debt balances related to the covenant breaches, the lenders will allow the Company to continue with
scheduled repayments (as noted in the below table)even though the  loans have been reflected in current
liabilities.

vi. Based on the scheduled repayments the debt obligations would be repayable as follows:
$Thousands 

2016 $ 1,752 

2017 1,586 

2018 550 

2019 463 

2020 322 

Thereafter 2,355 

$ 7,028 

10. Obligation under finance lease
The Company had previously entered into a finance lease obligation with a third party supplier for the purpose of 
financing the purchase of 6 pipe layers for the Company’s rental fleet.  The lease bore interest at a rate of 4.5% with a 
minimum term of 6 months and a maximum term of 22 months.  The lease liability was carried at the present value of 
minimum lease payments, including a purchase option at the end of the lease term for the replacement costs as 
defined in the lease agreement less all rental payments made to date. 

Effective December 31, 2015, the agreement was terminated with the pipe layers being returned to the ownership of 
the original supplier and the lease liability eliminated.  The Company recorded a loss on disposition of these assets of 
$685 thousand.  Remaining obligations under finance lease as at December 31, 2015 relate to leased vehicles. 
$Thousands 

December 31,  
2015 

December 31,  
2014 

Obligation under finance lease $ 78 $ 3,744 

Less 

Current portion 28 1,010 

Net finance lease obligation   $ 50 $ 2,734 

Based on current scheduled principal repayments the remaining finance lease obligations are repayable as follows: 
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$Thousands 
2016 $ 28 

2017 30 

2018 20 

$ 78 

In 2015, interest of $165 thousand (2014-$102 thousand) relating to finance lease obligations has been included in 
finance costs.  

11. Share capital
(a) Authorized 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares with no par value.  No 
preferred shares have been issued.  

Issued and outstanding 

As at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014: 

Number 
of Common Shares 

Amount 
$Thousands 

Issued and outstanding, end of year 33,577,602 $ 40,207 

(b) Share based payments 

The Company’s share option plan, formally adopted on January 1, 2003, allows the Board of Directors, at their 
discretion, to grant stock options to directors, officers, employees, and consultants of the Company.  Under this 
plan, the Company is authorized to issue options for up to 10% of the outstanding number of issued and 
outstanding shares.  Vesting and terms of the options are determined by the Board of Directors on a grant-by-
grant basis.   

The Company has granted share options to directors, officers, and employees of the Company as follows: 

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 

Number 
of Options 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

Number 
of Options 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

Outstanding, beginning of year 1,300,000 $ 1.15 1,300,000 $ 1.15 

Granted - - - - 

Outstanding, end of year 1,300,000 1.15 1,300,000 1.15 

Options exercisable 1,300,000 $ 1.15 1,233,000 $ 1.15 

At December 31, 2015, the outstanding options have a weighted-average remaining life of 2.44 years (December 
31, 2014 – 3.44 years); with 200,000 expiring on June 1, 2017, 500,000 expiring on June 14, 2017, and 600,000 
expiring on October 19, 2018.  The compensation costs reflected in these accounts were calculated using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model assuming a risk-free interest rate of 2.6% (2014 – 2.6%), an expected volatility 
of 50% (2014 - 50%), a forfeiture rate of 0% (2014-0%). No options were forfeited in the last two years.  During the 
year, compensation costs of $nil (2014 - $17 thousand) were recorded in the statement of earnings for options 
granted. 

(c) Warrants 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company has 1.5 million warrants outstanding.  Each warrant is to purchase one 
common share of the Company with an exercise price of $1.15. These warrants will expire October 19, 2018. 

At December 31, 2015, the outstanding warrants have a weighted-average remaining life of 2.8 years (December 
31, 2014 – 3.8 years).  

(d) Contributed surplus 
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$Thousands 
December 31, 

 2015 
December 31,  

2014 

Contributed surplus, beginning of year $ 1,598 $ 1,581 

Stock based compensation - 17 

Contributed surplus, end of year $ 1,598 $ 1,598 

12. Income Taxes
The components of income tax expense are: 
$Thousands 

For the year ended December 31, 2015 2014 

Current taxes expense (recovery) 

Current year $ 171 $ 47 

Adjustment for prior years 14 - 

185 47 

Deferred tax expense (recovery) 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (171) 37 

Change in tax rate (18) (145) 

Change in recognized deductible temporary 
differences 

(323) 6,614 

Adjustment for prior years 353 698 

(159) 7,204 

Total income tax expense   $ 26 $ 7,251 

The income tax expense differs from that expected by applying the combined federal, provincial and state income tax 
rate of 26.01% (2014 -25%) to income before income taxes for the following reasons: 



B-4
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

$Thousands 
For the year ended December 31, 2015 2014 

Loss before income taxes $ (2,091) $ (1,317) 

Effective income tax expense (recovery) 
at statutory rate 

(544) (329) 

Permanent differences 359 17 

Adjustment from prior year filings 353 698 

Non-taxable capital gains - 116 

Difference between current and future rate on 
temporary differences 

(18) (145) 

Other 199 280 

Change in unrecognized asset and other (323) 6,614 

Net provision for income taxes $ 26 $ 7,251 

$Thousands 
December 31, 

2015 
December 31, 

2014 

Deferred tax balances 

Non-capital loss carry forwards $ 9,955 $ 7,305 

Property, plant and equipment (3,355) (1,769) 

Unrecognized asset and other (6,101) (6,614) 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) (578) 120 

Other 79 786 

Deferred tax asset (liability) $ - $ (172) 

The Company has incurred cumulative non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes of approximately $9.5 
million (2014 - $5.2 million) that are available to reduce Canadian taxable income in future years and expire 
commencing in 2029.  

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries have incurred cumulative non-capital losses for foreign income tax purposes of 
approximately USD$14.5 million (2014 – USD $16.4 million) that are available to reduce taxable income in future 
years.  These losses expire between the years 2022 through 2032. 

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation.  Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the Company can utilize the benefits. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, $0.2 million of deferred income tax recovery was recognized in net loss as 
compared to an expense of $7.3 million in 2014.  
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13. Financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated statements of financial position are comprised of 
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, finance leases receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
obligations under finance lease, line of credit and long-term debt. The fair values of financial instruments included in 
the consolidated statements of financial position, except long-term debt, approximate their carrying amounts due to 
the short-term maturity of those instruments.  The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value. 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

Credit risk

Interest rate risk

Foreign currency risk

Liquidity risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Company’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.  Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 
financial statements. 
(a) Credit risk and customer concentration 

The Company assesses the credit worthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis and monitors the amounts and 
aging of outstanding accounts receivable, and when necessary, records an allowance for doubtful amounts.  The 
following table summarizes the aging of the Company’s accounts receivable: 

$Thousands 
December 31, 

 2015 
December 31,  

2014 

Within 30 days $ 777 $ 585 

31 to 60 days 479 429 

61 to 90 days 27 72 

Over 90 days 662 74 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (540) (32) 

$ 1,405 $ 1,128 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, $7.4 million (December 31, 2014 - $7.7 million) of revenue was derived 
from twelve (2014 – twelve) customers that represented 66% (2014 - 82%) of the Company revenue.  As at 
December 31, 2015, $847 thousand (December 31, 2014 - $503 thousand) from these customers was included in 
accounts receivable. 

The allowance for doubtful accounts relates to one customer. The customer entered into receivership and the 
Company determined that recovery of the receivable was unlikely and therefore made full provision for it.  

The Company entered into three leases classified as finance leases, with two customers in 2015.  At December 31, 
2015, finance leases receivable amounted to approximately $1.7 million (2014 – nil) with respect to these leases. 

(b) Interest rate risk 

As at December 31, 2015, 73% (December 31, 2014 – 49%) of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt was 
subject to fixed rates of interest.  The balance of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt was exposed to 
fluctuations in interest rates. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2015, a 1% change in interest rates would have had the following impact on net 
income and other comprehensive income. 

$Thousands 
 2015 2014 

1% increase in interest rates $ 37 $ 50 

1% decrease in interest rates $ (37) $ (50) 

(c) Foreign currency risk 

A portion of the Company’s operations are denominated in United States dollars.  The Company does not use 
derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign currency exposure.  Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
could negatively affect the results from operations.  The Company does not have exposure to any highly 
inflationary foreign currencies. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, a 1% change in the value of foreign currencies would have had the 
following impact on net income and other comprehensive income. 

$Thousands 
 2015 2014 

1% increase in the value of the US dollar $ 55 $ 128 

1% decrease in the value of the US dollar $   (55) $ (128) 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the exposure of the Company to the risk of being unable to meet its financial obligations as they 
come due. The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and reviewing actual and forecasted cash flows to 
ensure there are available cash resources to meet these needs.   

The Company expects that cash and cash equivalents, and cash flow from operations, together with existing and 
available credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund its presently anticipated requirements for investments in 
working capital and capital assets.   

The following maturity analysis shows the remaining contractual maturities for the Company’s financial liabilities, 
including future lease payments : 

$Thousands 
December 31, 2015 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,156 $ - $ - 

Income tax payable 173 - - 

Deferred revenue 60 - - 

Obligations under finance lease 28 50 

Loans and borrowings (scheduled 
repayments, see Note 9 (v)) 

1,752 2,921 2,355 

$ 3,169 $ 2,971 $ 2,355 
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$Thousands 
December 31, 2014 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years After 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 973 $ - $ - 

Deferred revenue 42 - - 

Obligations under finance lease 1,010 2,734 - 

Loans and borrowings (scheduled 
repayments, see Note 9 (v)) 

1,940 4,298 2,541 

$ 3,965 $ 7,032 $ 2,541 

At December 31, 2015, the Company had $2 million (December 31, 2014 -$4.5 million) available under its credit 
facility and had cash and cash equivalents of $11.5 million at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 - $14.5 
million). 

14. Commitments
The Company has commitments under various operating lease agreements relating to premises and equipment 
aggregating approximately $692 thousand and $30 thousand, (2014 - $857 thousand and $45 thousand) respectively 
with future minimum payments as at December 31, 2015, as follows: 
$Thousands 

2016 $ 188 
2017 170 
2018 162 
2019 162 
2020 40 

$ 722 

15. Capital Disclosures
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to exercise financial discipline, and to deliver positive returns to 
its shareholders. The Company may make future adjustments to its capital management strategy in light of changing 
economic conditions resulting from the challenges associated with operating in a cyclical, commodity price influenced 
industry. 

The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, operating lines of credit and long-term 
debt, net of cash, and cash equivalents. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may from 
time to time adjust its capital spending to manage the level of its borrowings, or may revise the terms of its operating 
lines of credit to support future growth initiatives. The Company may also consider additional long-term borrowings or 
equity financing.  

The Company is subject to financial covenants related to its long-term debt. The Company monitors its compliance 
with these requirements on an ongoing basis and projects future operating cash flows and capital expenditures to 
assess how these activities may impact compliance in future periods. As at December 31 2015 the Company was not in 
compliance with all of its debt covenants (note 9). 
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16. Supplementary disclosures
Consolidated statement of cash flows 

$Thousands 
For the year ended December 31,  2015 2014 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable $ (1,694) $ 450 

 Prepaid expenses (23) (53) 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 

160 (2,853) 

Income taxes payable (recoverable) 160 21 

Deferred revenue 9 8 

Net change in non-cash working capital $ (1,388) $ (2,427) 

17. Expenses by nature
The Company presents certain expenses in the consolidated statement of net income and comprehensive Income by 
function.  The following table presents those expenses by nature. 
$Thousands 

For the year ended December 31,  2015 2014 

Depreciation $ 5,506 $ 6,759 

Employee costs 3,336 2,839 

Repairs and maintenance 1,573 1,022 

Freight and consumables 104 897 

Realized foreign exchange loss 208 20 

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (1,506) (672) 

Insurance 361 349 

Professional services 397 280 

Travel and promotion  346 408 

Rent 61 142 

Utilities and property taxes 230 222 

Other 1,130 888 

11,746 13,154 

Allocated to: 

Operating expenses 9,568 10,694 

Selling, general and administrative 2,178 2,460 

$ 11,746 $ 13,154 
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18. Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel 
Key management personnel compensation comprised the following. 

$Thousands 
December 31, 

 2015 
December 31,  

2014 

Salaries and directors’ fees $ 1,044 $ 998 

Termination payments 28 96 

Share-based compensation (note 11) - 17 

$ 1,072 $ 1,111 

There have been no other transactions with key management and officers during the years. No amounts were 
owing from or owed to officers and directors of the Company. 

19. Segmented Information
Operations 

ESI is a pipeline equipment rental and sales company supplying the mainline pipeline and renewables (wind and solar) 
construction industries.  Almost all of ESI’s revenue comes from this business other than minor amounts from pump 
rentals.  Pump rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $456,000 as compared to $528,000 for 2014. 

$Thousands CAD 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 US CAD Total 

Revenue              8,887               2,292             11,179  

Operating income              2,555                (944)              1,611  

Property & equipment            17,057             12,280             29,337  

$Thousands CAD 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014 US CAD Total 

Revenue              6,856               2,437               9,293  

Operating income               (352)            (1,049)            (1,401) 

Property & equipment            17,055             15,682             32,737  

20. Subsequent Events
a) On September 29, 2016, ESI entered into an agreement with Exploratus Ltd., a company which is incorporated

and a reporting issuer in Manitoba (“Exploratus”), and its wholly owned subsidiary 1994687 Alberta Ltd.
(“Spinco”) that will amalgamate with ESI to form “New ESI”.  Upon amalgamating with Spinco by way of a Plan
of Arrangement, one New ESI common share will be issued in exchange for every 0.7514 of an ESI common
share and New ESI common shares will be issued in exchange for Spinco common shares on the basis of one
New ESI common share for every 15.92 Exploratus common shares.  New ESI shares received by Exploratus will
then be distributed by exchange to Exploratus shareholders and a portion of the New ESI shares received by
certain ESI shareholders comprising two Investment Limited Partnerships will be distributed to their respective
investors.
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On completion of the transaction, it is anticipated that: 

The current shareholders of ESI will own approximately 99.3% of New ESI;

New ESI will be named “ESI Energy Services Inc.”; and

The shares of ESI Energy Services Inc. will be listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange
(“CSE”).

This transaction will be accounted for as a reverse take-over of Exploratus as the Company is deemed to be the 
acquirer for accounting purposes in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.   As Spinco has no assets 
or business operations, the continuing financial statements will be those of the Company.  Total transaction 
costs to the Company, excluding legal and regulatory costs, will be the value of the ESI shares exchanged for 
shares of Spinco owned by Exploratus valued at $250,000 and $60,000 in cash to cover Exploratus’ legal and 
regulatory costs. 

Existing ESI options will be cancelled as part of the Exploratus transaction.  A new Equity Incentive Plan was 
adopted by ESI directors on September 27, 2016, although no options, restricted share units, or other 
incentive securities will be granted until after closing of the transaction. 

Existing ESI warrants will become New ESI warrants on completion of the Exploratus transaction with the 
exercise price and number of warrants adjusted by the same exchange ratio applicable to ESI common shares. 

b) Effective October 5, 2016 ESI cancelled the line of credit outlined in note 8. In addition the capital loan referred
to in note 9 was refinanced by a loan from another financial institution with very similar payment terms.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

(CAD thousands)  

 

As at 
note* 

    

March 31, 

2018 

  

 December 31, 

2017 

ASSETS     
   

Current         

 Cash and cash equivalents 4   $ 6,173 $ 5,761 

 Short term investments 5    5,005  6,817 

       Accounts receivable 6    857  1,184 

       Prepaid expenses     156  115 

 Inventory     423  - 

Total current assets     12,614  13,877 

Non-current assets:        

Property and equipment 7    23,879  22,515 

Total assets    $ 36,493 $ 36,392 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Current         

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    $ 1,525 $ 1,002 

 Deferred revenue 3    67  114 

 Income tax payable     134  145 

 Current portion of long term debt 8    1,465  535 

Total current liabilities     3,191  1,796 

Non-current liabilities:        

Long-term debt 8    2,302  2,348 

Total liabilities     5,493  4,144 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        

Share capital 9    40,457  40,457 

Contributed surplus 9    2,143  2,076 

Accumulated other comprehensive income     3,892  3,458 

Deficit     (15,492)  (13,743) 

Total shareholders’ equity     31,000  32,248 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    $ 36,493 $ 36,392 

Commitments 11       

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Approved by the Board of Directors 

   

Signed, “Harold R. Zimmer”  Signed, “Robert R. Dunstan” 

Harold R. Zimmer                                                                          Robert R. Dunstan  

Director Chief Executive Officer and Director  
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

(CAD thousands) 

 

 

 Three Months Ended 
 note*   March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 

(Revised Note 

3.2) 

 

REVENUE          

Sales    3   $ 1,582 $ 2,225 

COSTS AND EXPENSES 
 

        

       Cost of purchases 
 

     41  55 

 Operating and maintenance 
 

     1,167  1,013 

 Depreciation and amortization 
 

 7    890  1,011 

 Selling and administrative 
 

     958  1,065 

Total costs and expenses       3,056  3,144 

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS      $ (1,474) $ (919) 

Other items:          

 Gain (loss) on disposal of property  

and equipment 

      (53)  1 

 Finance and other income       67  53 

       Finance costs       (36)  (58) 

 Foreign exchange loss   10    148  (129) 

Loss before income taxes       (1,348)  (1,052) 

Income taxes (expenses)       -  - 

Net loss       (1,348)  (1,052) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net 

income 

         

     Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation                                      

adjustments on foreign operations      

      434  (109) 

Comprehensive loss      $ (914) $ (1,161) 

Basic loss per share       (0.03)  (0.02) 

Diluted loss per share       (0.03)  (0.02) 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

(CAD thousands) 
 

note* Share Capital 

Contributed 

Surplus Deficit 

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2017  $ 40,457 1,598 (14,937)  4,472 $ 31,590 

Share based compensation    - 239 -  -  239 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  (109)  (109) 

Net loss   - - (1,052)  -  (1,052) 

Balance, March 31, 2017  $ 40,457 1,837 (15,989)  4,363 $ 30,668 

 

Balance at January 1, 2018  $ 40,457 2,076 (13,743)  3,458 $ 32,248 

Adjustment to retained earnings   - - (401)  -  (401) 

Share based compensation   - 67 -  -  67 

Foreign currency translation adjustment   - - -  434  434 

Net loss   - - (1,348)  -  (1,348) 

Balance, March 31, 2018  $ 40,457 2,143 (15,492)  3,892 $ 31,000 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

(CAD thousands) 

   Three months ended 

    March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 

 note*        (Revised 

Note 3.2) 

Cash provided by (used in)         
 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES          

 Net loss      $ (1,348) $ (1,052) 

 Items not involving cash:          

 Depreciation 7      890  1,011 

               Stock based compensation 9      67  239 

 Loss (gain) on disposal of equipment       53  (1) 

 Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain)        (88)  116 

       (426)  313 

Net change in non-cash working capital 13      (210)  515 

Cash flow from operating activities       (636)  828 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES          

 Proceeds on disposal of property & equipment       -  3,238 

       Purchase of property & equipment 7      (1,803)  (413) 

    Net change in non-cash working capital   
 

13      530  - 

 Investments in GICs       1,812  (3,769) 

Cash flow used in investing activities       539  (944) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

 Advance of long term debt       1,179  - 

 Repayment of long-term debt       (342)  (1,629) 

 Repayment of finance lease obligation       -  (7) 

      Cash dividends paid - PS       (391)  - 

      Net change in non-cash working capital       -  (450) 

Cash flow from (used in) financing activities       446  (2,086) 

          

Effect of exchange rate changes on  

cash and cash equivalents 

      63  (88) 

Increase (decrease) in  

cash and cash equivalents  

      412  (2,290) 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

beginning of year 

      5,761  5,707 

Cash and cash equivalents,  

end of period 

     $ 6,173 $ 3,417 

*  The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity 

 Description of business 

ESI Energy Services Inc. (”ESI” or the “Company”) was incorporated as a numbered company under 

the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) ("ABCA") on February 22, 2001.  The Company's Articles of 

Incorporation were amended and the Company changed its name to "ESI Energy Services Inc." on 

September 12, 2001.  These consolidated financial statements comprise ESI and its subsidiaries, all 

of which are wholly-owned (together referred to as the “Company”).    

On September 29, 2016, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Exploratus 

Ltd. ("Exploratus") and 1994687 Alberta Ltd. ("Spinco").  The Arrangement was approved by 

written resolution of the ESI Shareholders on October 25, 2016 and the Exploratus Shareholders 

at a shareholders' meeting held on November 21, 2016.  The Arrangement resulted in New ESI 

having a public shareholder base to meet one of the Canadian Securities Exchange’s (“CSE”) listing 

conditions. ESI filed a Non-offering Long Form Prospectus with the Alberta Securities Commission 

on November 28, 2016 and the Company’s common shares were listed for trading on the Canadian 

Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  The shares trade under the symbol OPI.  A significant portion of the 

Company’s shares are owned by Yorktown Partners IV and Yorktown Partners VI, two private 

investment funds. 

The Company currently operates in western Canada as well as in the United States of America.  The 

Company, through its operating subsidiaries, ESI Pipeline Services Ltd. ("ESIPSL") and Ozzie's 

Pipeline Padder, Inc. ("OPI"), supplies (rents and sells) backfill separation machines ("Padding 

Machines") to mainline pipeline contractors, renewables and utility construction contractors, as 

well as oilfield pipeline and construction contractors.  

The Company maintains its registered corporate and head office at suite 500, 727 – 7th Avenue 

SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 0Z5. 

2. Basis of presentation 

 Statement of compliance 

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) have 

been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) applicable to the preparation of interim 

financial statements, including IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting (“IAS 34”). These financial 

statements should be read in conjunction with ESI’s audited consolidated financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2017 wherein the Corporation’s significant accounting policies were 

presented in Note 3. Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current 

year financial statement presentation.  

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

May 02, 2018. 

 Impact of standards issued but not yet applied 

IFRS 16 

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 (Leases).  IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidance in 

IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 requires the recognition of lease assets and of obligations on the balance 

sheet. For Lessees almost all leases will have to be treated as financial leases although lessor will 

still have the two classifications.  The standard is effective for years starting January 1, 2019. 

The Company intends to adopt these standards and amendments in its financial statements as of 

the effective dates. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of adopting these 

standards on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.   
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3. Changes in accounting policies 
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 - Financial instruments and IFRS 15 - Revenue from 

contracts with Customers on the Company’s financial statements and also discloses the new accounting 

policies that have been applied from January 01, 2018 where they are different to those applied in prior 

periods. 

 IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 using the modified retrospective approach. 

Comparative information is not restated and continues to be reported under the previous financial 

instrument standards in effect during those periods. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for:  

(i) the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and 

(ii) the recognition and measurement of impairment for financial assets. IFRS 9 introduces a 

simplified hedge accounting model.  

The Company classifies its financial instruments under IFRS 9 into one of the following categories. 

The main effects resulting from the reclassification are as follows. 

 

                    (CAD thousands) 

     Classification Carrying Amount 

Financial Instrument Previous – 

IAS 39 

  New – IFRS 9 IAS 39                      IFRS 9 

• Cash and cash 

equivalents 

Loans and 

receivables 

Amortized   cost 6,173 6,173 

• Short term investments   5,005 5,005 

• Accounts receivable        881 857 

• Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 

 Financial 

liabilities 

measured at 

amortized 

cost 

Amortized cost 1,525 1,525 

• Long term debt 

• Income taxes payable 

  1,465 

134 

1,465 

134 

 

              Impairment of financial assets 

The adjustments for IFRS 9 were determined for all of the financial assets on the consolidated 

statement of financial position. 

The Company applied new asset impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for each class of the 

financial assets. The impact of the change in impairment methodology is disclosed below.  

Trade receivables 

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which 

uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. 
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To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on the shared 

credit risk characteristics and days past due. The loss allowance as at March 31, 2018 have been 

determined as follows: 

                      (CAD thousands) 

 

Current 

More than 

30 days 

past due 

More than 

60 days past 

due 

More than 

120 days 

past due 

Total 

Expected loss rate 0.5% 1% 10% 15%  

Gross carrying 

amount 

407 260 51 92 810 

Loss allowance 2 3 5 14 24 

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at December 31, 2017 reconcile to the opening loss 

allowances on January 1, 2018 as follows:  

                  (CAD thousands) 

Allowance as at December 31, 2017 – calculated under IAS 39 $ - 

Amounts restated through opening RE  (13) 

Opening loss allowance as at January 1, 2018 – calculated under IFRS 9  (13) 

Net recovery/(provision)  (11) 

March 31, 2018 allowance – calculated under IFRS 9 $ (24) 

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovery.  

Other receivables 

In addition to trade receivables, Company accounts for indirect tax receivables from the 

government for the amount of $71,000 as of March 31, 2018. The Company has assessed the 

amount of allowance on those and determined it was insignificant.  

Cash and short-term investments 

Cash and cash equivalents, and short term investments are subject to the impairment 

requirements under IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was determined to be insignificant. 

                      (CAD thousands) 

  March 31,2018 

Cash   

AA Rating $ 6,173 

Short term investments   

AA Rating $ 5,005 
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 IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2018 

using the modified retrospective approach on contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 

2018.  

The Company identified and disaggregated revenues into the following categories: 

                      (CAD thousands)   
 

 March 31, 

 2018 

March 31, 

 2017 

Machine Rental       

      Padding machines   $ 1,298 $ 1,865 

      Pipe layers    -  119 

      Oil field services equipment    31  57 

Mobilization    67  15 

Inventory sales    84  87 

Other services    102  82 

   $ 1,582 $ 2,225 

Rental revenue from padding machines, pipe layers and oilfield service equipment is recognized 

with the passage of time under month to month contracts, starting when the equipment is 

shipped, recovery of the consideration is probable and the amount of revenue can be measured 

reliably.  Upon commencement of the rental contract, customers are invoiced in advance for 

equipment and spare parts, and consumables.  

Spare parts and consumables are invoiced in advance for the full value of the spare parts and 

consumables delivered.  Payments for spare parts and consumables delivered are recorded as 

deferred revenue until parts are used by the customers. Upon return of the rented equipment, the 

customer is refunded the value of any spare parts and consumables returned, less a restocking fee. 

Revenue on the sale of spare parts and consumables related to rented or sold equipment is 

recognized when the control has transferred to the customer, which occurs when parts are used 

by the customer. 

The Company can also render mobilization and other services.  The revenue is recognized over 

time, as the services are rendered, which typically occurs within one or few days.  

Deferred revenue 

The following table shows the movements in and out of deferred revenue account for the three 

month period ended March 31, 2018. 
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                      (CAD thousands) 

Deferred revenue as at January 1, 2018 $ 114 

Amount of revenue deferred during the period  13 

Amount of revenue recognized during the period  (9) 

Amount reversed on returned items   (51) 

Deferred revenue as at March 31, 2018 $ 67 

The Company does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the 

promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a 

consequence, the Company does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of 

money. 

For the purpose of IFRS 15 assessment, the Company has reviewed its revenue streams and 

contracts and concluded on the following impacts:  

For the mobilization revenue, the Company concluded it would act  as a principal, as a result of 

which presentation of mobilization revenue changed from net to gross effective from January 1, 

2018. For the first quarter of 2018, the amounts of revenue and costs from mobilization comprised 

$67,000 and $ 57,000 respectively, compared to the revenue and costs of $135,000 and $120,000 

respectively for the comparative period of 2017. The change in the accounting treatment did not 

have an impact on net profit of the Company.    

As part of the adoption of IFRS 15, the Company identified certain sales of spare parts, which are 

more appropriately reflected as inventory sales rather than disposals of property, plant and 

equipment. The consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the 

comparative period of three month ended March 31, 2017 has been revised to reflect that change.  

See the details of the revision below.    

                      (CAD thousands)   
 

March 31, 2017  Revision  March 31, 2017 

(Revised)  

Sales $ 2,138 $ 87 $ 2,225 

Cost of purchase  -  55  55 

Gain (loss) on disposal of property 

& equipment 

$ 33 $ (32) $ 1 
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4. Cash and cash equivalents 

  Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following: 

  (CAD thousands) 
  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Cash   $ 2,077 $ 1,566 

Deposits    5  184 

GIC less than 90 days    4,091  4,011 

   $ 6,173 $ 5,761 

5. Short term investments 
  (CAD thousands) 

  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Investment in GICs        

         Redeemable    $ 1,000 $ 252 

         Non-redeemable     4,005  6,565 

   $ 5,005 $ 6,817 

  (1.) US$ investment was converted using closing rate. 

Short term investment of $5,005,000 consists of Redeemable and Non-redeemable Guaranteed Investment 

Certificates (GICs) held at two Canadian chartered banks at rates of interest varying between 1.68% and 

1.75% depending on the term length of the investment. 

6. Accounts receivable 

           Accounts receivable are comprised of the following; 

                (CAD thousands) 
  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Trade receivables   $ 810 $ 1,122 

Other receivables    71  62 

Loss allowance    (24)  - 

   $ 857 $ 1,184 
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7. Property and equipment 
 (CAD thousands) 

 

 Padding 

Equipment 

(including 

spare parts) 

 Pipe Layers  Land & 

Buildings 

 Other  Total 

COST 
 

         

At January 1, 2017 $ 30,558 $ 6,288 $ 6,841 $ 2,224 $ 45,911 

Additions  4,267  -  8  39  4,314 

Disposals  (1,692)  (6,288)  -  (79)  (8,059) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

(1,708)  -  (211)  (146)  (2,065) 

At December 31, 2017 $ 31,425 $ - $ 6,638 $ 2,038 $ 40,101 

Additions  1,750  -  -  53  1,803 

Disposals  (115)  -  -  -  (115) 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 

782  -  101  32  915 

At March 31, 2018 $ 33,842 $ - $ 6,739 $ 2,123 $ 42,704 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION         

At January 1, 2017 $ (12,921) $ (2,826) $ (1,597) $ (1,818) $ (19,162) 

Depreciation  (3,415)  (146)  (127)  (71)  (3,759) 

Disposals  1,372  2,972  -  74  4,418 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 736  -  31  150  917 

At December 31, 2017 $ (14,228) $ - $ (1,693) $ (1,665) $ (17,586) 

Depreciation  (843)  -  (31)  (16)  (890) 

Disposals  62  -  -  -  62 

Foreign currency 

translation 

adjustments 

 (350)  -  (31)  (30)  (411) 

At March 31, 2018 $ (15,359) $ - $ (1,755) $ (1,711) $ (18,825) 

NET BOOK VALUE           

At December 31, 2017 $ 17,197 $ - $ 4,945 $ 373 $ 22,515 

At March 31, 2018 $ 18,483 $ - $ 4,984 $ 412 $ 23,879 

 

As at March 31, 2018, included in padding equipment are assets under construction with a cost of $2,932,000 

(December 31, 2017 - $926,000). No depreciation was recorded for assets under construction.   
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8. Long-term debt  
                (CAD thousands) 

  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Mortgage – Leduc (i)    2,578  2,624 

Finance agreements (ii)    1,189  258 

Other    -  1 

Total long-term debt    3,767  2,883 

Less       

Current portion of long-term debt    1,465  535 

Net long-term debt   $ 2,302 $ 2,348 

 

The Company has mortgages outstanding with a Canadian chartered bank on its Leduc, AB property and 

minor obligations relating to the purchase of equipment. Further details are provided below: 

i) Mortgage - Leduc consists of a mortgage on a property in Leduc, AB.  As at September 30, 2017 there 

were two mortgages on this property. On October 26, 2017 both mortgages were combined into a 

single mortgage facility. The Company is required to pay monthly installments of $23,000 plus interest 

on the facility at a fixed rate of interest of 4.75% for a three-year term. The mortgage has a five-year 

term, expiring on October 31, 2022. 

ii) Finance agreements include loans that relate to the purchase of five compact track loaders that were 

financed through the dealer in 2017 and 2018.  The loans are denominated in US dollars. The first loan 

which was obtained in March 2017 was fully paid in February 2018. The second loan which was 

obtained in September 2017 bears interest at a rate of 2.25%, and requires total monthly payments of 

US$21,900, expiring in September 2018. The third loan which was obtained in January 2018 bears 

interest at a rate of 2.25%, and requires total monthly payments of US$80,020, expiring in January 

2019. 

iii) The Company had financial debt covenants related to the Leduc mortgage and the term loan consisting 

of a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1.  As at March 31, 2018, the Company was in 

compliance with the financial debt covenant.  

iv) The fair value of the long-term debt approximates the carrying value. 
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9. Share capital 

 Authorized 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares. There 

are 45,000,792 issued and outstanding common shares. 

Issued and outstanding 
 March 31,  

2018 

December 31,  

2017 

 Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Amount 

$Thousands 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Amount 

$Thousands 

Issued and outstanding     

Opening 45,000,792 40,457 45,000,792 40,457 

Issued - - - - 

Issued and outstanding, end of period 45,000,792 40,457 45,000,792 40,457 

 

Warrants 

The Company has 1,996,274 warrants outstanding. Each warrant is exercisable to purchase one 

common share at an exercise price of $0.86. The warrants were initially due to expire on October 

19, 2018. In January 2018, the term of the warrants was extended to December 01, 2021. 

At March 31, 2018, the outstanding share purchase warrants had a weighted-average remaining 

life of 0.55 years (March 31, 2017 – 1.4 years). The subsequent extension increases the weighted-

average remaining life to 3.92 years.    

 Basic and diluted EPS 

 March 31,  

2018 

March 31,  

2017 

 Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Earnings Per 

Share 

Number 

of Common 

Shares 

Earnings Per 

Share 

Issued and outstanding 45,000,792 (0.03) 45,000,792 (0.02) 

Weighted average number of common 

shares used in basic earnings per 

share 

 

45,000,792 

 

(0.03) 

 

45,000,792 

 

(0.02) 

Dilution effect of options -  - - 

Weighted average number of common 

shares used in diluted earnings per 

share 

45,000,792 (0.03) 45,000,792 (0.02) 
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For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, 4,226,378 options and warrants were excluded from the 

calculation of diluted earnings per share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive (2017 – 

4,226,378) 

 Stock option grant 

Pursuant to the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan adopted February 27, 2017, an aggregate of 

2,230,104 options have been granted to directors, officers and senior employees of the Company 

to purchase ESI common shares at an exercise price of $0.50 per share.  The options granted vest 

over a period of two years and expire on February 27, 2022, five years after the grant date.   

  Number of 

Options 

Weighted Average Exercise Price 

$/Share 

Total Outstanding December 31, 

2016 

  -   - 

Granted February 2017   2,230,104   0.50 

Exercised   -   - 

Forfeited    -   - 

Total Outstanding December 31, 

2017 

  2,230,104   0.50 

Granted   -   - 

Forfeited   -   - 

Total Outstanding March 31, 

2018 

  2,230,104   0.50 

No options were exercised between January 1, 2017 and March 31, 2018. 

 

 Options Outstanding Exercisable Options 

Exercise Price  

Number 

of Options 

Remaining 

Contractual Life 

(Years) 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise Price 

($) 

Number 

of 

Options 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price ($) 

$0.50 2,230,104 5 0.50 743,368 0.50 

Total 

Outstanding 

March 31, 2018 

 

2,230,104 

 

5 

 

0.50 

 

743,368 

 

0.50 

Share-based compensation is a non-cash item and is measured in accordance with a prescribed 

formula.  Share-based compensation expense recognized by the Corporation for the Stock Option 

Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2018 was $67,000 (2017 - $239,000).  The fair values 

of stock options granted have been estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model with the following assumptions: 
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Period of Grant 
Three months ended 

 March 31, 2018 

Three months ended  

March 31, 2017 

Number of options 2,230,104 2,230,104 

Exercise price $0.50 $0.50 

Share price $0.40 $0.40 

Expected life of options 5 5 

Expected volatility (%) 100 100 

Average risk-free interest rate (%) 0.68% 0.68% 

Expected dividend yield (%) 0% 0% 

 Contributed surplus  

 (CAD thousands) 
  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Contributed surplus, beginning of 

period 

 $ 2,076 $ 1,598 

  Stock based compensation   67  478 

Contributed surplus, end of period  $ 2,143 $ 2,076 

10. Financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of cash and 

cash equivalents, accounts receivable, finance leases receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 

obligations under finance lease, line of credit and long-term debt.  The fair values of financial instruments 

included in the consolidated statement of financial position, except long-term debt, approximate their 

carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments.  The carrying value of long-term debt 

approximates its fair value. 

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Interest rate risk 

• Foreign currency risk 

• Liquidity risk 

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks and the 

Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.  Further quantitative 

disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 
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 Credit risk and customer concentration 

The Company assesses the credit worthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis and monitors 

the amounts and aging of outstanding accounts receivable, and when necessary, records an 

allowance for doubtful amounts.  The following table summarizes the aging of the Company’s 

accounts receivable:    

                                  (CAD thousands) 
  March 31, 

 2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Within 30 days   $ 451 $ 838 

31 to 60 days    268  300 

61 to 90 days    52  12 

Over 90 days    86  34 

   $ 857 $ 1,184 

For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, $1,000 thousand (March 31, 2017 - $1,500 thousand) of 

revenue was derived from three (March 31, 2017 – seven) customers that represented 68% 

(March 31, 2017 - 72%) of the Company revenue.  As at March 31, 2018, $541 thousand (March 

31, 2017 - $762 thousand) from these customers was included in accounts receivable. 

 Interest rate risk 

As at March 31, 2018, 100% (December 31, 2017 – 100%) of the Company’s outstanding debt was 

subject to fixed rates of interest. 

For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, a 1% change in interest rates would have had no impact 

on net loss and other comprehensive loss. 

 Foreign currency risk 

A portion of the Company’s operations are denominated in United States dollars.  The Company 

does not use derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign currency exposure.  Fluctuations 

in foreign exchange rates could negatively affect the results from operations.  The Company does 

not have exposure to any highly inflationary foreign currencies.  

For the quarter ended March 31, 2018, a 1% change in the value of foreign currencies would have 

had the following impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss. 

                                          (CAD thousands) 
  March 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 

1% increase in the value of the US dollar $ 26 $ 38 

1% decrease in the value of the US dollar $ (26) $ (38) 
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 Foreign exchange loss (gain) 

The following table details the foreign exchange loss as presented on the consolidated statements 

of operations and comprehensive income (loss).  

                         (CAD thousands) 

For the three months ended March 31   2018 2017 

Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange $ (88) $ 116 

Realized (gain) loss on foreign exchange   (60)  13 

 $ (148) $ 129 

 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the exposure of the Company to the risk of being unable to meet its financial 

obligations as they come due.  The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and reviewing 

actual and forecasted cash flows to ensure there are available cash resources to meet these needs.   

The Company expects that cash and cash equivalents, and cash flow from operations, together 

with existing and available credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund its presently anticipated 

requirements for investments in working capital and capital assets. 

The following maturity analysis shows the remaining contractual maturities for the Company’s 

financial liabilities, including future lease payments: 

   (CAD thousands) 

March 31, 2018 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,525  - 

Income tax payable  134  - 

Deferred revenue  67  - 

Loans and borrowings (Note 9)  1,465  2,302 

 $ 3,191 $ 2,302 

  
 

                                          (CAD thousands) 

December 31, 2017 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

$ 1,002 $ - 

Income tax payable  145  - 

Deferred revenue  114  - 

Loans and borrowings (Note 9)  535  2,348 

 $ 1,796 $ 2,348 
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11. Commitments  

The Company has commitments under various operating lease agreements relating to premises and 

equipment aggregating approximately $312 thousand and $17 thousand, (December 31, 2017 - $352 

thousand and $27 thousand) respectively with future minimum payments as at March 31, 2018 as follows: 

                      (CAD thousands) 

2018  $ 123 

2019   162 

2020   43 

2021   1 

  $ 329 

12. Capital disclosures  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to exercise financial discipline, and to deliver positive 

returns to its shareholders. The Company may make future adjustments to its capital management strategy 

in light of changing economic conditions resulting from the challenges associated with operating in a cyclical, 

commodity-price influenced industry. 

The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, operating lines of credit and 

long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the 

Company may from time to time adjust its capital spending to manage the level of its borrowings or may 

revise the terms of its operating lines of credit to support future growth initiatives.  The Company may also 

consider additional long-term borrowings or equity financing.  

            (CAD thousands) 

   March 31, 

2018 

December 31, 

2017 

Long term debt $ 3,767 $ 2,883 

Shareholder’s equity  31,000  32,248 

Cash and cash equivalents  (6,173)  (5,761) 

Total capitalization $ 28,594 $ 29,370 
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13. Change in non-cash working capital balances 
               
                (CAD thousands) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14. Segment information 

The Company’s operating segments are differentiated by the geographic boundaries. The operations in the 

segments are as follows. 

               (CAD thousands) 

March 31, 2018  Canada US Total 

Total revenue $ 136 $ 1,446 $       1,582 

% of segment revenue  9  91 100 

Total assets  15,319  21,174 36,493 

% of segment assets  42  58 100 

                   
                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the three months ended March 31,    2018 2017 

    

Current assets       

 Accounts receivable   $ 340 $ 32 

 Prepaid expenses    (38) 

(425) 

 (103) 

     Inventory   - 

Current liabilities    

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  507  124 

 Income taxes payable (recoverable)   (15)  (1) 

 Deferred revenue    (49)  13 

Net change in non-cash working capital  $ 320 $ 65 

Changes in non-cash working capital relating 

to: 

     

     Operating   (210)  515 

     Financing   -  (450) 

     Investing   530  - 

   320  65 
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               CAD thousands) 

March 31, 2017  Canada US Total 

Total revenue $ 331 $ 1,894 $     2,225 

% of segment revenue  15  85 100 

Total assets  16,151  19,724 35,875 

% of segment assets  45  55 100 
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